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Financial Highlights
B i5HE

Profit
Attributable to
Revenue Owners of the Company Profit before Taxation
= -G DNEER ABIDEF BRE AT R

137% 13.017%  $216%
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Enterprise Culture
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Vision
To build a leading & modern
energy company in China
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Missions ROREN Cre;)t:f/ilcute“:;sour
Develop clean energy . EBEEEE \E}E:ZF:J: customers
Create better life RIREIRT BESH BRSHE Create platforms for our
Core Values employees

Create returns for our
shareholders

Integrity
Customer Supremacy
Innovation
Value Orientation
Teamwork

i TEFRERR
HiE B HESE AFAE

BE @
Spirits
Passionate Ambitious
Practical Diligent

BESTHE BARE
IPam BEGHKX
Principles of Workplace Culture

Respect Righteous
Disciplined Precise
Initiative  Positive
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Corporate Profiles
NGBy

China Oil And Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) (stock code: 603) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in investment
in natural gas and energy related business. Operations of the Group include
piped city gas business, pipeline design and construction; transportation,
distribution and sale of compressed natural gas (“CNG") and liquefied
natural gas (“LNG"); and development, production and sale of crude oil and
natural gas and other upstream energy resources.

As a piped city natural gas service provider, the Group supplies city natural
gas through long-distance transmission pipelines. With 71 concession
rights, the Group has built up city pipeline networks which offer stable and
sufficient natural gas resources to local household, industrial, commercial and
other users. As a non-pipeline natural gas provider, the Group has established
2 LNG plants in Qinghai Province, the PRC. Meanwhile, the Group has also
built certain CNG primary stations to ensure a smooth supply of natural gas
all year round. These facilities support supplies of natural gas to cities not
yet covered by pipeline networks and are treated as emergency backup gas
sources for the Group.

As a major national operator of natural gas stations for automobile natural
gas filling, the Group operates 63 natural gas stations across the country.
All kinds of automobiles, city buses and long-distance buses can be
converted into natural gas operation system by paying an affordable fee.
Some of the provinces will provide subsidy to automobile owners who are
willing to convert their automobile into natural gas operating system. With
support from the PRC government, the Group offers inexpensive, clean and
environmental friendly natural gas to the transportation sector.

As an operator of natural gas branch pipelines, the Group has already
completed approximately 16,950 km natural gas pipelines in 16 provinces,
cities and autonomous regions. Apart from bringing in stable natural gas
transmission revenue, the branch pipelines constructions will also facilitate
the development of projects along the down-stream.

The Group has well established a large-scale developed natural gas transport
and logistics operation in the PRC, including the set up of LNG and CNG
fleets which have reinforced the mobility and coverage of our natural gas
supplies.

As an upstream energy resources producer, the Group engages in the
development, production and sale of crude oil and gas and other resources
in Alberta of Canada. The exploration and production business of the
Group has the proved reserves of approximately 26.04 million barrels of oil
equivalent and the proved plus probable reserves of approximately 41.40
million barrels of oil equivalent. Its average daily production was 4,936
barrels of oil equivalent in 2021. Our exploration and production business
possesses energy business in production, a very experienced management
team with proven tracking records, a stable production assets portfolio and
strong profitability with considerable potential for growth.
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Natural Gas Distribution Business in China
PEXATDEER
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Oil and Gas Production Business in Canada
MEXHREEZER
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
GUAN Yijun

GAO Falian

XU Ran

Independent Non-Executive Directors
WANG Wenhua

WANG Guangtian

YANG lJie

COMPANY SECRETARY
CHAN Yuen Ying Stella

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
XU Tie-liang
CHAN Yuen Ying Stella

AUDIT COMMITTEE
WANG Wenhua (chairman)
WANG Guangtian

YANG lJie

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
WANG Wenhua (chairman)

WANG Guangtian

GUAN Yijun
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WANG Guangtian (chairman)

WANG Wenhua

GAO Falian

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
XU Tie-liang (chairman)
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Corporate Information
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(continued) (#&)

LEGAL ADVISERS

(As to Hong Kong Law)
LI & Partners

(As to PRC Law)
Beijing Huaao Law & Partners

PRINCIPAL REGISTRARS
MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th floor North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

IN HONG KONG
Suite 2805, 28th Floor
Sino Plaza

255-257 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

STOCK CODE
603

WEBSITE AND E-MAIL ADDRESS
Website: http://www.hk603.com
E-mail: info@hk603.com
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2021, the Group made concerted efforts to be pragmatic and progressive,
and achieved good results. At the same time, the Group has seized the
opportunity to make progress in stability and implemented major strategic
acquisitions, opening up new space for future development.

During the year, all works progressed steadily. The Group strengthened
cooperation with upstream enterprises, actively expanded gas sources,
coordinated internal resource planning, optimized operational systems,
enhanced functional management, improved risk management, organized
the construction of key projects, ensured a stable supply of natural gas and
made every effort to meet customer demand. While strengthening the main
business, the Group actively developed value-added businesses such as
energy equipment and coal chemical industry and invested in insurance to
diversify its operations, improve its efficiency and enhance its risk-resilience.
The Group has successfully acquired 22.16% interest of Shandong Shengli
Co., Ltd. (“Shandong Shengli”) (00407.SZ), an A-share listed company, and
become its single largest shareholder. The successful acquisition of Shandong
Shengli has increased the Group’s market share, broadened the scope of the
gas business, integrated quality resources, enabled the Group to acquire two
capital platforms, namely Hong Kong stock and A-share, and enhanced its
core competitiveness.

During 2021, the Group's natural gas sales volume and upstream oil prices
both increased, with a total revenue of HK$14.342 billion (2020: HK$10.433
billion), a year-on-year increase of 37%. The Group recorded profit for the
year attributable to owners of the Company of HK$904 million (2020:
HK$28.8 million), a year-on-year increase of 3,017 %.

Revenue
15,000 14,342 1,000
12,000 800
IS IR
48 10,433 0
iy 1B
& 9.000 & 600
C e
2 . o
= 6,000 37% S 400
o “
4 4
T 3,000 T 200
0 0
FY2020 FY2021
202081 F 2021814
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CITY PIPELINE NATURAL GAS BUSINESS

Sales and distribution of natural gas

The Group's natural gas sales volume recorded to be 4,852 million cubic
meters for 2021 (2020: 4,350 million cubic meters), increased by 12%
compared with the same period last year. Transmission volume was 1,047
million cubic meters, recorded a 21% rise as compared to the same period
last year.

Consumption of residential users increased by 1% from last year's 1,105
million cubic meters to 1,112 million cubic meters; industrial and commercial
users recorded 3,313 million cubic meters (2020: 2,823 million cubic meters),
increased by 17% compared with the same period last year; gas consumption
of gas stations recorded an increase from last year’s 418 million cubic meters
to current year's 427 million cubic meters. Each of the above categories
representing 23%, 68% and 9% of the total gas sales volume (2020: 25%,
65% and 10%), respectively.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

(continued) (#)

Development of new users

For 2021, the Group connected 162,145 (2020: 136,680) new residential
users, representing a year-on-year increase of 10% and the accumulated
development of residential users were 1,765,241. Total connections for new
industrial and commercial users were 1,283 (2020: 1,595) and the
accumulated development of industrial and commercial users were 15,602.

HAFR

—EZ—F - SEHEERAF162,145F
(ZZ—ZT4F : 136,680F) ' RILLERI10% °
2 HBRERBP1,765241F « ¥ I %¥
BEAEH1283F (ZE_Z 4 : 1,5957)
REAHAENINERP R15602F ©

Total Connected Users as of 31 December
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o 1,800
1,603
1,500 1,466
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1,200

Thousands (T F

900

600

Residential Users /E R

300

2019 2019 2020

[ Residential Users
ERAF

New project expansion

It has established 128 natural gas project companies in 16 provinces,
municipalities and autonomous regions in the PRC, with 71 concession rights.
While promoting organic growth from existing projects, the Group also
conducted thorough inspections on the areas surrounding the natural gas
pipelines and the coastal areas in the first half of 2021. During the year, the
Group successfully obtained the exclusive concession right for Jixian Industrial
Cluster in Linfen, Shanxi Province, and secured the “Shaopu — Zhuzang”
Branch Pipeline Project in Guizhou Province. The Group successfully
completed acquisition of 22.16% interest in Shandong Shengli (000407.57)
in the second half of 2021.
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EXPLOITATION AND PRODUCTION OF CRUDE OIL
AND NATURAL GAS BUSINESS

The Group continued the business of exploitation and production of light oil
and natural gas in Canada. The Group's production in 2021 was 4,936
barrels of oil equivalent per day (“boe/d”), a decrease of 4.5% from 5,169
boe/d in the comparable period of 2020.

Reference crude oil prices were 72.4% higher in 2021, with West Texas
Intermediate averaging US$67.96 per barrel compared with US$39.41 per
barrel in 2020. The Group realized a crude oil price of CAD78.51 per barrel
in 2021 compared to CAD43.66 per barrel in 2020 with a year-on-year
increase of 79.8%. The Group achieved the average operating netback of
CAD35.15 per barrel of oil equivalent, representing an increase of 123.2% as
compared with CAD15.75 per barrel of oil equivalent for the same period
last year.

Average Annual Production

Chairman’s Statement
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The Group's upstream business average annual
production decreased to 4,936 BOE/Day by 5%
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

(continued) (#)

CREDIT RATINGS = &4

Rating agencies Ratings AR EE PR
Standard & Poor BB (Stable) EAEER BB (iB25F)
Moody's Ba2 (Stable) B Ba2 (B®)

The Group was rated “BB” by Standard & Poor with a positive rating outlook,
and was still rated “Ba2” by Moody’s with a rating outlook raised from
negative to stable, reflecting the Company’s healthy financial position and
promising operational prospects.

BUSINESS PROSPECT

In 2021, the global economic recovery was greatly challenged by the
pandemic, and the world is characterized by instability and uncertainty.
Despite this, China’s economy has shown strong resilience and the China’s
natural gas industry has developed steadily. In 2021, China has produced
205.3 billion cubic meters of natural gas, an increase of 8.2% over 2020 and
18.8% over 2019, with a two-year average growth rate of 9.0% and an
average daily production of 620 million cubic meters. In 2021, the domestic
apparent consumption of natural gas rose 12.7% year on year to 372.6
billion cubic meters, presenting an increase significantly larger than that of
raw coal and crude oil. In 2021, China has imported 121.36 million tons of
natural gas, an increase of 19.9% over the previous year. Domestic natural
gas production and consumption continued to grow, with urban gas
consumption accounting for the highest percentage of natural gas
consumption.
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The development of the natural gas industry is supported by national policies.
Promoting the use of natural gas conforms to the requirements of energy
conservation, emission reduction and sustainable development. China has
issued a series of policies to promote the development of the natural gas
industry and deepen the reform of the oil and gas system. In the context of a
global transition to green and low-carbon economy, natural gas has
comparative advantage and can serve as a transitional energy source for the
low-carbon transformation of the energy structure. Under the guidance of
the goal of carbon neutrality and carbon peaking, the proportion of natural
gas, as an important tool to mitigate the growth of carbon emissions, in the
primary energy consumption in China will continue to increase, and the
natural gas industry will usher in new growth momentum. China’s
urbanization level continues to increase, which will further stimulate the
growth of natural gas consumption and provide a broader market and
broader space for development for gas companies.

In 2021, the Group has generated impressive results. The development and
success of the Group relies on the hard work of all staff, the valuable trust of
our customers, and the support of our partners and shareholders. Looking
ahead, the Group will implement the objectives of “create value for our
customers, create platforms for our employees, and create returns for our
shareholders”, continue to keep abreast of the socio-economic situation,
take the path of high-quality development, improve quality and efficiency,
optimize management, enhance competitiveness, actively innovate, forge
ahead, and reward the society with excellent performance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EHEERR DN

The following discussions should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group and its notes and other
sections in the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2021.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$14,342 million, representing an increase of 37.5% from HK$10,433
million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The total revenue combined by four segments, namely (1) sales and
distribution of natural gas and other related product, (2) gas pipeline
construction and connection, (3) exploitation and production of crude oil and
natural gas and (4) production and sales of coal gasification and other related
products, amounted to HK$12,258 million, HK$971 million, HK$511 million
and HK$601 million respectively (2020: HK$9,385 million, HK$766 million,
HK$282 million and Nil respectively).

The Group’s overall gross profit amounted to HK$2,135 million (2020:
HK$1,679 million), representing in increase of 27.2%, which is due to the
Group's effective optimization of cost structure; profit for the period
attributable to the owners of the Company was HK$904 million, represented
an increase of 3,017%, mainly attributable to the provision made for the
upstream business in Canada due to a drop in price of crude oil last year and
a reversal made due to the increase in price of crude oil this year.

Administrative expenses were HK$500 million (2020: HK$334 million), an
increase of 49.7% as compared to the same period last year, the proportion
of administrative expenses to revenue was slightly increased to 3.5% (2020:
3.2%) with selling and distribution costs recorded a decrease of 8%.

Finance costs (net of capitalization) increase slightly from last year's HK$301
million to HK$344 million. The Group’s weighted average cost of all
indebtedness (including bank borrowings, other borrowings and senior notes)
for the year ended 31 December 2021 was 5.63% (2020: 5.26%).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

It is the Group's policy to use the cash flow generated from operations and
appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to expand
business and acquire projects. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total
indebtedness (including bank borrowings, other borrowings and senior notes)
amounted to HK$8,720 million (2020: HK$7,749 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents and time
deposits with maturity over three months of HK$3,766 million (2020:
HK$3,763 million). Total assets were HK$22,649 million (2020: HK$19,270
million), in which current assets were HK$6,857 million (2020: HK$6,249
million). Total liabilities of the Group were HK$13,830 million (2020:
HK$11,924 million), in which current liabilities were HK$5,883 million (2020:
HK$5,149 million). The Group’s net debt-to-assets ratio, measured on the
basis of total indebtedness net of cash and term deposits, divided by total
assets was 21.9% (2020: 20.7%). The Group's financial and liquidity remain
stable, and well prepared for the development in 2022.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 4,704 (2020: 4,443)
full-time employees, most of whom were stationed in China. Total staff cost
for the year amounted to HK$515 million (2020: HK$346 million). The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance, working experience
and the prevailing market wage level. The total remuneration of the
employees consists of basic salary, cash bonus and share-based incentives.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, senior notes issued by the Company were
guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has no material contingent liability as at 31 December 2021.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND TREASURY
POLICY

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of the
Group's treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of the major
objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its exposure to
fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. It is the
Group's policy not to engage in speculative activities.
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(continued) (#)

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. The Group’s certain
bank deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United
States dollars, and the Group’s offshore bank loans and senior notes are
denominated in Renminbi, Canadian dollars and United States dollars.

Other than those disclosed, the Group does not have any material exposures
to foreign exchange fluctuations. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and may, depending on the circumstances and trend of
foreign currencies, consider adopting a significant foreign currency hedging
policy in the future.

LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has no material litigation.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the issued share capital of the Company was
HK$57,670,438 divided into 5,767,043,834 shares of the Company with a
nominal value of HK$0.01 each.

MATERIAL EVENTS DURING AND AFTER
REPORTING PERIOD

In June 2021, the Group successfully issued senior notes due 2026 (“2026
Notes”) in the principal amount of US$400 million at a low cost of 4.7%,
which is the lowest interest rate for the issuance of 5-year bonds among the
same-rated utilities.

On 2 July 2021, the Company announced that it has informed the trustee
and holders of the 4.625% senior notes due 2022 (“2022 Notes”) that all of
the outstanding 2022 Notes in the principal amount of US$350 million would
be redeemed in full on 2 August 2021 (the “Redemption Date”) at a
redemption price equal to 101.156% of the principal amount thereof, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the Redemption
Date. The redemption was satisfied by using a portion of the net proceeds
from the 2026 Notes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On 15 July 2021, China Oil and Gas Investment Group Co., Ltd. (“China Oil
and Gas Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into
the share transfer agreements with Jining Qilu Testing Technology Co., Ltd
(75 R 25 & 4808 B fiT B FR A 7)) and Shandong Bio-engineering Co., Ltd.* (I
R ELEYW TR AR ADF)and Mr. Wang An for the acquisition of an
aggregate of 47,675,503 shares of Shandong Shengli, representing
approximately 5.42% of the then issued shares of Shandong Shengli, at a
total consideration of RMB246,504,504.87 (the “First Shares Acquisition”).
The First Shares Acquisition was completed on 17 August 2021. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 15 July
2021.

On 10 August 2021, China Oil and Gas Investment has entered into
agreements to acquire a further aggregate of 103,624,719 shares of
Shandong Shengli, representing approximately 11.77% of the then
existing issued shares of Shandong Shengli, at a total consideration of
RMB541,957,280.37 (the “Second Shares Acquisition”). Inclusive of the
shares of Shandong Shengli acquired under the First Shares Acquisition,
China Qil and Gas Investment has acquired an aggregate of 151,300,222
shares of Shandong Shengli, representing an approximate 17.19% of the
existing issued shares of Shandong Shengli, at a total consideration of
RMB788,461,785.24.

The Second Shares Acquisition in aggregate with the First Shares Acquisition
constituted a major transaction of the Company, and the Second Shares
Acquisition is therefore subject to the reporting, announcement, circular
and shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). A special general
meeting of the Company was held on 27 October 2021 and the shareholders
of the Company approved the Second Shares Acquisition. The Second Shares
Acquisition has been completed on 17 November 2021.
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(continued) (#)

For further details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated 11
October 2021.

On 18 October 2021, China Oil and Gas Investment has received the
notification from the Second Intermediate People’s Court of Beijing that
China Qil and Gas Investment has successfully won two auctions with the
highest bid price, with a total of 43,726,997 shares of Shandong Shengli,
representing approximately 4.97% of the then existing issued shares of
Shandong Shengli, and the total bidding price of RMB187,169,037.96.
Together with the First Shares Acquisition and the Second Shares Acquisition,
China Oil and Gas Investment has acquired a total of 195,027,219 shares of
Shandong Shengli, representing approximately 22.16% of total issued shares
of Shandong Shengli at the total consideration of RMB975,630,823.29. The
Group become the single largest shareholder of Shandong Shengli since
then. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
18 October 2021.

On 25 March 2022, the Company successfully drawdown a syndicated loan

of an amount of USD290 million for the purpose of early redemption of the
Company’s 2023 US$ senior notes.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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Biographical Details of Directors

CHAIRMAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Xu Tie-liang (“Mr. Xu"), aged 58, an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board and also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Xu is
the chairman of the corporate governance committee of the Company (the
“CG Committee”), also the chairman of China Oil and Gas Investment, China
City Natural Gas Investment Group Co., Ltd (“CCNG") and Baccalieu Energy
Inc. Canada and director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is also the
managing director of Shandong Shenli (000407.5Z). Mr. Xu graduated from
Xi'an Shiyou University (78 %2 f2 )i X 2), and postgraduate from the University
of International Business and Economics (¥f4ME % & 5 K ), postgraduate
from Tsinghua University School of Economic and Management (/& # K £
4 & EfT), with a master degree of advanced business administration. He is
also a senior PRC lawyer and certified public accountant. Mr. Xu has extensive
experience in management, investments, legal and finance.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Guan Yijun (“Ms. Guan”), aged 57, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 10 September 2010. She was appointed as the
vice president of the Company on 1 September 2006. Ms. Guan is a member
of each of the CG Committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”). She is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Guan was a postgraduate from Peking
University, and obtained a Master Degree in Business Administration. She has
extensive business operation management experiences over 22 years.

Mr. Gao Falian (“Mr. Gao”), aged 57, was appointed as an executive
Director on 17 May 2021. He is a senior engineer, obtained a bachelor’s
degree in law from Peking University and a master’s degree in engineering
from China University of Petroleum. Mr. Gao currently serves as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group, including China Oil and Gas Investment and
CCNG. He also served as president of CCNG during the period from February
2010 to August 2018 and president of China Oil and Gas Investment during
the period from September 2015 to August 2018. Mr. Gao held several
positions in China Petroleum Pipeline Bureau during August 1985 to May
2010, including general manager, commissioner of technical service etc. He
has extensive experience in oil and gas industry.
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Ms. Xu Ran (“Ms. Xu"), aged 32, was appointed as an executive
Director on 2 November 2021. She has been the manager of investment
department of the Company for over seven years. Since she joined the
Company, she has participated in the acquisition of Baccalieu Energy Inc.
in Canada and is responsible for evaluating the investment opportunities
and treasury management in the upstream business in North America.
She also participated in the work of the issuance of four batches of senior
notes in a total amount of USD1.4 billion. She is also responsible for the
external investment of the Group. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Xu
worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers. Ms. Xu obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Accountancy in The University of San Diego of U.S.A. in 2012.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Wenhua, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 17 May 2021. He is the chairman of each of the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and Remuneration
Committee, and a member of nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”). He graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a doctorate’s degree in business administration in March
2017. In June 2010, Mr. Wang Wenhua obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from Lanzhou University. He also graduated from
financial accounting profession from Renmin University of China in December
1994. He awarded the Chinese certified public accountant in October 1994.
Mr. Wang currently serves as the vice president of GEM Flower Healthcare
Investment Group Co., Ltd. (“GEM Flower Healthcare Group”) and the
chairman of each of GEM Flower Healthcare Asset Investment Co., Ltd.* (&
AitEEEE®RE AR Q) and GEM Flower International Healthcare
Co., Ltid* (B AR BB EEE A R A F), the wholly-owned subsidiaries
of GEM Flower Healthcare Group and the chief accountant of Strait Energy
Industry Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (FIKEEREXE S EEFR A A).
During the period from May 2006 to August 2016, Mr. Wang Wenhua was
a vice president of Kunlun Energy Company Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 135). He was a manager of
the finance department of China Petroleum Hong Kong (Holding) Limited
during February 1999 to April 2006. Mr. Wang Wenhua also served different
positions of BGP China National Petroleum Corporation during the period
from July 1988 to January 1999. He has extensive experience in the field of
accounting and business administration.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. Wang Guangtian, aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 4 November 2009. He is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration Committee. He held a master degree in world economics
from the Hebei University and has over 37 years of experience in financial
and administrative management. Mr. Wang Guangtian is currently the
managing director of Gainful Investment Corporation and Guofu (Hong
Kong) Holdings Limited. He was an independent non-executive director of
ENN Energy Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange; stock code: 2688) from December 2000 to May 2015. Mr.
Wang Guangtian was appointed as a managing director of Hebei Overseas
Listed Equity Investment Fund Co., Ltd in June 2015 and Hebei Province
Financing Guarantee Fund Co., Ltd on 11 September 2020 respectively.

Mr. Yang Jie (“Mr. Yang"), aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 18 May 2017. He is a member of the Audit
Committee. Mr. Yang held a bachelor degree at University of International
Business Economics. Mr. Yang is currently serving as director of MEC
Advisory Limited which is the sole advisor of Can-China Global Resource
Fund, and EMC Financial Limited, the general partner of Can-China Global
Resource Fund respectively. Mr. Yang has more than 22 years of experience
in mining investment and capital operation. He served as a board member
of several Canadian listed mining companies and senior adviser of several
Chinese companies for their overseas investment. Mr. Yang served as vice
chairman of Greater China Mining Group, a director and an executive vice
president of Continental Mineral Corp. and senior vice president and partner
in Hunter Dickinson Inc. He has participated in corporate financing, mergers
and acquisitions for numerous Canadian mining companies.
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Report of the Directors
EEHEE

The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in investments in natural gas and energy related
businesses.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the state of
affairs of the Group as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 73 to 224.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Company’s Business

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 and a discussion on the Group'’s future business development, and also
the Group's performance during the year ended 31 December 2021 using
the key financial performance indicators are provided in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 20.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Facing the Company

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The following are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those as shown below which are not known to
the Group or may not be material now but could turn out to be material in
the future.

Natural Gas Price Control Risk

The Group is principally engaged in distribution of natural gas in the PRC.
The city-gate price of natural gas is determined with reference to the
wellhead price and transmission charges. In China, wellhead prices for
residential and fertilizer users are fixed, while wellhead prices for industrial
and commercial users may vary from the benchmark price set by the PRC
National Development and Reform Commission. Piped gas end-user tariffs
are determined by local pricing bureaus. There may be risks that the Group
is unable to obtain approval for passing through any increase in natural gas
price which would deteriorate the Group’s profit.
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s principal business is located in the PRC and Canada and its
major transactions are conducted in Renminbi. Most of its assets and
liabilities of the Group are denominated in Renminbi and Canadian dollars.

The Renminbi is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s net assets, earnings and any dividends
it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted into foreign
exchange. The Group has not entered into any hedging transactions to
manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies. The Group does not
consider that it has any significant exposure to the risk of fluctuation in the
exchange rate between HK$ and RMB.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential risk that the Group will be unable to meet its
obligations when they fall due because of an inability to obtain adequate
funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, the Group monitors
cash flows and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to
ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the effects of
fluctuation in cash flows.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every function at divisional
and departmental levels.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their standard operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework. The management
will identify and assess key operational exposures regularly so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.

Environmental Policy and Performance

Both the government and the public continue to pay utmost attention to
environmental issues, despite the fact that certain expensive and environment
friendly measures were planned and implementation will soon be taken
place. More stringent requirements may be put into practice to address these
issues.
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The environmental, social and governance report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2021 containing the information required under
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules will be published on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website within five months after the end of the
financial year.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda and therefore the Company
is subject to The Bermuda Companies Act. In addition, the Company is
registered as a non-Hong Kong company under Part 16 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”)
and therefore is subject to the relevant provisions under the Companies
Ordinance.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and therefore the
Company is subject to the governance of the Listing Rules, including the
disclosure requirements and corporate governance provisions therein. Under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong)
(the “SFO"), the Company is required to maintain a register of interests in
shares and short positions and a register of directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions and is obliged to make timely disclosure of inside
information.

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management are
concerned, there was no breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on its
businesses and operations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets. Thus the
Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate
the employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market
standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with business partners and bank enterprises to achieve its long term goals.
Accordingly, the management have kept good communication, promptly
exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them when appropriate.
During the year under review, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its business partners or bank enterprises.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Please refer to Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements for
subsequent events after the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on Wednesday, 25 May 2022 (“2022 AGM"), the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 19 May 2022 to Wednesday,
25 May 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2022
AGM, all transfers of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s)
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 18 May
2022.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 224. That
summary does not form part of the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating segments for
the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year (2020: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

The Company did not issue any share during the year ended 31 December
2021.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

In June 2021, the Company issued 2026 Notes, which is the lowest interest
rate for the issuance of 5-year bonds among the same-rated utilities. The
Company used the net proceeds from the issue of the 2026 Notes to repay
certain existing indebtedness, including the 2022 Notes, and for general
corporate purposes. Details are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme and the restricted share award scheme of
the Group as set out in this Report of the Directors and in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Group during the year or subsisting at the end of
the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
at the special general meeting of the Company held on 23 November 2011.
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its discretion offer
options to any eligible participant including, but not limited to any person
being an employee, executive directors or non-executive directors of the
Group or any invested entity (including independent non-executive directors
of the Group or any invested entity) and any suppliers, consultants or advisers
who will provide or have provided services to the Group or any invested
entity. Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021

FR - SEYEFLHENEZEBR (2T
TEE) o

LN

ERRARBRANFER &
H]RMIFE3T o

HEEREEPB

A7 31T

NARBE_E-_—F+_A=Z+—HILF
EEETIARD -

BT
RZZEZ—FXNA RAIBT_TE-_FE

B ZANREHABTIRAREERAPH
THFHEFHEERMNE - RABERITZT
CAFEEMBREFEANEEETERSA
BB (BEZE__FFK) E—%270H
® o BEFBHRGAEMBRERN T2 -

e E AL

BRAZEEREERGAUBHRRAMEIND
BT 5 B A0 BB AR AT 8 PR B 1 A 10 2R B
B R EEMETZHRFERID
RAMH R HB W -

BRESE

ARRAERZZE——F+— A+ =ZHETH
ARIREFENAG IR — BB RS ([5E
RRiERTE]) - REBRENS  E=2/7
HEREBREFIMNAEKR2EE @ B
BErRRREERTHNIRETEREE « 1T
EERNFATES (PREEERTIWNEEE
BRYBIYENTES)  URTHBEEE
LREBENTMARETEREERE 2 HER
BWAKER - BRENIGFBERINGEY
BWMEME3T -



Details of movements in the share options granted under the Share Option
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REBREFSRD 2BEREZSFHEHT

Scheme are as follows: (N
Outstanding
Name or Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
category of Exercise Date of Exercisable as at during during during the 31 December
participants price grant period 1 January 2021 the year the year year 2021
RZB=-F
R-B--%- tZA=t-H
SEERZER TkE RLAH TS B-BRERTE FEREL ERffR EREN i RATHE
(HKS)
(B7)
Employees 0.46 22/012016  22/01/2019 to 85,020,000 — — — 85,020,000
21/01/2026
EE ZE-RE ZE-0E
-AZ+ZH —-A=t+zHZ
—ZoRE
-A=t-H
Others 0.46 22/01/2016  22/01/2019 to 1,540,000 — — — 1,540,000
21/01/2026 (Note 1)
At “ERE “E-NE (MizE1)
—AZfZA —-AZfZRE
BN
-R=-t—H
Total 86,560,000 — - — 86,560,000
@t
Notes: Wit
1. These include 1,540,000 share options granted by the Company to Mr. Liu 1. ZEEREREARAMBAESFTE ([8E
Chunsun (“Mr. Liu"), the former executive director of the Company who retired ] RZEZ—FHRA+ELBBEHTHRA
on 17 May 2021, which has been reallocated from the category of Director to RTE1TE =) % H#91,540,00010 lE AR #E -
Others. Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, Mr. Liu shall have REFHRNEFO>RZHEM - BREERES
the right to exercise his remaining share options granted within 1 year following BWIER - BIEEBERNRERTAHRE —
the date of his retirement and will lapse automatically thereafter. FRTEHRTEREOBERE - HEBE8H
E
2. The vesting period and the exercisable manner of these share options are as 2. ZEBBRERIR TS BB A R 1T 7 171 -

follow:

(i) The vesting period of 30% of the share options is from the date of grant
and up to 21 January 2018 and are exercisable on 22 January 2018;

(i) The vesting period of 30% of the share options is from the date of grant
and up to 21 January 2019 and are exercisable on 22 January 2019; and

(iii) The vesting period of 40% of the share options is from the date of grant
and up to 21 January 2020 and are exercisable on 22 January 2020.

(i) 30%MmEREEEHAER T BHRE
BEE-_Z— )\ —A=-+—BIHKN=
ZE-NE—-A-+-BATE

(i) 30%HEREFSEHASELASE
BEE-_Z—hAhF—A-+—BERH=
T-NF-A-+-HATE: &

@iy 40%WEREFSBEHAER L AR
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These share options were granted on 22 January 2016, the closing price of
the shares on 21 January 2016, being the date immediately before the date
of grant, was HK$0.43. During the year ended 31 December 2021, no share
options were granted, cancelled, exercised or lapsed.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 4 November 2011, the Board adopted a restricted share award scheme
(the “Restricted Share Award Scheme”) as an incentive to recognise the
contributions by employees and to give incentives in order to retain them for
their continuing operation and development and to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group, details of the Restricted Share Award
Scheme are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-Laws”) or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2021, other than those purchased by its trustee for the Restricted Share
Award Scheme.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the amount standing to the credit of the
Company'’s share premium account in the amount of HK$13,208,000 may
also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares, and the Company’s
contributed surplus account in the amount of HK$1,447,454,000 may be
distributed under certain circumstances.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s major
suppliers and customers are as follows:
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FEFFRHER

SEHXIEHERALEPERIEZRBERIHER
Ao

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
% %
Purchase s

— the largest supplier — A ER 18.0 36.6
— five largest suppliers combined — A RMHERET 37.6 68.9

Turnover EERE
— the largest customer — ZARP 3.0 5.1
— five largest customers combined — AREBEPEE 10.1 13.0

The percentage of the turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers combined were less than 30% of the total turnover of the Group.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) or any shareholders (who, to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interests in
the Group’s five largest customers or five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. GUAN Yijun
Mr. GAO Falian
(appointed on 17 May 2021)
Ms. XU Ran (appointed on 2 November 2021)
Mr. LIU Chunshun (retired on 17 May 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. WANG Wenhua
(appointed on 17 May 2021)
Mr. WANG Guangtian
Mr. YANG lJie
Mr. LI Yunlong (retired on 17 May 2021)

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Xu Tie-liang, Mr.
Wang Guangtian and Mr. Yang lJie shall retire from office as Directors by
rotation at the 2022 AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the 2022 AGM.

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-Laws, Ms. Xu Ran, being
Director appointed after the annual general meeting held on 17 May 2021
("2021AGM"), shall be subject to re-election at the 2022 AGM, and, being
eligible, offers herself for re-election at the 2022 AGM.
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INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEME",
"RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME" and “DIRECTORS’" AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES” in this report and in notes 31(b) and 31(c) to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Xu Tie-liang entered into a service contract with the Company on 10
April 2020 for the continuous appointment as an executive Director for a
term of three years commencing from 10 April 2020.

Ms. Guan Yijun entered into a service contract with the Company on 1
January 2021 for the continuous appointment as an executive Director for a
term of three years commencing from 1 January 2021.

Mr. Gao Falian entered into a service contract with the Company on 17 May
2021 for the appointment as an executive Director for a term of three years
commencing from 17 May 2021.

Ms. Xu Ran entered into a service contract with the Company on 2 November
2021 for the appointment as an executive Director for a term of three years
commencing from 2 November 2021.

Mr. Wang Wenhua signed a letter of appointment issued by the Company on
17 May 2021 for the appointment as an independent non-executive Director
for a term of three years commencing from 17 May 2021.

Each of Mr. Wang Guantian and Mr. Yang Jie signed a letter of appointment
issued by the Company on 1 January 2021 for the continuous appointment
as an independent non-executive Director for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2021.
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None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM has
a service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Group or any of its subsidiaries was a party subsisted
at 31 December 2021 or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2021.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required to notify to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code"), are set out below:

Report of the Directors

EEHREE

(continued) (#&)

BR_T__FRRBFASLEXERY
B HMEEQRTLTITR -—FARMNE
B CEERBERIN MERLEZRBALD -

BEEK

MAFE  WEITURFEEMERRER
EHXREFAERRONEERTREENS
#) e

EEREHNzER

EERENEBERER T -_—F+_A
—t+—HxEBEEZZT=Z—F+ZA=+—H
LtFETNRETENNBRARIERTNA
SHMITVTHEB EBBEREATE LT
MRS ZHAEHNTFEESIHEESEM
EAERHER -

EERFETHA
BERORES 2’

R-ZFBE-_—F+-_A=+—8  EZFEKRF
ZEBITBRABRABHEMMAE EZE (F
ERBHENEKRFEXVE) 2&H - HE
B REFPEBREZSF KBAEKOEXV
BEIRFESH BMABNE RN E) M ZT 2
mRAE (BEREEFRBEKRYZEH
BXMERIEXREEREB BRI AR)
NRIBEE S KB EBKE F35215 AL 80 %
BOlFrt z &M #ERmAR  SRE L
MBTAESETEAFRZG2EETA ([Z
PRI ) MBS D E) &R P2 %% S0%
BT

KRG ~ #

Bk 0

FHRREEBAER LT 2021FFIH

33



34

Report of the Directors
EEHEE

(continued) (#)

Interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company

RABZRG - HERGRES 2 ER

Approximate
percentage of

Number of  the Company’s

Name of Long position/ ordinary issued share Amount of
Director Capacity short position Notes shares held capital debentures held
HRARBBRTRE
EEnS &1 BR/ %R Wi RBEEBERYE BHABED L FsEse8
XU Tie-liang Beneficiary of a trust  Long position 1,2 1,592,634,130 27.62% 6,040,000 7T
AR FErEXEA e
Interest in controlled  Long Position 2 — — 3,500,000 7T
__ corporation
REHEEER e
GUAN Yijun Interest of spouse Long position 1,2 1,592,634,130 27.62% 6,040,000% 7T
MEE fiBiE s e
Interest of spouse Long position 2 — — 1,500,000%775
il B En o)
Interest of controlled  Long position 2 — — 2,000,000 T
__ corporation
REHEE 2 R e
XU Ran Beneficial owner Long position 500,000 0.01% —
A EREBA iE —
Notes: Wit -
1. Mr. Xu Tie-liang is the beneficiary of The Great Xu Fund Trust, a trust managed 1. FF 8K R %8 4 B The Great Xu Fund Trust (FBTMF

by TMF (Cayman) Ltd.. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as trustee holds the entire issued
share capital of Great Xu Holdings Limited (“Great Xu"”) which acquired
the entire issued share capital of Sino Vantage Management Limited (“Sino
Vantage”) on 22 January 2021, which in turn holds 1,592,634,130 shares of
the Company (the “Shares”). Therefore, Mr. Xu is deemed to be interested
in 1,592,634,130 Shares pursuant to the SFO. Ms. Guan Yijun is the spouse
of Mr. Xu, therefore, Ms. Guan is also deemed to be interested in the said
1,592,634,130 Shares pursuant to the SFO.

2. (i) An amount of US$2,000,000 of the 2022 Notes is held through Moral High
Limited which is owned by Mr. Xu and Ms. Guan 50% each; (ii) an amount
of US$1,500,000 of the 2022 Notes is held through Sino Advance Holdings
Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Xu; and (iii) an amount of US$6,040,000
of the US$320,000,000 5.5% senior notes of the Company due 2023 is held
through Sino Vantage.
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(Cayman) Ltd. B M E5) WXz A o TMF
(Cayman) Ltd. (1 B £ 5 A) ¥ A& Great Xu
Holdings Limited ( [Great Xul ) /)& & B % 17
e - Great XuRZZE=—_—F—A=+=H
Uz B Sino Vantage Management Limited ( [Sino
Vantage|) #) & # B % 17 IR & - 1@ Sino
Vantage #f B 2 7]1,592,634,1308% i& 17 ([B%
Bl) - At - BEZFHFRBEBKRD - 5%
AR AP1,592,634,130 IR 15 RIS A iR o
BEREZTATLEEZRB - Bt - BRI
BHLKBAERD BT AEEKRAR L
1,592,634, 130 R 45 2R -

() ==& = — & E ¥ #2,000,000% 7T J5 & B
ERERAR (BFLERBREISBES
50%) A (i) = T = — 4 = # $1,500,000
ELTYE B L £ 2 E ¥ A /9 Sino Advance
Holdings Limited # & : X (iii) 2 71320,000,000
ENLR T =FHHZSSEELEEEF
6,040,000 JT i& i Sino Vantage 15 & °



Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company which were recorded on the register required
to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 December 2021.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2021, the register of substantial shareholders maintained by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO showed that other than the
interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors and chief executives,
the following shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests in
the issued share capital of the Company:

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Long position/

Report of the Directors
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MRREEHTRAD 2 HERES :
RAFRMD KA D 2

Approximate
Number of percentage of the
ordinary shares Company’s issued

Name of shareholder Capacity short position held share capital
EATRERTRAE

BEMEEB &4 BE/RE FEZERHE MABED

Sino Vantage Beneficial owner Long position 1,592,634,130 27.62%
EamEA A HeE

Great Xu Interest in controlled Long position 1,592,634,130 27.62%
__corporations
REHEEER =

TMF (Cayman) Ltd. Trustee Long position 1,592,634,130 27.62%
ZFEA Ha

Note: B Er -

These 1,592,634,130 Shares are held by Sino Vantage, which is wholly-owned by Great
Xu, which in turn wholly-owned by TMF (Cayman) Ltd.. TMF (Cayman) Ltd. managed
Great Xu in which Mr. Xu is the beneficiary. Therefore, each of Great Xu and TMF
(Cayman) Ltd. is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Sino
Vantage interested.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the register of
the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO as having
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as at 31
December 2021.

% %1,592,634,130[% i% 17 A1 Sino Vantage# & - Sino
Vantage B Great Xu & & # A& - i Great Xu 8 TMF
(Cayman) Ltd. 2 & # A ° TMF (Cayman) Ltd. & ¥ Great
Xu + EF 4 BGreat XU E 2z A o AL © Great
XuE2 TMF (Cayman) Ltd. & B # % & 5 Sino Vantage #
EEEZHERBRNEBBEPHE#ER o

BEXHTEEEN  R_ZE-_—F+=A
=+—8 - BEEMATRROIAEERYD
FTHEACHERBIEZES KB E KM 336
BREATEZECHOEMERZIAS -
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance when the Report of the Board of the Directors
prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of
the Companies Ordinance.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Exempt continuing connected transaction

The following continuing connected transaction constitutes an exempt
continuing connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules:

Appointment of Trustee for Restricted Share Award Scheme

The Trustee (Note) was appointed by the Company as trustee for the
administration of the Restricted Share Award Scheme adopted by the Board
on 4 November 2011. Service fee will be paid by the Company to the Trustee
according to the share award trust deed entered into between the Company
and the Trustee on 4 November 2011. The payment of the service fees to the
Trustee by the Company constitutes a continuing connected transaction of
the Company, but is exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.76(1)
of the Listing Rules.

HK$200,000 was paid/payable to the Trustee for the financial year ended 31
December 2021.

Note:

Best Thinker Limited (the “Trustee”), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Xu Tie-liang, an
executive Director, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is
regarded as a connected person of the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had entered into
certain related party transactions but these transactions were not regarded
as connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules or were exempt from reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Details of
these related party transactions are disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year and
up to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out on pages 39 to 57 of the annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee in 1998 with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, which is currently
made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor; to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, to provide recommendations for any questions regarding
the resignation or dismissal of such auditor; to review the interim and annual
reports, and financial statements of the Group; to oversee the Company'’s
financial reporting system including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting
function and their training arrangement and budget, and to review the risk
management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wang Wenhua (as chairman), Mr. Wang Guangtian and Mr.
Yang Jie. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and is of the opinion
that such financial statements complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules and other applicable legal requirements and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

There was no change in auditor of the Company in the past three years.

A resolution will be submitted to the 2022 AGM to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Oil And Gas Group Limited
Xu Tie-liang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance standard
and procedures to ensure the integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure
in order to enhance the shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has all along committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to
its shareholders by ensuring that the proper processes for supervision and
management of the Group’s businesses are duly operated and reviewed and
that good corporate governance practices and procedures are established
throughout the year ended 31 December 2021. The Company has adopted
the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company was in compliance
with the relevant code provisions set out in the CG Code except for the
deviations as explained below.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the responsibilities
between chairman and chief executive officer should be divided. Mr. Xu Tie-
liang is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board believes that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately
ensured by current Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals with sufficient number thereof being independent non-executive
Directors.

Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
met all relevant code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company,
and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as well as reviewing
the operation and financial performance of the Group. The Board reserved
for its decision or consideration matters covering overall Group strategy,
major acquisitions and disposals, annual budgets, annual and interim results,
approval of major capital transactions and other significant operational
and financial matters. The management was delegated the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

The Board currently consists of seven Directors including four executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. GUAN Yijun

Mr. GAO Falian

Ms. XU Ran

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. WANG Wenhua

Mr. WANG Guangtian

Mr. YANG Jie

Save for Ms. Guan Yijun is the spouse of Mr. Xu Tie-liang and Ms. Xu Ran
is the daughter of Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each other. Such
balanced Board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists
across the Board. The composition of the Board reflects the balanced skills
and experience for effective leadership.

The biographical information of the Directors are set out on pages 21 to 23
under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors”.

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall business plans
and evaluates the Group'’s financial performance and management. Specific
tasks that the Board delegates to the Group’s management include the
implementation of strategies approved by the Board, the monitoring of
operating budgets, the implementation of internal controls procedures, and
the ensuring of compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other
rules and regulations.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ Training

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the financial year ended 31

December 2021 to the Company.

The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended 31
December 2021 is set out below:

Name of Director

EEERHRE

(continued) (#)

225

RIBEAEEATRZ TR EA6SEK - FT
FESR2EBETXRER  ZBRIEHH
MB R NHERHEHEBEEABZEEM
EOEMBNEATHEZRELER -

ZRESHELNBFEZESEY > XRAA
REEREBEE T -_—F+=-A=+—H8H1t
MREEMESEINLE -

BHE -2 -+ _A=+—HULEFEME
EZEEZEBIEIDHEEI DT ¢

Attending or participating in
seminars/inhouse briefing or
reading materials relevant
to the Group’s business/
director’s duties

HESSEESEEER

ESREHEZERE

EEns RBEBEREEAEE
Mr. XU Tie-liang FPERR B 4
Ms. GUAN Yijun MsEL+ 4
Mr. GAO Falian mEE A 4
Ms. XU Ran FFAR T v
Mr. WANG Wenhua FxEELa v
Mr. WANG Guangtian FEMRLESE v
Mr. YANG Jie BAREE v

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Company does not have a separate chairman and chief executive officer,
and Mr. Xu Tie-liang currently performs these two roles. The Board believes
that by taking the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in
the same person, it has the benefit of maintaining a consistent leadership
and enables a more effective and efficient overall strategic planning within
the Group. The Board believes that the present arrangement will not impair
its balance of power and authority, and this is ensured by current Board
members, which comprise experienced and high calibre individuals with
sufficient number of independent non-executive Directors.
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Non-executive Directors

The three independent non-executive Directors are high caliber individuals,
with academic and professional qualifications and experience in the fields
of accounting, finance and investment. With their accumulated experience
gained from various sectors, they can provide strong support towards
the Board’s effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities. Each
independent non-executive Director has given an annual confirmation of
his independence to the Company, and the Company considered that each
of them is independent based on the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for specific term and subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Bye-Laws.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 26 August 2013 (the
"Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve its diversity. The Company
recognises that increasing diversity at Board level will support the attainment
of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable development. The
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration its own
business model and specific needs from time to time in determining the
optimum composition of the Board.

The Board delegates certain duties to the Nomination Committee under the
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss and review the necessity to
set measurable objectives for the implementation of the Policy from time to
time, to ensure their appropriateness and the progress made towards these
objectives are achievable and ascertainable.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy, as appropriate, to ensure
its continued effectiveness from time to time.

Board Meetings

The Board has four scheduled meetings held quarterly each year, and
additional meetings will take place as and when required. These Board
meetings are planned in advance. During the regular meeting, the Board
examines the Company’s operation and financial performance, reviews and
approves its annual and interim results.
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Corporate Governance Report

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board held 5 meetings. All
Directors were given opportunities to include any matters in the agenda
for the regular Board meetings, and were given sufficient time to review
documents and information relating to matters to be discussed in the Board
meetings.

Name of Director

EEERHRE
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Number of attendance

EEgE HESRARH
Mr. XU Tie-liang SRR E (FEFTHAAE) 5/5
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. GUAN Yijun FARAEZ T 5/5
Mr. GAO Falian (Note 1) SR E A (KiET) 2/2
Ms. XU Ran (Note 2) AR (Mit2) N/A T~ i
Mr. LIU Chunsun (Note 3) BIEFEF &£ (K7iE3) 3/3
Mr. WANG Wenhua (Note 1) FCESAE (K iET) 2/2
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEHEE 5/5
Mr. YANG lJie BAREE 5/5
Mr. LI Yunlong (Note 3) FEE A (KiE3) 3/3

Notes:

1. Mr. Gao Falian and Mr. Wang Wenhua were appointed on 17 May 2021 and 2
Board meetings were held after their appointment.

2. Ms. Xu Ran was appointed on 2 November 2021 and no Board meetings were
held after her appointment.

3. Mr. Liu Chunsun and Mr. Li Yunlong retired upon conclusion of 2021 AGM and
3 Board meetings were held before their retirement.

Board minutes are open for inspection by the Directors. Every Board
member is entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and
has the liberty to seek external professional advice if so required.

Hrat -
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General Meetings
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company held 2 general

meetings, being the 2021 AGM and the special general meeting of the
Company held on 27 October 2021.

Name of Director

RERE

Bz -+ -_A=Z=+—BLtEE 2
AR T2RAERERE  IZTE=-—FKRK
BABERErQARIR -_E-_—F+/F-++tH
BITHRERFR ARG -

Number of attendance

EEHE HESBXE
Mr. XU Tie-liang FTRR S (EERITHAES) 2/2
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. GUAN Yijun BHEL+ 212
Mr. GAO Falian (Note 1) mEE S A (W) 11
Ms. XU Ran (Note 2) AR (Waz2) N/A 73 F3
Mr. LIU Chunsun (Note 3) BIEH &L (WiE3) 11
Mr. WANG Wenhua (Note 1) FXELE (K1) 11
Mr. WANG Guangtian FEBLE 2/2
Mr. YANG lJie BAREE 2/2
Mr. LI Yunlong (Note 3) ZERESLE (MiE3) 1/1
Notes: Wt -

1. Mr. Gao Falian and Mr. Wang Wenhua were appointed on 17 May 2021 and 1
general meeting was held after their appointment.

2. Ms. Xu Ran was appointed on 2 November 2021 and no general meetings were
held after her appointment.

3. Mr. Liu Chunsun and Mr. Li Yunlong retired upon conclusion of the 2021 AGM
and 1 general meeting was held before their retirement.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, making use of the annual general meeting
or other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage their
participation. Mr. Xu Tie-liang, being the Chairman of the Board and the
chairman of the CG Committee, attended the 2021 AGM and answered
questions and collected views of shareholders.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board takes into account
the qualification, ability, working experience, leadership and professional
ethics of the candidates, especially their experience in the natural gas industry
and/or other professional area.
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The Company established the Nomination Committee on 15 March 2006 and
currently consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wang Guangtian (as chairman) and Mr. Wang Wenhua and one executive
Director, namely Mr. Gao Falian.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are to review and monitor the
structure, size and diversity of the Board; to provide recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board in order to complement the Group's strategy;
to identify qualified individuals in becoming members of the Board; to assess
the independence of independent non-executive directors; to review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the Policy, and
the progress on achieving the objectives; and to provide recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue
disruption, there should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure
for selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans
in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including periodical
review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment
of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation
of the proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified
shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the
effective carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities which, in particular,
are set out as follows:

(@)  participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conducts;

(b)  taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
(c)  serving on the Audit Committee, and the Remuneration Committee

and the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for
non-executive Director) and other relevant Board committees, if invited;

EEERHRE

(continued) (#)
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(d)  bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board,
giving the Board and any committees on which he or she serves the
benefit of his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and
qualifications and diversity through attendance and participation in the
Board/committee meetings;

(e)  scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance;

(f)  ensuring the committees on which he or she serves to perform their
powers and functions conferred on them by the Board; and

(g) conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the
constitutional documents of the Company or imposed by legislation or
the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance with,
among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from
time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise for filling the office of an independent
non-executive Director with such qualifications or expertise as required under
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee
held 2 meetings. The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size
and diversity of the Board, assessed the independence of independent
non-executive Directors, considered and provided recommendations to the
Board on the re-election of Directors and proposed the appointment of
directors.

Name of Director

d REZERIA-ZRINZHEUBLER
FREERL2RERR ETEEFE
MERMRENEERBREMNZEER
BRERE ERk ZEEERER
kKB ZT
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H HWERERARENZEGETESREET
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@ MFEFRTHIE  XAFAFEX
PETRBS BT - SR DI S E A B R
S MEMEE  HRRAN (0E
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WEEEAEREATABIYIIERNTES © A
BIRE (KR B3E) EWE A E3.1306 (A5
RETAI e TR fE RIS ET) ATl m A =51
HEBYW o WEA - AN EAFTEHZER
ATHEF  BREEREBRIEREBL - MU
ZREEECEEAEMNEEZERI I
B BEREZE R (B LMK AE3.1002) &Fr
MEMEBEERLEBER) NIEEBLIEHRT
TE

BT -+ -_A=+—BILtEE 2
FEEQRRMAGFE - REZTETRE
EEZRAE AERZk  FFEBIE
WITEBZBIYHD TRESEERES
ZAEEEEIRERNESRREEBREZE -

Number of attendance

BEEHS HESBERH
Mr. WANG Guangtian (Chairman) TERELE(EE) 2/2
Mr. WANG Wenhua (Note 1) ESCES A (HFET) N/AR it F
Mr. GAO Falian (Note 1) BB A (W) N/AZ 3 F3
Mr. LI Yunlong (Note 2) FEBELLE (Hi22) 2/2
Mr. LIU Chunsun (Note 2) BEFELAE (B i7E2) 2/2

Notes:

1. Mr. Gao Falian and Mr. Wang Wenhua were appointed on 17 May 2021 and no
Nomination Committee meetings were held after their appointment.
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2. Mr. Liu Chunsun and Mr. Li Yunlong retired upon conclusion of the 2021 AGM
and 2 Nomination Committee meetings were held before their retirement.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 13 January 2006
with written terms of reference and currently consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Wenhua (as chairman) and Mr.
Wang Guangtian, and one executive Director, namely Ms. Guan Yijun.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are aligned with the
code provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to provide
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy, the
remuneration packages for all Directors’ and senior management, and the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for formulating the
remuneration policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee
held 2 meetings. The committee reviewed the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management and the remuneration of the proposed
directors.

Name of Director
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Number of attendance

EEHA HESBERY
Mr. WANG Wenhua (Note 1) TXESE (M) N/AT~ 38 A
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEHLE 212
Ms. GUAN Yijun FARAZ T 2/2
Mr. LI Yunlong (Note 2) TERESLAE (Hit2) 2/2
Notes: Bt -

1. Mr. Wang Wenhua was appointed on 17 May 2021 and no Remuneration 1. FNEXERZT—FRATLHEZE -

Committee meetings were held after his appointment.

2. Mr. Li Yunlong retired upon conclusion of the 2021 AGM and 2 Remuneration
Committee meetings were held before his retirement.
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The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 23 November
2011. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Board to
grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards, for
their contributions to the Group. The Board has also adopted the Restricted
Share Award Scheme on 4 November 2011 as an incentive to recognise the
employees’ contributions, in order to retain them for the Group’s continuing
operation and development, and to attract suitable personnel for its further
development.

Details of the Share Option Scheme and the Restricted Share Award Scheme
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

The emolument payable to Directors and senior management will depend on
their respective contractual terms under the employment agreements, if any,
and is determined by the Board with reference to the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee, the performance of the Group and the prevailing
market conditions.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2021, by bands is set out in note 11(b) to
the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management for the

year ended 31 December 2021 are also set out in notes 12 and 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established the Audit Committee in 1998. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely

Mr. Wang Wenhua (as chairman), Mr. Wang Guangtian and Mr. Yang Jie.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are currently made available
on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Audit Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.
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The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor; to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, to provide recommendations for any questions regarding
the resignation or dismissal of such auditor; to review the interim and annual
reports, and financial statements of the Group; to oversee the Company’s
financial reporting system including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting
function and their training arrangement and budget, and to review the risk
management and internal control system.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss any area
of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews the interim and
annual reports before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee focuses
not only on the impact of the changes in accounting policies and practices,
but also on the compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
the legal requirements in the review of the Company’s interim and annual
reports.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held 2
meetings.

Name of Director
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Number of attendance

EEgE HESBREH
Mr. WANG Wenhua (Chairman) (Note 1) EXERE(EE) (BaET) 11
Mr. WANG Guangtian FTEBHLE 212
Mr. YANG lie BAREE 2/2
Mr. LI Yunlong (Note 2) TEE AL (KiE2) 1/1
Notes: Kiat

1. Mr. Wang Wenhua was appointed on 17 May 2021 and 1 Audit Committee
meeting was held after his appointment.

2. Mr. Li Yunlong retired upon conclusion of the 2021 AGM and 1 Audit
Committee meeting was held before his retirement.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee reviewed
the 2020 annual results and 2021 interim results of the Group, and were in
the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and also noted that review of the same will be
carried out annually.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established the CG Committee with written terms of reference
on 20 March 2012. The CG Committee comprises four executive Directors,
namely Mr. Xu Tie-liang (as chairman), Ms. Guan Yijun, Mr. Gao Falian and
Ms. Xu Ran, Ms. Law Yin Shan Jenny, the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company and Ms. Chan Yuen Ying Stella, the Company Secretary of the
Company.

Terms of reference of the CG Committee are aligned with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The functions of the CG Committee are to develop and review the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; to comply
with the CG Code and other legal or regulatory requirements and make
recommendations to the Board; to oversee the Company’s orientation
program for new Director; to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management; to develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any)
applicable to employees and Directors; and to review the Company’s
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the CG Committee
held 1 meeting. The CG Committee reviewed the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management; and also
reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Name of Director
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Number of attendance

EEHA HESBRH
Mr. XU Tie-liang (Chairman) SRR AL (E/E) 11
Ms. GUAN Yijun MARE LT 1/1
Mr. GAO Falian (Note 1) SBEEE (W) N/AT 3 F
Ms. XU Ran (Note 2) R (B EE2) N/AZ 36 A
Mr. LIU Chunsun (Note 3) BIFEFLE (H523) 171
Ms. LAW Yin Shan Jenny 7R+ 1/1
Ms. CHAN Yuen Ying Stella BeR 97 4% 27 £ 11
Notes: Bt -

1. Mr. Gao Falian was appointed on 17 May 2021 and no CG Committee meetings 1. SEELEER_ZT—FRATLEEZHE -

was held after his appointment. MREEZEARARBEHACEEREZESSY
A
2. Ms. Xu Ran was appointed on 2 November 2021 and no CG Committee

meetings was held after her appointment.

3. Mr. Liu Chunsun retired upon conclusion of the 2021 AGM and 1 CG
Committee meeting was held before his retirement.
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AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditor is
set out below:

Services rendered

EEERHRE

(continued) (#&)

R AN £

AEERN - BN BN QR 2B S
(E NN

Fee paid/payable

B iR 4 AR 7% BN/ ENER
HK$'000

FAET

Audit services EIZ R 3,019
Non-audit services IET RS 1,100

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial services
provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services Limited (“Uni-1"), to provide compliance
and full range of company secretarial services to the Group in order to assist
the Group to cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit
different commercial needs.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ying Stella (“Ms. Chan"), the representative of Uni-1, was
appointed as the named Company Secretary of the Company. Ms. Law Yin
Shan Jenny, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, is the primary point
of contact at the Company for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Chan
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance between
retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth and rewarding the
shareholders of the Company.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the following
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

—  the Group's overall results of operation, financial condition, working
capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements, liquidity
position and future expansions plans;

—  the amount of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company;

ATRE

RHBEBEEEREENEERRMHE TR
MEERK  RAEZRBE-FIHBEXENE
REBREER - K- CERBBER QA (45
— ) REERESRALZEH R FMWER
& o

R RRELE L ([Rrt]) BEE
RABNBLRAME - ARV BRAEER
MLt RRRERABWENETZEMA °

RIEETRAEIRZAT - RELAR
E-E-—F+-A=t—AILFEEEE
P SEINSEE L EET T

BREBE
EEELAREE - AL AEEELERR
BARHBEREDOAREZMMELE -

EEREEREIR KN KEE -
(K B1F) AT HIA

TEEE

— SEMERKEXE - UBHRAR =2
BE2FER  BARAXER  RHPE
SR KR RIE RS

— RANRERNNTDRKFEHEHEDE

FHRREBARAT 2021F F ;K



52

Corporate Governance Report
TEERHE

(continued) (#)

— general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

— any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject to any
restrictions under the laws of Bermuda, the Company’s Bye-Laws, the Listing
Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio.
The Company's dividend distribution record in the past may not be used as a
reference or basis to determine the level of dividends that may be declared or
paid by the Company in the future.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment
by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the
Group to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the shareholders and the Board. An annual general
meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as
determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual
general meeting, shall be called a special general meeting. The Board may
call special general meetings whenever it thinks fit.

Shareholders to convene a special general meeting

Shareholders may convene a special general meeting of the Company
according to the provisions as set out in the Bye-Laws and the Companies
Act of Bermuda. The procedures that shareholders can use to convene a
special general meeting are set out in the document entitled “Procedures
for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election as a Director”, which is
currently available on the Company’s website.
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Putting enquiries by shareholders to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may send written enquires to the Company for
the attention of the Company Secretary at the Company'’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Procedures for putting forward proposals by shareholders at
shareholders’ meeting

The number of members necessary for a requisition for putting forward a
proposal at a general meeting shall be:

(@  any number of members representing not less than one-twentieth of
the total voting rights at the date of the requisition; or

(b)  not less than one hundred members.

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall be deposited,
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving
notice of the proposed resolution or circulating any necessary statement, at
the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong in the case of:

(i) a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six weeks
before the meeting; and

(i) any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting.

The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that the
requisition is proper and in order, the Board will proceed with the necessary
procedures.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of shareholders at
the general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman, in
good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural
or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the
resolutions to be set out in the notice of 2022 AGM will be voted by poll.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication
and reasonable disclosure of information to its shareholders.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the shareholders in the
following manner:

o Delivery of annual and interim reports to all shareholders;

o Publication of announcements on the annual and interim results on
the Stock Exchange website, and issue of other announcements and
shareholders’ circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure
obligations under the Listing Rules; and

J The general meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and shareholders.

Mr. Xu Tie-liang, the Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the CG
Committee attended the 2021 AGM to answer questions of the meeting and
collect views of shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial year, which give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group, its financial performance
and cash flows for that year. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable, and prepared the
accounts on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group, to prevent and detect fraud, as well as
other irregularities.

The Directors, after appropriate enquiries were made, considered that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle C.2
of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control system. Management is responsible for
the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while the Board
oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main
features of the risk management and internal control system are described in
the sections below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the

following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks
that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the
risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2021, no significant risk was
identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has an internal control system in place which is compatible
with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework enables the Group
to achieve objectives regarding the effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follows:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures that
provide the basis for carrying out the internal control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying and
analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a basis for
determining how risks should be managed.
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o Control Activities: Activities established by policies and procedures to
help ensure that management directives are carried out, objectives are
achieved, and risks are mitigated.

o Information and Communication: To provide the Group’s internal and
external communication, together with the information needed to
carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain whether
each component of the internal control is present and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside information, and
to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public
disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements an inside information
policy and procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on behalf of
the Company when communicating with external parties such as the
media, analysts or investors.

Based on internal control reviews conducted in 2021, no significant control
deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which consists of
professional staff with relevant expertise (such as Certified Public
Accountant). The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation
and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control system
by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually, and afterwards the results are reported to the Board via
Audit Committee.
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Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control System

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control system
of the Group and ensuring review of the system’s effectiveness is conducted
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board’s reviews,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent
of significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment, and (i) the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the
internal control system.

The Board, through its reviews and the reviews made by IA function and
Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal control
system were effective and adequate. Such system, however, is designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that the resources,
staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the
training programs and budget provided were sufficient.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the
year ended 31 December 2021.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Oil And Gas Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages
73 to 223, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2021,

J the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of

Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

o Impairment assessments of loan and interest receivables from and
interest in an associate

o Impairment assessment of goodwill

o Reversal of impairment of oil and gas properties
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter
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Impairment assessments of loan
and interest receivables from
and interest in an associate

Refer to Note 4.2(b) credit risk,
Note 5(a) critical accounting
estimates and judgments and
Notes 20 and 23(d) to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

The Group had loan and interest
receivables from an associate of
approximately HK$1,065,121,000
and HK$135,815,000 respectively,
and interest in this associate of
approximately HK$232,253,000 as
at 31 December 2021.

Management assessed the
provision of expected credit loss
of approximately HK$8,779,000
against the loan and interest
receivables from the associate.
Management estimated the level
of expected loss, with reference
to historical observed default
rates, loss given default rates
of comparable companies and
industry, and forward-looking
economic factors.

Our procedures in relation to
testing management’s impairment
assessment of loan and interest
receivables from and interest in this
associate included obtaining an
understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment
process of impairment assessment
of loan and interest receivables from
and interest in this associate and
assessing the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors
such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

We assessed the appropriateness of
the expected credit loss provisioning
methodology and valuation
methodology of impairment
assessment of interest in the
associate and reasonableness of
key assumptions, including default
rate and loss given default rate for
expected credit loss, with assistance
of our internal valuation expert.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessments of loan
and interest receivables from
and interest in an associate
(Continued)

Management assessed the
recoverability of interest in the
associate based on the recoverable
amount of the associate’s business
valuation applying the fair value
less costs of disposal method. The
key underlying assumptions were
set out in Notes 5(a) and 20 to
the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

We focused on this area due to the
magnitude of the loan and interest
receivables from and interest in this
associate. Moreover, significant
judgments and estimates were
involved in estimating the provision
of expected credit loss for the
loan and interest receivables, and
recoverable amount of the interest
in the associate.

We challenged the appropriateness
of forward-looking economic factors
applied by management for the
adjustment of the level of expected
loss.

Our procedures in relation to
management’'s impairment
assessment of interest in the
associate included the evaluation
of the appropriateness of valuation
methodology and reasonableness
of the key assumptions used with
assistance of our internal valuation
expert.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

BRERAE

MEET SR

BT HRREEERIAKRR
(RERZZMELZ R A)

EA )b g uR Gk
E e

Impairment assessments of loan
and interest receivables from
and interest in an associate
(Continued)

We evaluated management’s
estimated commodity price growth
rate by challenging management'’s
rationale to support their projections.
We researched the most up-to-date
commodity price and performed
independent market research on the
commodity price growth that was in
line with management’s forecasts.

We compared the future production
profile against the reserve estimation
report conducted by management’s
expert.

We evaluated the reasonableness
of the discount rate, applied by
benchmarking management’s
assumptions with those applied by
comparable companies and industry
forecasts.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessments of loan
and interest receivables from
and interest in an associate
(Continued)

We physically inspected the site and
discussed with local management
to understand the current status of
operation.

We challenged management’s
sensitivity analysis in consideration of
the potential impact of reasonably
possible downside changes in these
key assumptions.

We evaluated the competence,
capability and objectivity of
management’s expert engaged in
estimating the impairment of loan
and interest receivables from and
interest in the associate.

We found the management’s
judgments and assumptions used
in the impairment assessments of
loan and interest receivables from
and interest in the associate were
supported by the available evidence.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
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How our audit addressed the 3 1M /Y 2 5T 0 AT B2 28
Key Audit Matter Key Audit Matter HRETSE BERETEE
Impairment assessment of & B B A
goodwill
Refer to Note 5(b) critical Our procedures in relation to 2ZE FEFFAHN BRMIAEEBY X
accounting estimates and testing management’s impairment iﬁ?f/ﬁ%/fﬁ* S5)EX AREBREELS
judgments and Note 19 to the assessment of goodwill relating A AT R A B LR G R OR B AT (4 69 AR
Group’s consolidated financial ~ to the Natural Gas Business CGUs /WE‘EWQ o BIEFBeETHRER
statements. included obtaining an understanding B R E T

of the management’s internal ol R =Ry S R )
The Group carried goodwill of control and assessment process RZEZ—F+_ R TBRABEEM
approximately HK$981,660,000 of impairment assessment of A=+—H8 ' & #THEUERERH
as at 31 December 2021, which  goodwill and assessing the inherent =S e EEYHEERREAZX (0
was allocated to a group of cash risk of material misstatement 981,660,000/8 7T - i HE MM - T EH It -
generating units (“CGUs") relating by considering the degree of BHRE—HERCE PHPREEHXER
to the sales and distribution of estimation uncertainty and level of EBEMN([HesESE BERARRSFTZE)
natural gas and other related other inherent risk factors such as BArl) » ZABE S KEFHEERBERD
products business (“Natural Gas complexity, subjectivity, changes and EEBMHEFEER BARR -
Business”) CGUSs. susceptibility to management bias or o 8RR R KR E AR

fraud. MEREB (XA

REB)ReESE

We evaluated the appropriateness BAEHA - BEMEABEERER

of valuation methodology and E’\JT%%E)JT%TFﬁT/ﬁHB’\]
Management estimated the reasonableness of the key EEEREFERERB BEAEZRGEER
recoverable amount of the Natural  assumptions used with assistance of ﬁﬁf%‘}%%ﬁ%i‘% 52 1 *”%7.5./:.\ 18 3
Gas Business CGUs based on value-  our internal valuation expert. ReEELEEMHTR TR
in-use calculations that applied @ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ
the key assumptions and inputs ZHEAER BE&5HE
set out in Note 19 to the Group'’s ,iu?(:\ B 75 &R M 19
consolidated financial statements. FrEl M & KR R E

Based on value-in-use calculations,
management has concluded there
was no impairment of the goodwill
as at 31 December 2021.

We focused on this area due to the
magnitude of the goodwill balance
and the significant judgments made
by management in estimating
the recoverable amount of the
goodwill.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of
goodwill (Continued)

We challenged management on the
estimated growth rate, expected
changes to selling prices and direct
costs assumptions and compared
cash flows generated during the year
ended 31 December 2021 with prior
years' performance. We evaluated
the reasonableness of the discount
rate applied by benchmarking
management’s assumptions with
those applied by comparable
companies and industry forecasts.
Furthermore, we evaluated the
terminal growth rate with reference
to the long term inflation rate.

We challenged the management’s
sensitivity analysis in consideration of
the potential impact of reasonably
downside changes in these key
assumptions.

We evaluated the competence,
capability and objectivity of
management’s expert engaged
in estimating the impairment of
goodwill.

We found the management'’s
judgments and assumptions used
in the impairment assessment of
goodwill were supported by the
available evidence.

BYZHEHRES

(continued) (#)

B R AE

BHHRREEERQARR
(RERZZMELZ HR A

A HY 2 5 a0 4 R 22
Mg EEE MEET SR
5 28 B B A1 ()

BB EHrER
EHEEEHREE
BERARKEETEER
tER S THEHE
—2-—%+=-AH
“t+—BLEFEEAL
ZHREREBE EFXK
METHLE - BB
BEEEMBRE
BB ANa MITER
KAMEBERE &E
Bl #E 77 EE B B
HRANMBR R
AEEMEFTHMR -
B RERERE
RE - MY RR
WRERETTMG -

BMBERETERR
DL S e
BEHEEYE
IR R R
ST MR -

AR A 1T R B
BERENEEEER
mEEH - FTREE
BRI -

BMER BRE
EEEBREFEPE
P B B B R SR 3R
BEBEXE -

FHRREBARAT 2021F F ;K

65



66

Independent Auditor’s Report

BYZUEMERES

(continued) (#)

iy
pwc

To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

R KA

MEET SR

BT HRREEERIAKRR
(RERZZMELZ R A)

EA )b g uR Gk
E e

Reversal of impairment of oil
and gas properties

Refer to Notes 5(b) critical
accounting estimates and
Jjudgments and Note 16 to the
Group'’s consolidated financial
statements.

The Group had oil and gas
properties with amount of
approximately HK$2,306,525,000
as at 31 December 2021 and
reversal of impairment of
approximately HK$565,595,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Group allocates oil and gas
properties to separate identifiable
asset groups and evaluate these
asset groups for possible reversal
of impairment previously provided
by considering events or changes
in circumstances indicating that
their carrying amounts may have
recovered. Such events and
changes in circumstances include
the economic impact on these asset
groups resulting from higher oil
and gas prices, lower discount or
production costs and new discovery
in oil and gas reserves.

We performed the following
procedures to address this key audit
matter:

We obtained an understanding of the
management’s internal control and
assessment process of impairment
assessment of oil and gas properties
and assessing the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk
factors including subjectivity.

We evaluated and tested the key
controls in respect of impairment
assessment of oil and gas properties.

We evaluated the competence,
capability and objectivity of
management’s expert engaged in
estimating the reversal of impairment
of oil and gas properties.

We involved our internal
valuation expert in evaluating
the appropriateness of valuation
methodology based on the industry
practice and the reasonableness
of the discount rates adopted by
management by comparing the
industry weighted-average cost of
capital for oil and gas properties.

We compared future crude oil
and gas prices against a range of
published crude oil and gas price
forecasts.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BABBETHRES

To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Reversal of impairment of oil
and gas properties (Continued)

For those asset groups where
reversal of impairment is
identified, the Group performed
an impairment assessment by
comparing the carrying amount
of individual asset group with
its recoverable amount, which is
estimated by calculating the value-
in-use using a discounted cash flow
forecast.

Management engaged an
independent external expert to
assist them in estimating the oil
and gas reserves and value-in-use.

We focused on this area because
the impairment assessment of
oil and gas properties involved
significant management judgment
and assumptions which are
subjective including changes to
future selling prices, production
costs for crude oil and natural gas;
future production profiles; and
discount rates.

We compared the future production
cost profiles against historical costs
and relevant budgets of the Group.

We compared the future production
profiles against the oil and gas
reserve estimation report approved
by management.

We evaluated the sensitivity analysis
prepared by the Group, and assessed
the potential impacts of a range of
possible outcomes.

Based on the procedures performed,
we found the management’s
judgments and assumptions used in
the reversal of impairment of oil and
gas properties were supported by
the available evidence.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report (but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, and the Environmental, social and governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021, which is expected to be
made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a

material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

BYZHEHRES

(continued) (#)

B R AE

BHHRREEERQARR
(RERZAMELZ HERRA)

s HEEEMRASHERRNBELRE
HEF A MARARENS R -

s HEZRARHEKLZSTERNRBREN
fEh#Ewm - REMEDRWNEFTRE -
HERAFERERABRABHNERXN
THEEM  emAUkREHE E£ED
FRERKZERENELEEARE - WRK
MABREFEEATHENE  MIAKE
ERBMBETREEREIEREEY
BHRERPOMAEARE - REEBORK
BEfRr AMHEMEEZXRIEREER
R BfmeamsERrZBm®mEH
LRGN ETEE - A - KEXF
HRBEAAEER EEETHBER

)

s HESAYBHMRMWERIKIA -
BBENAT  BRERE  UAREaH
BRERCGPERBRRZMNER -

e B EEERNEBAXBEIINNE
ERERRRE  BEENESEBE N
BHHEUBRRERER - HMA
B BEREEFOHTR - BEEMHUT -
BMREFERAEZMLEE -

BREMEBIEN  RMEERZESEB T
NEFRE  BETHEMREAEFERS
BREBEMERBRESR B H A ESOE
A ERERE

BMEMERZESRIER  HAHMS
NEEMBIMEMERERESR - L HMH
EBRAEURAEBMKABA/STERMBILIL
MATBREMEMER  UREEBANER
T AERBEIMEELEBEMTHHEK
e siE e o

FHRREBARAT 2021F F ;K

71



72

Independent Auditor’s Report
BABRBAEHES

(continued) (#)

iy
pwc

To the Shareholders of China Oil and Gas Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chung Kit Yi, Kitty.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SeEEEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILFE
2021 2020
—s-—% TEEAF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
=3 FET FHET
Revenue EHER 6 14,341,948 10,432,777
Cost of sales HERK (12,207,367) (8,753,637)
Gross profit EH 2,134,581 1,679,140
Other income H A 7 68,484 22,980
Other gains/(losses), net Hipdas,/ (BEB) - F8E 8 4,500 (14,403)
Selling and distribution costs HERDIHER (74,435) (81,119)
Administrative expenses THHAX (499,834) (334,081)
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment on oil ¥ % - fiE k& ﬁlﬁT,EEﬁ
and gas properties under property, plant BERERD (B
and equipment 16 565,595 (625,633)
Operating profit e m T 9 2,198,891 646,884
Finance income ELEION 10 127,828 304,068
Finance costs HEER 10 (343,881) (301,034)
Share of profits/(losses) of investments DIEEREREARZ
accounted for using the equity method, BREM R (FE) -
net EER 20 7,722 (19,002)
Profit before taxation B A5 A1 5 ) 1,990,560 630,916
Taxation 1A 13 (476,626) (115,601)
Profit for the year F W A 1,513,934 515,315
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hibh2HE = (BE)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or W B AR EmAEA
loss
Currency translation differences HEMBREEE 251,827 582,458
Change in value of debt investments at fair X R FEFAEMEME
value through other comprehensive Wz EHEEEE
income =) (76,047) (64,506)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or  #71 & & # 7 48 = 18 25 £
loss HA
Change in value of equity investments at BATEFAEMER
fair value through other comprehensive Wz RAKREEE
income =) 17,480 (14,885)
Other comprehensive income for the year, FRNEMEERE
net of tax kR IE 193,260 503,067
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEMNERE 1,707,194 1,018,382
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FEETEHWRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE"T-—F+-_A=1+—BILtFE

(continued) (#)

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-EF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET FHET
Profit attributable to: FE(R &
Owners of the Company NEEB A 904,182 28,757
Non-controlling interests FEERE R 609,752 486,558
1,513,934 515,315
Total comprehensive income for the year FRNELEZEWREALE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company NEER A 968,284 303,595
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR HE = 738,910 714,787
1,707,194 1,018,382
Earnings per share for profit attributable to A F A AFREEZF 2
owners of the Company for the year FRAF 15
— Basic (HK cents) — EAR B 18.0 0.583
— Diluted (HK cents) — &5 O8() 18.0 0.583
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read iR e BT W A R BRI —OFBAE -

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEEBERRE

As at 31 December 2021
RZE_—F+=ZHA=+—H

2021 2020
—s-—% TEEAF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
=3 TER FAT
Assets EE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BENEE 16 10,738,279 9,008,993
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 663,945 589,057
Exploration and evaluation assets BIREEFIHEE 18 115,027 128,444
Intangible assets BmIVEE 19 1,038,669 1,024,062
Investments accounted for using the equity AR EAREZRE
method 20 1,758,418 429,356
Financial assets at fair value through other IR AF{EzH A E M2 m Uk
comprehensive income LB EE 21 289,795 633,995
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE 23 1,183,053 1,201,201
Deferred tax assets REFIAE E 29 4,821 5,810
15,792,007 13,020,918
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 22 408,231 328,386
Contract assets, deposits, trade and other EREE e BIHK
receivables E & R IA 23 2,675,790 2,151,734
Current tax recoverable & B AT U =) F 08 6,334 6,293
Time deposits with maturity over three FHRA=E AL LR
months TE HATE K 24 979,660 836,570
Cash and cash equivalents RehkHeEEER 24 2,786,609 2,926,434
6,856,624 6,249,417
Total assets BEE 22,648,631 19,270,335
Liabilities 8&
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H A e~ R IE 25 1,414,388 1,286,205
Contract liabilities aHAaE 26 2,917,409 2,306,032
Short-term borrowings RHEE 27 1,345,142 1,341,941
Current tax payable g HEATIE 189,624 196,968
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 16,219 18,116
5,882,782 5,149,262
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBEAKRE
As at 31 December 2021
RZEZ—F+=ZRAR=+—H

(continued) (#)

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-EF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Senior notes BRER 28 5,645,120 5,410,227
Long-term borrowings REEE 27 1,729,667 996,470
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 58,747 58,444
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEEE 29 315,331 123,615
Assets retirement obligation B R AR 30 197,974 186,103
... 1946839 | 6,774,859
Total liabilities wWeEd 13,829,621 11,924,121
Equity &=
Equity attributable to owners of the AAEEAELESR
Company
Share capital [N 31 57,670 57,670
Reserves 15 4,733,762 3,720,464
4,791,432 3,778,134
Non-controlling interests IR R 4,027,578 3,568,080
Total equity maew 8.819,010 7,346,214
Total equity and liabilities ERREERAE 22,648,631 19,270,335

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 82 to 223 were approved by the Board of
Directors on 29 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf.

Lulfr A MBI R B M — B E -

FRE2VBAZUBRERER T __F =
A+ NhBEEERHATEE -

PR
BF

Xu Tie-liang
Director

Guan Yijun
Director

BHE
BF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEEREEXR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE-"Z- -+ _A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAEEARN
Shares held (Note) Exchange  Share-based Non-
Share Share for share Other fluctuation ~ compensation Retained controling Total
capital premium — award scheme Teserves Teserve reserve profits Total interests equity
BB WA

EERE (WE)  EiR®  RERY
RE RREE  FRRD  ERER i BERR B A8 FEREE  RREE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HK§ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TER THR TER TER TR ThR TER TER TR THR

As at 1 January 2020

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive incomef(loss):

Exchange differences on translating foreign
operations

Changes in value of debt investments at
fair value through other comprehensive
income

Changes in value of equity investments at
fair value through other comprehensive
income

Total comprehensive (loss)income for the
year

Transfer of fair value loss on equity
investments at fair value through other

comprehensive income to retained profits

upon disposal

Transfer of fair value loss on debt
investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income to profits or loss
upon disposal

Dividend paid to non-controling interests

Capital njection by non-controlling
Interests

Non-controlling interests arising from
acquisitions of subsidiaries (Note 32)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33)

Deregistration of a subsidiary

Changes in the ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of
control (Note 37(d))

31 December 2020

HW-2-%%-5-A 57670 13208 (20200 1460783 (572,108 1240 2900730 3458280 2984731 6443015
ERigd - - - - - - 28757 BT 486558 515,315
Eh2EkE/ (58)
BERINERZE

- - - - B - — B9 Y SRS
BOTEFARp2ENE
LERREEERD

- - - (o408 - - - [et08) - (64,506)
BOTEFARp2ELE
LRTREEERD

- - — (148 - - — (1488 - (14,885)
EneA(EE)/IaeE

- - — ) 342 - BT BB T8 1018382
RHERERROTEFA
EHREREZRER:
LTREEEREEH

- - - 129 - - (129) - - -
NHERBRRATENA
EpRENEZERE
LYEERZ AR

- - - 6,303 - - - 6,303 - 6,303
FRRETEERER - - - - - - - — (1908 (19,129)
FihERTE

- - - - - - - - 10,584 10,384
WEHBLAfEL,

s (1) - - - - - - - - 66,69 66,696
HERBA (H33) - - - - (3281) - - (3281) - (3281)
HE-EhELT - - - - - - - - (3360) 3360)
REESIEE X B

fEERRS

(F33700) - - - 13233 - - - 13233 (13,233 -

AZEZTE2R=T-A 57,670 13208 (42020 1401017 (221,160) 1241 2936360 3778134 3568080 7346214

FHRREEBAER LT 2021FFIH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—RILFE

(continued) (#)

Attributable to owners of the Company

78

NARRAEL
Shares held (Note) ~ Exchange Share-based Non-
Share Share for share Other  fluctuation compensation  Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium  award scheme reserves reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
ARf U
LR (W)  EXR®  AEEN
Rx  REEE  FRRE  E4EE BF  HMERE  RERA B8 GEREE  Bn4E
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T#n T TR TEn TEn T THR Thn T T
As at 1 January 2021 W-Bz-£-f-A 57,610 13,208 (420202 1401017 (221,160) 1241 2936360 3778134 3568080 7,346,214
Profit for the year ERgAl = = - - - - 904,182 904,182 609,752 1,513,934
Other comprehensive incomef(loss): ~~ E2E N/ (§E):
Exchange differences on translting foreign  BEENNE 28
operations - - - - 122,669 - - 122,669 129,158 251827
Changes invalue of debt mvesiments st~ RATEAEM2ELE
fairvalue through other comprehensiie 2 ERAEBEZE
income - - - (76,047) - - - (76,047) - (76,047)
Changes in value of equity investments st~ FATEF AER2ERE
fair velue through other comprehensive 2B AREEERD)
income - - - 17,480 - - - 17,480 - 17480
Total comprehensive oss)income for the M2 (B%8) /s
ear - - - (58,567) 122,669 - 904,182 968,284 738910 1,707,194
Transferof fair value loss on equity RHERBERATEN
investments at fai value through other ~~ EH2EREZRARE
comprehensive income to retained profits AT EFEZRZEH
Upon disposal - - - 146 - - (746) - - -
Transfer of air value loss on debt REERERRATEIA
investments at fairvalue through other 2B 2 ANEZ BRRA
comprehensive income to profitsorloss ~ AFEFEEEE
upon disposal - - - 3,253 - - - 3,253 - 3253
Vesting of shares under share award BERHEBH HBRRG
scheme - - 2213 - - (&2.2m3) - - - -
Shares purchased for share award scheme AR 2Bt 2IEER A - - (18) - - - - (18) - (18)
Value of employee services L - - - - - 0 - 0m - 0
Dividend paid to non-controllng inerests X FREFHARIER - - - - - - = —  (8s06)  (278.5068)
Acquisition of additional equity interests in -~ B R ERENBAR
subsiciaries from non-controlling interests BTSN (Fi&43710))
(Note 37(d) - - - (494) - - - (494) (4,606) (5,100)
Capital injection by non-controling FERERTA
Interests - - - - - - - - 5760 5,760
Deregistration of subsidaries (Note 33)  EHH B (HE33) - - - - - - - - (2,060) (2,060)
At 31 December 2021 RoRZ-ETA=1-R 57,670 13,208 (377.947) 1,345,955 (98,491) 1201 383979 4791432 4027578 8,819,010
Note: B3 -
As at 31 December 2021, other reserves mainly comprise deficit of capital and other RZFEZ—F+=ZA=+—H  HREEXER

reserve amounting to negative HK$51,746,000 (2020: positive HK$3,316,000) and

contribution surplus amounting to HK$1,397,701,000 (2020: HK$1,397,701,000).

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
n'.F iﬁﬁl}lbi%

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BHE-"Z- -+ _A=1+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-——F —E-EF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
P 5 FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities KEEHHReRE
Profit for the year FREN 1,513,934 515,315
Adjustments for: AT HIEELAE
Taxation I 476,626 115,601
Finance costs HEER 343,881 301,034
Finance income ﬁﬂ%”ﬂl?\ (127,828) (304,068)
Share of (profits)/losses of investments SMEFERAEREARZ
accounted for using the equity method ®ECEHN) B (7.722) 19,002
Equity-settled share-based payments NERAEE ARG B E
IR 42,273 —
Amortisation of intangible assets mivEESH 19 9,407 6,858
Depreciation and depletion of property, M- RERRENE
plant and equipment LB 16 560,612 412,946
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 17 19,365 23,208
(Reversal of)/impairment on oil and gas W BEREZHEET
properties under property, plant and MR EE (BE) R
equipment () 16 (565,595) 625,633
Reversal of impairment loss of loan and —EBERRERRE
interest receivables from an associate W) 2 R B 1R B
E] 9 (5,981) (5,800)
Losses on disposals of property, plant and HEME  BERERE
equipment ") E5 18 5,746 3,624
(Gains)/losses on disposals of financial HERAFEEAEM
assets at fair value through other PEWE B EE
comprehensive income ® (W) e 8 (973) 12,869
(Gains)/losses on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBERARR (M)
S EE 8 (3,527) 1,534
Written off of exploration and evaluation BVER R T E B E 8
assets 18 4,025 26,379
Provision for assets retirement obligation BERBEEERER 30 8,481 2,263
2,272,724 1,756,398
Changes in working capital: BEESED
Inventories rE (74,394) (35,731)
Contract assets, deposits, trade and other EREE e BHK
receivables H At & W sk 1B (461,664) 123,102
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk H AN FRIE 111,444 (501,119)
Contract liabilities ABREIE 574,201 580,454
Cash generated from operations KEEARE 2,422,311 1,923,104
Taxation paid [RENES R (287,620) (274,497)
Net cash generated from operating activities & EKEL L F5HE 2,134,691 1,648,607

FHRREBARAT 2021F F ;K
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RHERESR

nv'.R
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—RILFE
(continued) (#&)
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
P FHExT FHEIT
Cash flows from investing activities REZHHESRE
Interest received B UH B 181,402 408,847
Purchases of property, plant and BEME  BWENKE -
equipment, exploration and evaluation R R hEEN RTE
assets and prepaid construction costs INBE DN (1,478,829) (951,302)
Purchase of right-of-use assets BETHEEE (99,489) (53,038)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEME - BERERER
and equipment 1SR 66,031 16,054
Net cash inflow/(outflow) as a result of AHENBRARBEER
disposal of subsidiaries S Cmd) #58 33 8,222 (44,136)
Purchases of other intangible assets BEEMERLEE 19 (13,753) (15,703)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERATEFAHME
through other comprehensive income =B EE (320,375) (281,248)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at ~H&EZRAFEFAEME
fair value through other comprehensive e B BEEMS
income B 409,846 255,238
Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, net  YXBE W B 2 71K IE - Bk
of cash B 32 — (136,867)
Payment for acquisition of investment WIEEREREARZER
accounted for using equity method &R 20 (1,242,757) —
Loan to an associate BRT—RBE QR (24,790) (170,421)
Increase in time deposits with maturity over EIHABA=EA N LA T
three months HA 75 SR8 0 (129,030) (522,506)
Site restoration expenditure T iRE X (5.361) (923)
Payment for acquisition of additional BIFERE = BB B A
equity interests in subsidiaries from non- BN E S
controlling interests (5,100) —
Net cash used in investing activities KEEEFMAR e F5 (2,653,983) (1,496,005)

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n'ﬁ

FRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=Z+—HLHFE
(continued) (#&)
2021 2020
—E-—fF —TFF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
P 5 FET FHET
Cash flows from financing activities MEETHRERE
Interest paid B F A (399,733) (439,269)
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes net  31T{E L ZHEFTISFUE (40
of transaction costs B2 S EA) 3,090,561 —
New borrowings raised MESEE 1,638,779 2,159,432
Redemption of senior notes BEELEER 28 (2,779,401) —
Repayments of borrowings EEEE (965,605) (1,424,931)
Capital injection by non-controlling FEERERITE
interests — 10,584
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests SRR E T IEIE 7f = (278,506) (192,125)
Principal elements of lease payments HENFAEEH (20,455) (14,296)
Share purchased for share award scheme R M5 B E 8 Bﬁﬁ% %) (18) —
Net cash generated from financing activities Bt & /EEEL 2R S /FE 285,622 99,395
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash Re&RBE2EMEEE OFD)
equivalents SR (233,670) 251,997
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BZReEEBREE
BIEAE 2,926,434 2,521,199
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXgTE 93,845 153,238
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December EA"I' “RA=t+—HZzR2 R
Re%EEER 24 2,786,609 2,926,434
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in PR EIRE M B REEFEN M T —OFBIE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FHRREBARAT 2021F F ;K
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

v'.R

B B 3% SR R B 5E

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Oil And Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of its registered office is at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The address of
its principal place of business is at Suite 2805, 28th Floor, Sino Plaza,
255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The Company
is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in investment in energy related business in various regions
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"”) and West Central Alberta,
Canada, including but not limited to 1) piped city gas business,
pipeline design and construction; 2) transportation, distribution and
sales of compressed natural gas (“CNG") and liquefied natural gas
("LNG"); 3) production and sales of coal gasification and other related
products; and 4) development, production and sale of oil and gas and
other upstream energy resources. The Company and its subsidiaries are
collectively referred to the “Group”.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, unless
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of certain financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 5.

CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following amendments to standards
which are relevant to the Group’s operations and are mandatory
for the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2021:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.

New standard and amendments to standards not yet
adopted

The following are new standard and amendments to standards
that have been issued but are not effective for the financial year
beginning 1 January 2021 and have not been early adopted.

SRR

(continued) (#&)

2 mREE (F)

(a)

(b)

EHREREENSD

SEEHEMTIRERNKEES
BER_ZT-_—F—HF—HA=% 2
% B BF B T 08 ) R 1T M9 2 BB
AIAN

EARBHELBSE165  Covid-1918H

CHES) HeEE
BAUBREENFR - FXBEHE
BEEENF39 —EZ[KR

BEMBREERETR
BEMBREENBSFR
BRUMBREENF 165
CHES)

LRI ZFETAHBESR
MERNSRLAEETAZE X
AT EHERXNRKRYHE
EEREE -

5 SR A0 2 3772 B TR 28 IO 45T 2

AT ER RERMETAD R
HEEAR-_ZT-_—F—A—H
Mz M BRFEEXRATERS
B o

FHRREEBAER LT 2021FFIH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

nv'ﬁ

B B 3% SR R B 5E

(continued) (#)

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2 wmHEEXE (&)
(b) New standard and amendments to standards not yet (b) R4 57 B & BIE 18 5T &
adopted (Continued) ()

Effective for accounting year
beginning on or after

RENRTHEK

HEMBOGHFEEN

HKFRS 16 (Amendment) Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 2021 1 April 2021
BEPBHREERFE 165 (BTK) T —FCovid- 19 ER —ZE-—FMA—H
Annual Improvements Project (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 1 January 2022
FESCEER (BRTA) ERVBREEN B N\FEZ-_2F2 “E--f—-F—H

F R BuE

HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and HKAS 37 (Amendments)  Narrow-scope Amendments 1 January 2022
E%WﬁﬁiﬁW%ﬁ%%“ S ENE IR R FNBEBET e

SR E37% (B
AG 5 (Rewsed)

HEN)

ERECEE S ACSCHD

HKAS 1 (Amendment)
BERGERE1% (BFTA)
HKFRS 17

BRI ERELENE17H
HKFRS 17 (Amendment)
ERMBWMEERNE 17 (&
HK Int 5 (2020)

HEN)

BEERBFESR (T _FH)

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
(Amendments)

SRS ENEIRRBEBUBRE
EREISHPE2% (BFTA)

HKAS 8 (Amendment)

B g ERESH (BT A)

HKAS 12 (Amendment)

SEGRFER 125 (BRI A)
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments)

E;%EW#W?‘H‘J%oﬁ

uJF—EE'J%ZSEﬁ( DTZK)

The Group will apply the above new standard and amendments

Revised Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting
for Common Control Combinations
Z«( IkuTau*TEl %l%ssﬁ: %ll/\{ﬁﬁ’]
Attt
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

1 January 2022
—E--f—-A—H

1 January 2023

BREIERRBAIERD —ZT=-=%—F—H
Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
REE 4 —E-=Ff—-A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 17 1 January 2023
BERMBMEERNE 175 (BT E) —T-=F—-A—H

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation
of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause (HK Int 5 (2020))
BEREESRE (CE-SF)UBRENZD —

1 January 2023

—=%#—A—H

HERERBRGRNTRERNERADH

(BRREBESR(ZT-FF))
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
I HRNEE “E-=%—-f—H

Definition of Accounting Estimates

B A HER

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

E-XGELENEERBERBRLEREA

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

REERAMENARALEEEZHANEELER FE
EE

1 January 2023
—E-=Ff—-A—H
1 January 2023
—E-=Ff—-A—H
To be determined

5 B A R0 Lot # B R RE AT

to standards when they become effective. The directors of the
Company assess that the adoption of the new standard and
amendments to standards is not expected to have any significant
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless

otherwise stated.

(@) Subsidiaries

()

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

M

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

E Y
Rgu

iy
&
=

75

R

FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)

BRI E

BENEEAMBHRREERAZTE
B BEHEHRTX - k= AHAIN -
Z DNERERARMBEFE -

MEAREEENELARE
HENEE (BREBNLEE
B EfER2HEZER
ﬁﬁT“@ﬁ%%ﬂ@i;
BREA - TEENEBEY
ZEEBNENZELFER
M*Elw$ﬂﬁfm°
MEAREEFEEEE
EzREEAEAR - WE
RIEZEHEE L BREL
A Ak -

(1) EBEH

SEXRBEBEHE
BastARK - WKE
THEEB AMEE
BE MELANER
R 5 B F 1T A RO
BEHRFE - FHEE
MREERIARE
CHRELENEME
EXBBEBNAFE-
EXBAFTRAEE

AR B E DA KPR
%V%ﬁf&&ﬁﬁ
B BEURBREREK
RO LDTERSE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Nk E E

e~

(continued) (#)

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@

Consolidation (Continued)

4)]

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(@) Subsidiaries (Continued)

) Consolidation (Continued)

Q)]

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's
accounting policies.

(continued) (#&)

3 FESTHRME (&)

() MBA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Nk E E

e~

(continued) (#)

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@

Consolidation (Continued)

¢)]

(3

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners
of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, a joint venture or a
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (Continued)
(i) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments
in associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

v'.R

B B 3% SR R B 5E

(continued) (#)

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

()

Associates (Continued)

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised
in the profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition movements
in other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to share of profit of investments accounted for
using equity method in the profit or loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised
in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of
unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the profit or loss.

Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements.
Under HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The Group
has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and determined
it to be joint venture. Joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(9]

(d)

Joint arrangement (Continued)

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income. The
Group's investment in joint venture include goodwill identified
on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest
in a joint venture, any difference between the cost of the joint
venture and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint
venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill. When the Group’s share of losses in joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint
venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of the joint venture have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the interest in the joint venture is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the joint venture and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to share of profit of investment accounted for
using equity method in the profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Nk E E

v'.R

(continued) (#)

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Foreign currency translation

(@)

(ir)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
("the functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss within
“administrative expenses”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Transaction
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equity held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of
the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equity classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iir)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

— income and expenses for each profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange fluctuation
reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the year
end closing rate. Currency translation differences arising
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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(continued) (#)

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

()

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iv)  Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly buildings, plant
and machinery, oil and gas properties, pipelines and construction
in progress. Accounting policies for oil and gas properties are
set out in Note 3(g). All other property, plant and equipment is
stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment, if any.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed
in the profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.
Except for oil and gas properties and construction in progress,
depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 12.5 to 40 years or remaining lease
period of the land where applicable

3 to 20 years

20 years

3 to 20 years

Plant and machinery
Pipelines
Others
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

()

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each date of the statement of
financial position. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note

30

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“administrative expenses” in profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
development for future owner-occupied purpose and pipelines
under construction, which is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Costs comprise direct
and indirect incremental costs of acquisition or construction.
Completed items are transferred from construction in progress
to proper categories of property, plant and equipment when
they are ready for their intended use.

Oil and gas properties

Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and the
drilling of commercially proven development wells, is capitalised
within construction in progress under property, plant and
equipment. When development is completed on a specific field,
it is transferred to oil and gas properties under property, plant
and equipment. No depreciation and depletion is charged during
the development phase.

Oil and gas properties are aggregated exploration and evaluation
assets and development expenditures associated with the
production of proved reserves.
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(continued) (#)

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(9

(h)

Oil and gas properties (Continued)

Oil and gas properties are depreciated and depleted using
the unit-of-production method. Unit-of-production rates are
based on total proved plus probable reserves, which are oil,
gas and other mineral reserves estimated to be recovered using
current operating methods and taking into account estimated
future development costs necessary to bring those reserves into
production. Future development costs are estimated taking
into account the level of development required to produce the
reserve.

Proven oil and gas properties are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation expenditures are
accounted for using the successful efforts method of
accounting. Costs are accumulated on a field-by-field basis.
Geological, geophysical costs and pre-licence costs are expensed
as incurred. Costs directly associated with an exploration well,
and exploration and property leasehold acquisition costs, are
capitalised within exploration and evaluation assets until the
determination of reserves is evaluated. If it is determined that
commercial discovery has not been achieved, these costs are
charged to expense.

Once commercial reserves are found, exploration and evaluation
assets are tested for impairment and transferred to construction
in progress under property, plant and equipment. No
depreciation and depletion is charged during the exploration and
evaluation phase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

0]

Exploration and evaluation assets (Continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment
when reclassified to construction in progress, or whenever
facts and circumstances indicate impairment. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the exploration and
evaluation assets’ carrying amount exceeds their recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the exploration
and evaluation assets’ fair value less costs of disposal and their
value in use.

Intangible assets
) Gooadwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of businesses represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash
generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment
level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually
and more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of
the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less cost of disposal. Any impairment
is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.
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(continued) (#)

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

0]

)

Intangible assets (Continued)
(i) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets comprise mainly exclusive rights,
club membership and computer operating system.

Exclusive rights are shown at historical cost. Exclusive
rights have definite useful lives and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of exclusive
rights over their estimated useful lives ranging from 30 to
48 years for natural gas supply services.

Investment in club membership is shown at historical
cost. Investment in club membership has indefinite useful
life and is tested annually for impairment and carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is not
amortised.

Computer operating system is shown at historical cost.
Computer operating system has definite useful lives and is
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of computer operating system over its estimated
useful lives of 2 to 10 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example, goodwill or
intangible assets not ready to use — are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Investments and other financial assets

()

(ir)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. For investments in equity investments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.
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(continued) (#)

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3 FESHHEHME (&

POLICIES (Continued)

k) RERHEMBBEE (&)

(k)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iir)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction

(iir)

=

it

HRAE O EAEAFEKL
B AR(MRAFELIE
T AR ZHVBEE - &

costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the EREATEMEATEES
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried BERBAZEBEUHEENR
at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss. A ETIRER - EAQ

FESEGARZHBEE

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash

R BRAR BRI -

HRBEBERAAITETAN
MEEE  RETHERER

flows are solely payment of principal and interest. ERGEAINASA 5F'J
NHBEECBEE
% & o
Debt instruments BEHITA

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

. Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows

BEBTAZRBEFEIRR
SEERBEEZEBRRALR
ZEEEZRERERHE -
EESEEBRITAENEAM
BETEE

e MK A: BRWEA
mBReREMFBEAR

represent solely payments of principal and interest REREERIFTR
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income e RFBEZEERS®
from these financial assets is included in finance HRAFTE o ZFH

income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in “other

BEE 2B WAR
BB A E X AN
MZA°%%JJ:EERUFE

(losses)/gains, net” together with foreign exchange B E W = sk BB E
gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as EREaER TR

separate line item in profit or loss.
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(continued) (#&)

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3 FESHHEHME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
(k) Investments and other financial assets (Continued) (k) BEREMBKEE ()
(i) Measurement (Continued) (i)  FrE (8)

B IR (&)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in “other
(losses)/gains, net”. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in “other (losses)/
gains, net” and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in profit or loss.
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3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group's right to receive payments
is established.

Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on
equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables, see Note 4.2(b) for further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

0)

(m)

(n)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and other direct costs. It excludes
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less all costs to completion
and all direct costs necessary make the sale.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for sales and
distribution of oil and natural gas and other related products or
gas pipeline construction and connection services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised at
fair value. The Group holds the trade and other receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant
risk of changes in value.
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3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the
fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there
is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(@)

(r)

(s)

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for the
sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products,
provision of gas pipeline construction and connection services,
production and sales of coal gasification and other related
products and the exploitation and production of crude oil and
natural gas, stated net of value added taxes.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods to the
customers and the payment by the customers exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated balance sheet as
a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the
relationship between the Group’s performance and the
customer’s payment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

A contract asset is the Group's right to consideration in exchange
for goods that the Group has transferred to a customer.
Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contact, if recoverable, are
capitalised and presented as assets and subsequently amortised
when the related revenue is recognised.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers the promised goods to the customer, the Group
presents the contract as a contract liability when the payment
is received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier).
A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer the
promised goods to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods or
services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the goods
and services may be transferred over time or at a point in time.
Control of the goods and services is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

J does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.
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(continued) (#&)

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3 FESHHEHME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

(s)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on one of the following methods
that best depict the Group’s performance in satisfying the
performance obligation:

o Direct measurements of the value transferred by the
Group to the customer; or

o The Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation relative to the total expected
efforts or inputs.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for
the Group’s activity described below:

) Sales and distribution of natural gas

Sales and distribution of natural gas are recognised at a
point in time when control is transferred to customers,
which generally coincides with the time when gas is
transmitted and used by the customers, and is based
on the gas consumption derived from meter readings.
Payment of the transaction price is due immediately at the

(s)
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point the customer consumes the gas. Payments received NREFENE I HIER - LATE
in advance on pre-paid I/C cards that are related to sales MICREZF#EE *i@ii 20
of natural gas not yet delivered are recognised as contract R BEWIERFKRIBERERS B
liabilities and deferred in the consolidated statement of R 2= 1 R 7% /S Hafk

financial position.
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(continued) (#)

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3 FESTHEHME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

() WAER (&)

(s)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ir)

Gas pipeline construction and connection

The Group provides gas pipeline construction and
connection services to its end-customers under fixed-price

(ir)

MREBZERER

EI*ETFI)E{?‘;TE aHmE
RmEFRHMREERE

contracts. Revenue from the provision of gas pipeline &&%xﬁﬁ% o REMREE
construction and connection services is recognised over BELEBREOH WAL —
time as the Group's performance creates or enhances an BEBANER - REAS%

asset that the customer controls.

The Group satisfies a performance obligation over time,
by measuring the progress using output method on the
basis of direct measurements of the value the customer
of the promised goods or services transferred to date

BHRARZHIBENHEP
ZHINEE °

SRR —BERRNENELD
B BEREBAFRAEEE
ﬁ%kr MEBREET=Z

SEHEHETEPHMAR

certified by internal engineers, relative to the value of total EmaRBEE (BRI I
goods or services promised under the contract with the %i Efﬁ %) HEEFPAaHK
customer. The Group recognises revenue over time only THiAEREENERAIRE
if it can reasonably measure its progress toward complete BEERBEA - SEEERH
satisfaction of the performance obligation. ARt EENENEEN
i&gﬁﬁﬁﬁguuqik ©
Estimates of costs or extent of progress towards WiERBE - ARHE THK

completion are revised if circumstances change. Any
changes in estimation of progress are reflected in profit or

EELHH 2 HEHES T IRE
EI EFH?ZEH“@JE’%

loss in the period which the circumstances that give rise to EREMEBZTEELEITZ
the revision become known by management. HEzERPRE -

The customers are required to pay in advance for full or EEHF2EMEHNER
certain contract amount based on a payment schedule. If EMEFEELET ZHME
the services rendered by the Group exceed the payment, ZEZmPARE - BPARE

a contract asset is recognised. If the payment exceeds the
services rendered, a contract liability is recognised.
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3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iir)

(iv)

(v)

Revenue from production and sales of coal gasification
and other related products

The revenue from sales of syngas and related products
produced during coal gasification process is measured
based on the price specified in the contract. The revenue
will be recorded at a point in time when the control is
transferred to the customers.

Revenue from exploitation and production of crude oil and
natural gas

The revenue from the sales of crude oil, natural gas and
natural gas liquids is measured based on consideration
specified in contracts with customers. Revenue is
recognised at a point in time when customers obtain
legal title to the oil and gas which is when it is physically
transferred to pipeline or other transportation method
agreed upon.

Sales of equipment

Revenue from sales of equipment are recognised when
control of the equipment has transferred, being when the
equipment are delivered to the customers, and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
equipment has been shipped to the specified location,
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customer, and either the customer has accepted
the equipment in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have
been satisfied.

(continued) (#&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(s)  Revenue recognition (Continued)
(v)  Sales of equipment (Continued)

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract. No element of financing is
deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term
of 60 to 90 days, which is consistent with market practice.

No refund liability and right to the returned equipment is
recognised as insignificant amount of returns is expected
based on previous experience.

A receivable is recognised when the equipment is delivered
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.

(t) Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss as part of finance income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except
for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired.
For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is
applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after
deduction of the loss allowance).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Employee benefits

()

Retirement benefit costs

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC based employees of the Group participate in
various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and
the PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage of
the employees’ salaries.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement and other post retirement
benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds managed by the provincial
governments.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those qualifying employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance,
and who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, contributions to the
scheme by the Group and the employees are calculated
as a percentage of employee’s relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
retirement benefit scheme costs charged to consolidated
profit or loss represent contributions payable by the
Group in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
‘A B 3% R R P G
(continued) (#)

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3 FESTHEHME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Employee benefits (Continued) (v EEREFN (&

(i) Employee entitlements (i) e
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service BEREBSzZFREKERE
payment are recognised when they accrue to the TRETTEERBER - 5t
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability HEWKRAXRBHAES
for annual leave and long service payment as a result of RERBMESZFRER
services rendered by employees up to the statement of HREe  HEFTEBRAaRE
financial position date. i fE B o
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or BEEGEZHRBEERKIR
paternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave. TREREEZRRES T#

s,
(i) Share-based payments (i) KR BEREZ T

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments of the Group. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant
of share options or restricted shares is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options or restricted
shares granted:

o including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period);

SEREZHEUNEREEIN
Bin RERERMGE - B
BZEE - ERWERESR
MRGAEREE#ESETA
MRE - BRESBEERE
P e = BRIl 1 B £ 0 32 4 AR
BHATFEERSER ° &
TRXHNBSEIRL2ER
B A SR M AR £ B 2
FEEEE

e BREMMEHERIRK
H(Blwm ZEEEZA
&)

n
X

s TEBEMEMRSE NI
™ 5 2 55 B R (40
BrNgEn - HEEER
B R EHE

and NHERERBEER) 2%
2Kk
. including the impact of any non-vesting conditions e BEETMERBEKMN

(for example, the requirement for employees to save
or holding shares for a specified period of time).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3 FESHHEHME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Employee benefits (Continued) (v EERAH (&)

(iir)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options or restricted shares that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over
the vesting period, which is the period over which all of

(iir)

KRG BB ()

ML RBGHERERRM
BHIR TRE 2B SLR
B EE 2REA - &
XHeBEREBHANER

the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At BN 75 & BT A 51| B8R 2 &R & 15k 1
the end of each reporting period, the entity revises its WHEIRE - REMmEHK
estimates of the number of options or restricted shares ERBRBIFEMSEEKREE

that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to

RIEMFARAKTHRBZE
PSR MERDEE - B

original estimates, if any, in the consolidated profit or loss, B IE 4R ?‘@ fui g R E] IR

with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 1E e B(E) - 1Y
R EHEERE -

Share option scheme B ES A

When the options are exercised, the Company issues REREREITER - QF%

new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital
(nominal value) and share premium when the options are
exercised.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The
fair value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised
over the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity.

Share award scheme

When restricted shares are granted, the fair value of
restricted shares are recognised as expense with a
corresponding adjustment to equity over the vesting
period.

Where the Group purchases the Company’s shares from
the market, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “shares held
for award scheme” and deducted from total equity.
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(continued) (#)

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

(w)

Provisions

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs
and legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision
is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small. Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
statement of financial position date in the countries
where the Group, its associates and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the date
of the statement of financial position and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liability is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to the
extent that it is probable the temporary difference will
reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(ZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3 FEETTHEBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
(w) Current and deferred income tax (Continued) (w) ERRIELEFEH ()
(i) Offsetting (i) i
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when EBEATEANMITE DGR
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax MBEEESRAHHBEAEGBR
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tH - BREMESEHEEME
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes B B R — B
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable ABEEBXTRAEBRNE R
entity or different taxable entities where there is an BEBRAHFERLELTN
intention to settle the balances on a net basis. SREHRE - BIA IR ERT

SHREERBEITMEERH -

(x) Leases (x) MHE
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding HERHEEENHEEERE
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use HeEmRREREEERIEREE
by the Group. f& o
Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. SRR EHERIIEEER ﬁfc
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the Ho o SEEBREERIEAE
lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand- BB HEENELER - #4& ,%’7
alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the REPEEZHERIFHEAMKE
Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non- Do AT - WEEBRAHEANE
lease components and instead accounts for these as a single WEHEMS - HEEEHHEE
lease component. RIFMEEAKNBIRAE —HE

MApcER D - A R E R

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain HERRZENEEEZRTEE
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease EBETRMBER GG - RiBHE
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security ABENHEEEPHERER
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased SN - HERETLERINERZLY -
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. HEEAETNSAEEREERR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3 FESHHEHME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

(x)  Leases (Continued) x) & &)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the following lease payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and payments
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising that option

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group where
possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes
in financing conditions since third party financing was received,
and makes adjustments specific to the lease.
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(continued) (#)

e~

3

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(x)

Leases (Continued)

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data)
which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the
Group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine the
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received

. any initial direct costs, and restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset's
useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of properties,
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less without a purchase option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IR R MG

(continued) (#&)

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3 FESTHRME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Government grants (y) BB
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value EREAERTE BB BRAA/EE -
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be i 6 & 1§ 38 <F P B M A5 G R
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. BN EEAFEER °
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised B3R 7N 5 B ) IR A B S AR A
in the profit or loss over the period necessary to match them A 7 B E B TE A E Y K AR BT
with the costs that they are intended to compensate. BRI AR B TR -
Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment Y% BELEREEBENRF
are included in non-current liabilities as deferred government WEBHIAERD B BEIERETK
grants and are credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line B WEREHEZEZRNBEBREE
basis over the expected lives of the related assets. TR FRFFAER -

THRREEAERAT 2021FFH 119



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial instruments by categories

4 HBRERER

4.1

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive

RERBED 2 EH

Financial
assets at

Financial
liabilities at

income amortised cost amortised cost
BRAFETA
Hin2mEiki BEBHHATE BEBHEMATE
ZHBEE ZHBEE ZHBEE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Btk TER TER TER
As at 31 December 2021 R-E-—F
TZA=1+—H
Debt investments BEHRE 21 91,916 — —
Equity investments RAKE 21 197,879 — —
Deposits, trade and other B BS5K
receivables H etk 508 23 — 2,445,619 —
Time deposits, bank balances ~ FEFF - BITEH L
and cash Re 24 — 3,766,269 —
Trade and other payables B REMEMNTIE 25 — — 1,332,234
Borrowings EE 27 — — 3,074,809
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 — — 74,966
Senior notes BERE 28 — — 5,645,120
289,795 6,211,888 10,127,129
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IR R MG

(continued) (#&)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 HBERER (&
4.1 Financial instruments by categories (Continued) 41 RERESzZEWMIA (&)

Financial assets

at fair value
through other Financial Financial
comprehensive assets at liabilities at
income amortised cost amortised cost
RATERTA
Hin2EK REHEKATE REHER A E
ZHBEE ZHBEE ZHBEE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fitzE TR TR TR
As at 31 December 2020 RZFEZZF
+=A=+-H
Debt investments EBEREE 21 513,514 — —
Equity investments BAKE 21 120,481 — —
Deposits, trade and other e BHREMEK
receivables FE 23 — 2,035,558 —
Time deposits, bank balances ~ FHTER » RITHEH R
and cash Re 24 — 3,763,004 —
Trade and other payables B 5 REMmERNTRIE 25 — — 1,215,849
Borrowings &% 27 — — 2,338,411
Lease liabilities HEEE 17 — — 76,560
Senior notes BEER 28 — — 5,410,227
633,995 5,798,562 9,041,047
4.2 Financial risk factors 42 BiI¥REREZ
The Group'’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: SEETHEAHRZBYHERRE W
market risk (including currency risk, price risk and interest rate LRk (BEEERR - BER
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising in the normal course g R MERERE) FERR LA
of its business and financial instruments. The management BEBRERERMIAEEAZR
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate PESER EEEEEREE
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. ZERR  UARJFREEIME

IEEE I
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(continued) (#)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BIBERERE (&)
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 HERBREZE (&)
() Market risk @ AEER
() Currency risk (i) E¥ERE

The Group is exposed to currency risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to United States dollars (“US$"”), Canadian
dollars (“CAD") and Renminbi (“RMB"). Currency
risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments
in foreign operations. In addition, the conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government. This currency
exposure is managed primarily through sourcing
supplies denominated in the same currency.

Management has set up a policy to require group
companies to manage their foreign exchange risk
against functional currency. It mainly includes
managing the exposures arise from sales and
purchases made by the relevant group companies
in currencies other than their own functional
currencies. The Group also manages its foreign
exchange risk by performing regular reviews of
the Group's net foreign exchange exposures. The
Group has not used any forward foreign exchange
contracts to hedge its exposure.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

0]

Currency risk (Continued)

Prices for oil and natural gas in Canada are
determined in global markets and generally
denominated in US$. Oil and natural gas prices
obtained by the Group are influenced by both
United States and Canadian demand and the
corresponding North American supply, and recently,
by imports of liquefied natural gas. The exchange
rate effect cannot be quantified but generally an
increase in the value of CAD as compared to US$
will reduce the prices received by the Group for its
petroleum and natural gas sales. At 31 December
2021 and 2020, there has no financial instrument
denominated in US$ in the books of subsidiaries
with functional currency denominated in CAD.

As US$ is pegged with HK$ under the Linked
Exchange Rate System, the Group has minimal
exposure to currency risk arising from USS$.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is performed.
As at 31 December 2021, if RMB had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against HK$, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year
would have been HK$323,000 (2020: HK$690,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
losses/gains on translation of RMB denominated
cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(ZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2  Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from
debt and equity investments classified as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income amounted to HK$289,795,000 (2020:
HK$633,995,000). Most of these investments are
listed either on the stock exchanges of Hong Kong
or other countries.

Equity investments are held as long-term strategic
investments and have been chosen based on their
longer term growth potential and are monitored
regularly for performance against expectations.

Debt investments are placed with counterparties
with sound credit quality. The Group closely
monitors the credit quality and financial positions
of counterparties and considers appropriate action
if the market value of those securities decline by a
pre-determined threshold.

Commodity price risk is the risk that fair value
or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of
changes in commodity prices. Commaodity prices for
oil and natural gas in Canada are impacted by the
relationship between CAD and US$ as well as world
economic events that dictate the levels of supply
and demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets, except for short-term bank deposits, loan to
an associate and loans to third parties, the Group's
income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.
Management does not anticipate significant impact
on interest-bearing assets resulted from changes
in interest rates because the interest rates of bank
deposits are not expected to change significantly.

The Group's interest rate risk arises from borrowings
and senior notes. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. Borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to
fair value interest rate risk.

Details of the Group’s borrowings and senior notes
are set out in Notes 27 and 28 respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(ZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BIERBER (&)
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 BIFRAREZR (&)
(a)  Market risk (Continued) (a) B REE ()

(iii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk as the
interest rate risk exposure is not significant. In
order to manage the cash flow interest rate risk,
the Group will repay the corresponding borrowings
when it has surplus funds.

At 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general
increase or decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates on floating rate borrowings, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the
Group's post tax profit for the year by approximately
HK$12,986,000 (2020: HK$7,075,000). The above
sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rates had occurred at the
date of the statement of financial position and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for financial instruments in existence at that date.
The 100 basis points increase or decrease represents
management'’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the year until the next
annual statement of financial position date. The
analysis was performed on the same basis for 2020.

126 CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021

(iii)

MEEB (&)

BRAERERYENE
R SEYEERE
fa] A = 5 HY 8 b B A
KEBRAE - REE
RenENEXER -
SEEFRABEDH
EEERBREE -

%

—EZ—%+=A
=+—HB ' HEiZEEE
BZRELER EFASRT
ER100E £ 28 - AT A
HZHRETE - 8
& B F AR & R A
B # hn#912,986,000
BL(ZE ZZ F:
7,075,000/% JT) o it
BREE D TR T R
BB B AR OR R A R
BAER—HEARNZ
HEE®NSH T AT
KRB - Tk T &
10018 £ 24 #5 & 12 B 51
HRHERFREE T —
%i%%%ﬁ%a%m
HEMA B g
ZEZEFENDNIRE
HAEHELT o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
contract assets, deposits, trade and other receivables,
debt investments at FVOCI, time deposits with maturity
over three months, and cash at banks with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these financial
instruments which are stated as follows:
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2021 2020
—EB-—F —TTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
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other receivables H th 8 SRR 2,639,836 2,181,219
Debt investments at FVOC| THMRZEBRE 91,916 513,514
Time deposits with maturity over three FREBB=1EH Z
months TEHITF R 979,660 836,570
Cash at banks RITHEE 2,785,622 2,924,813
Maximum exposure to credit risk BmfEERR 6,497,034 6,456,116

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(continued) (#)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BBERER (&
4.2  Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 BI¥REBEZE (&)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) FEREE (&)
(i)  Credit risk of cash at banks and time deposits (i) ZIHEB=EALLKHRE
with maturity over three months THEREHERZE
BEK
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all of the RZEZ—FR=-F
Group's bank deposits are deposited in major —EF+A=+—
financial institutions located in the PRC and Hong H SEBEmMBERTHE
Kong, which the management believes are of high HRAFEBMRERER
credit quality without significant credit risk. There RAEABEXREERR
has been no recent history of default in relation to MEEEERZH
these financial institutions. The expected credit loss REBFTESmEE -
is insignificant. ZES MBI
MEAESL - BHE
EBEBELHEATE
% o
The Group's bank deposits as at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—FR_F
and 2020 were as follows: —EF+ZA=+—
H SBEZ®RITEX
mr
2021 2020
—B-—fF —ECEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
State-owned or listed banks Bl Aok ETiRTT 2,356,639 1,944,447
Other banks H At $R17 1,408,643 1,816,936
3,765,282 3,761,383

128 CHINA OIL AND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BBERER (&
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 BI¥RBEZ (&)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) 1FEREE (&)

(ii) Credit risk of loan and interest receivables from (i) RE-HEBHEIARNER

an associate REKANBEZEERAKE

The directors of the Company consider the NAEZEREEBY

probability of default upon initial recognition Ih TR E A /] B

of asset and whether there has been significant Mo UEREBEEZ

increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis during T —F+=ZA=+-—

the year ended 31 December 2021. To assess BEFEEERR=

whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, GRBEBBEEN - A

the Group compares risk of a default occurring on A EERBES R

the assets as at the reporting date with the risk of EEm - SEHERE

default as at the date of initial recognition. Especially ERAHMEEEELEN

the following indicators are incorporated: B R B B 1) i TR

BEHWEORRET
& o 5Bl AT 5

BIZ
—  Actual or expected significant adverse change — XK MBEE
in business, financial economic conditions that ik &) BB =k T8
are expected to cause a significant change to HEXTHEE
the associate’s ability to meet its obligations; T8 5T % B B

REAIBTEED
MEENELEEX

21t
—  Actual or expected significant changes in the — BEARKEE
operating results of the associate; B E RSk TE
BEREL
— Significant changes in the expected — BeEAREHE
performance and behaviour of the associate, BROIBBWERKR
including changes in the payment status of B BEBZ
the associate. NEIRN 8- 850
B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(ZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BIRRBEIRE ()
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 HERBREZE (&)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) EERERE (&)
(i) Credit risk of loan and interest receivables from (i) RE—HBEEQATER
an associate (Continued) REWFE ZESRAR

(4)

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant BE X9 - B
increase in credit risk is presumed if the associate is & N A A H) B30k
more than 30 days past due in making a contractual RKEBGHNZR/RE

payment/repayable demanded.

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments/
repayable demanded within 90 days when they fall
due.

The management considers the credit risk on
loan and interest receivables from an associate
after considering the financial conditions of
the associate and concluded that there was no
significant increase in credit risk, and the expected
credit losses was limited to 12-months expected
credit loss. Management has applied the expected
credit risk model and estimated the probability-
weighted default rate of 1.2% (2020: 2.2%) and
loss given default rate of 60.2% (2020: 60.2%)
after considering the current economic environment
and the forward looking economic factors. Loss
allowance of approximately HK$8,779,000 (2020:
HK$14,197,000) is recognised as at 31 December
2021 and reversal of impairment loss amounted to
approximately HK$5,981,000 (2020: impairment
loss HK$5,800,000) is recognised during current
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(iii)

Credit risk of deposits and other receivables

Deposits and other receivables were mainly rental
deposits, refundable deposits placed to suppliers,
loan to third parties, amounts due from associates,
consideration receivables and note receivables.
The credit quality of deposits and other receivables
has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default rates
and financial position of the counterparties. Given
the track record of repayment in full, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the risk of
default by these counterparties is not significant and
does not expect any losses from non-performance
by the counterparties. Therefore, expected credit
loss rate of the deposits and other receivables is
assessed to be insignificant and no provision was
made as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(ZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BBERERE (&)
4.2  Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 BiREKER (&)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) EEmE (&)
(iv) Credit risk of contract assets and trade (iv) EHEERESEHRN
receivables Bz EERE

For sales and distribution of natural gas and
other related products, the provision of pipeline
construction and connection services, and the sales
of coal gasification and other related products in the
PRC, the Group generally requests advances from
these customers. For exploitation and production
of crude oil and natural gas in Canada, receivables
from oil and natural gas marketers are normally
collected on the 25th day of the month following
production. In circumstances of credit sales, to
manage the credit risk in respect of contract assets
and trade receivables, the Group has policies in
place to ensure that sales are made to customers
with appropriate credit history and the Group
performs credit evaluations of its customers, and
generally does not require collateral from the
customers on the outstanding balances.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected credit loss provision for all contract assets
and trade receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
receivables (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses, contract
assets and trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. All customers of the Group are
assessed collectively using a provision matrix. The
contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress
and have substantially the same risk characteristics
as the trade receivables for the same types of
contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that
the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the
contract assets.

The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables. For customers
relating to the sales and distribution of natural gas
and other related products, the provision of pipeline
construction and connection services as well as
the sales of coal gasification and other related
products in the PRC, the Group has identified the
GDP growth rate of the PRC to be the most relevant
factor. For oil and natural gas marketers relating
to the exploitation and production of crude oil and
natural gas in Canada, the Group has identified
that commodity price fluctuation to be the most
relevant factor. The Group adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors
accordingly.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(ZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#)

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BIBERERE (&)
4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 HERBREZE (&)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b) EERERE (&)
(iv) Credit risk of contract assets and trade (ivy R EERESEWNK

receivables (Continued)

Contract assets and trade receivables are written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan
with the Group, and a failure to make contractual
payments for a period of greater than 1 year past
due.

Impairment losses on contract assets and trade
receivables are presented as net impairment losses
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

Given the track record of regular repayment of
receivables from the customers, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the risk of default
by these customers is not significant. Therefore, the
expected credit loss rate of contract assets and trade
receivables is assessed to be insignificant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

(v)

Credit risk of debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are normally
only in liquid securities quoted on a recognised stock
exchange, except where entered into for long-term
strategic purposes. Management considers “low
credit risk” for listed bonds to be an investment
grade credit rating with at least one major rating
agency. Other instruments are considered to be
low credit risk when they have a low risk of default
and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term. The Group also considered the forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors
including GDP and Purchase Price Index. The Group
has assessed that the expected credit losses for
these financial assets are not material under the
12 months expected credit loss method. Thus no
loss allowance provision was recognised as at the
balance sheet date.

The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk during
the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(ZE ISR R MG

(continued) (#&)

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4 BIERERER (&)

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 HERBREZE (&)
(c)  Liquidity risk © wEEEEE

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising of
loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s Board when the borrowings exceed
certain pre-determined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

B EREE (F)

wEE (&

4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 4

4.2 Financial risk factors (Continued) 42 B Rk

(c)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (© wEEzEE (&)

The following tables detail the remaining contractual T3k EF R = B TS AR A
maturities at date of the statement of financial position BikAE& BB FHRE L2
of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on HAE DREGORFTR
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest Ren=E (BECAEGAOHN
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, RETEMH BN KRBT
based on rates current at the statement of financial g BMBAMAREBBHNER
position date) and the earliest date the Group can be TREHE) REBE A
required to pay: XHHRE BB AKE

Total Less than
Total carrying contractual 1 year or Between Between Over
Group £H amount undiscounted ondemand  1to2years 2t0 5 years 5 years
CLESE] 15/
FHAR &t RERZH 1228 1555 SENL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TiEn Tt AL T TEL
As at 31 December 2021 o 3
+ZA=t-H
Trade and other payables EAREENTE 1,332,234 1332234 1,332,234 - - -
Borrowings &R 3,074,809 3,033,063 1,520,435 1,002,712 709,916 -
Senior notes BrRE 5,645,120 6,538,945 287339 2,804,677 3,446,929 -
Lease liabilities HERR 74,966 88,998 19,353 16,604 30,969 2,012
10,127,129 11,193,240 3,159,361 3,823,993 4,187,814 22,0712
As at 31 December 2020 RZBZ%%
t-A=1-H
Trade and other payables BHRAMENE 1,215,849 1,215,849 1,215,849 - - -
Borrowings &3 2,338,411 2,466,078 1,406,672 157,786 901,620 -
Senior notes BREE 5,410,227 5917835 296,669 2,905,655 2,715,511 -
Lease liabilities fEgR 76,560 91,223 17,185 16,791 32,218 25,029
9,041,047 9,690,985 2,936,375 3,080,232 3,649,349 25,029
Note: M EE
The Group complied with senior notes covenant as at 31 RZEZ—FRZZTZZF
December 2021 and 2020 and did not trigger the callable terms. +=ZA=+—8 " £BETE
EEBZAOARTEBERESR
HMEEER -
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4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.3

Capital risk management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditure and projected strategic investment opportunities. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, repurchase
the Company'’s shares, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of available cash and
cash equivalents and current ratio as shown in and derived from

4

B EREE (&)

4.3

EXEBER

SEZEAERTZEERRE
SERBEERELE 2N - N
Fr 8 3 R 5 R B 3 o A EL A
sRASERRMNE  XRFRE

BARRBIABDERKA -

SEEBRERARSREEEAR
B AUKEEEEZARESR
i&§$ﬁ¥‘aw Ko 78 B & 7
EIREHZERERE - BY
ﬁ$ﬁi&ﬁ%%%&ﬁ%@ﬁ
BREBECEARBRERRERE -
RERTRABEARE » KEK
EREBEXNTERRZBRESE -
EEREED @ MERRE®RER -
BITHBRRHEEEEANRDES -

SERBEHZEVBRRKRA TR
FEmGZARRERREEE

the consolidated statement of financial position. The table below EHERRBSEREFTER - T&
analyses the Group’s capital structure: BEBEREBE 2D
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-EF
Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) RekBE<EEEBEE (TETL) 2,786,609 2,926,434
Current ratio (Current assets divided by 7@ th =
current liabilities) (RBEERURBAEE) 1.17 1.21
The Group's strategy is to maintain the current ratio above SEEBEERBDLEREAL

1.00 and sufficient cash and cash equivalents to support the
operations and development of its business in the long term.

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of debt-to-asset
ratio. The ratio is calculated as total debt divided by total assets.
Total debt is calculated as total borrowings and senior notes. The
Group’s gearing ratio was 39% (2020: 40%) as at 31 December
2021.
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4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.4 Fair value estimation

()

Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of the
financial instruments measured at fair value at the
statement of financial position date across the three levels
of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value of each
financial instruments categorised in its entirety based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value
measurement.

The levels are defined as follows:

° Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments.

° Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices
in active market for similar financial instruments, or
using valuation techniques in which all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable
data.

o Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input
is not based on observable market data.

FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)
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4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

B EREE (&)

4.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 4.4 DFEMGE (&)
() Financial instruments carried at fair value (Continued) () HURNFEIFR 26T A (&)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—BIX FZBIR FZEBIX @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—%+=H
=+—H
Financial assets at FVOCI: BATEFAEME
ARG VHBEE
— Listed equity investments — FRARE 197,879 — — 197,879
— Listed debt investments — FTHEREE 91,466 — — 91,466
— Unlisted debt investments — FLEMEKEE — 450 — 450
289,345 450 — 289,795
As at 31 December 2020 RZEZTF+-A
=+—H
Financial assets at FVOCI: — FTRAEE
— Listed equity investments — ETRERE 60,981 — - 60,981
— Listed debt investments — LTEBRE 513,064 — - 513,064
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — JF F AR & — — 59,500 59,500
— Unlisted debt investments — FLEMEKEE — 450 — 450
574,045 450 59,500 633,995
During the year, there were no transfers between $¢ g EB-—EBR- =F
instruments in level 1, level 2 and level 3. BAREZRBRZEZ I
ﬂ W o
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4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.4  Fair value estimation (Continued)

0 Financial instruments carried at fair value (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the date of the statement of financial position.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm'’s length basis. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily
Hong Kong and Dow Jones equity and debt
investments classified as financial assets at FVOCI
(2020: same).

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

FE M BHwRMEE
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4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.4  Fair value estimation (Continued)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value (Continued)
() Financial instruments in level 3
Fair values for the unquoted equity investments

are estimated based on recent market transactions
adjusted for specific circumstances of the issuer.

(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable

4

MERERERE (&)
a4 DFEMEH (&)
() KAFESEZSHBTA (4)
(0 HF=EXR&®mIA
R ERERE A
FEBERETAR
EEMBEGBED
2 5 hEHEE -

(i) EHEXT A EFABZES

inputs (Level 3) NFEEE (F=R)
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Unlisted equity securities FETRAES
At 1 January n—HA—H 59,500 —
Addition NE — 56,000
Transfer to investments accounted for & A{FREESEAR 2R E
using the equity method (Note 20) (Kt 5E20) (59,500) —
Foreign exchange adjustments HNEE 5 B — 3,500
At 31 December R+=ZAR=+—H — 59,500
As at 31 December 2020, the Group held approximately R-ZB_ZEFE+_A=+—
10% of the share capital of ER X AR EBR A A A ’% I?ﬁﬁigi%ﬁfnﬁ

("EEXARME") in the amount of RMB50,000,000
(equivalent to HK$59,500,000). The interest was
subsequently reclassified as an associate during the year
ended 31 December 2021, see Note 20(d) for details.
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4  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4.4  Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iir)

Fair values of financial instruments carried at other than
fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments,
including non-current assets carried at cost or amortised
cost are not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2021 and 2020.

The Group uses a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing
at each statement of financial position date. Quoted
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are
used for long-term borrowings. Other techniques, such as
estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine
fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

The carrying values less allowance for impairment
of current receivables and of current payables are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values. Estimated
discounted cash flows at the current market interest
rate are used to determine fair value for these financial
instruments (i.e. level 3-lowest level).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

The Group’s management makes assumptions, estimates and
judgments in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies that affect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses in the
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS.
The assumptions, estimates and judgments are based on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. While the management reviews their judgments,
estimates and assumptions continuously, the actual results will seldom
equal to the estimates.

Estimates and judgments are regularly evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The matters described below are considered to be the most critical
in understanding the estimates and judgments that are involved in
preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(a) Estimate of impairment of loan and interest receivables
from and interest in an associate

The loss allowances for loan and interest receivables from an
associate are based on assumptions about default rate and
loss given default rate. The Group uses judgment in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the associate’s past repayment history,
existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note 4.2(b).

The Group conducts impairment reviews of the interest in an
associate if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the investment (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows from the investment
that can be reliably estimated. Business valuation of the associate
was performed by management to determine the recoverability
of the interest in an associate after taking into account of
marketability and minority interest discount in interest held
which involves management estimates and judgments such as
commodity price growth, future production profile, and discount
rate.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Estimate of impairment of loan and interest receivables
from and interest in an associate (Continued)

Favourable changes to some assumptions may decrease the
impairment amount whereas unfavourable changes may increase
the provisions.

Estimation of impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment. Property, plant and equipment which includes
oil and gas properties, and other non-financial assets are also
reviewed for possible impairments whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Determination as to whether and how much an
asset is impaired involves management estimates and judgments
such as future prices of natural gas and crude oil. However, the
impairment reviews and calculations are based on assumptions
that are consistent with the Group’s business plans. Favourable
changes to some assumptions may allow the Group to avoid the
need to impair any assets in these years, whereas unfavourable
changes may cause the assets to become impaired.

The Group relies on experts to assess the geological prospects
for the discovery of oil in the oilfield and estimates the value
of oil to be produced in the future at a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. For drilling costs and
other exploration and evaluation assets, the Group determines
whether the related well costs are expensed if it is determined
that such economic viability is not attained after performing
further feasibility studies. Judgment is required by the Board to
determine key assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections
and changes to key assumptions can significantly affect these
cash flow projections and therefore the results of the impairment
reviews.

(a)

(b)
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(continued) (#&)

5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(0

(d)

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgment in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, based on the Group's past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note 4.2(b).

Estimation of useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment (excluding the property, plant

and equipment under the segment “exploitation and
production of crude oil and nature gas”)

The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives and residual values for the Group's property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technological advancement
and innovations in the natural gas industry. Management will
adjust the depreciation charge where residual values vary with
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold. Actual residual values may differ from estimated residual
values. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable
lives and residual values and therefore depreciation in the future
periods.
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(e)

()

Estimate of petroleum reserve under the segment of
“exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas”

Estimates of petroleum reserves are key elements in the Group's
investment decision-making process. Changes in total proved
plus probable petroleum reserves will affect unit-of-production
depreciation and depletion recorded in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for property, plant and equipment related
to oil and gas production activities. A reduction in proved plus
probable reserves will increase depreciation and depletion
charges. Petroleum reserve estimates are subject to revision,
either upward or downward, based on new information, such
as from development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including product prices, contract
terms or development plans.

Income taxes and deferred income tax

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be required. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not recognise deferred
tax assets in respect of tax losses amounting to HK$36,966,000
(2020: HK$22,476,000) that could be carried forward against
future taxable income as the realisation of the related tax
benefits through future taxable profit is not probable. Estimating
the amount of deferred tax asset arising from tax losses requires
a process that involves determining appropriate provisions for
income tax expense, forecasting future year’s taxable income
and assessing our ability to utilise tax benefits through future
earnings. In cases where the actual future profits generated are
different from original estimates than expected, such differences
will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets and income tax
charges in the year in which such circumstances are changed.
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6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 EEIENDIBER
The Group's principal activities are the sales and distribution of natural SEFEXETHERD>HEHRAR - R
gas, crude oil and other related products, provision of construction and MRk EMARERRRPREEHRARE
connection services of gas pipelines and production and sales of coal BREREBRRSE  HEERARH
gasification and other related products in the PRC, and the exploitation MEBEEDS - UREMEXRFRREE
and production of crude oil and natural gas in Canada. Revenue for EFRAERRAR - FRALEEFEHE N
the year comprises the following: T&IF :
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Sales and distribution of natural gas and HE KK RAR K
other related products HEMMEEE®R 12,258,436 9,385,246
Gas pipeline connection and construction MRE BERREERBEA
services income 971,430 765,633
Exploitation and production of crude oil and FEE K A B ROB R R AR
natural gas 510,674 281,898
Production and sales of coal gasification and FERIEBEESEE R
other related products Efh i E D 601,408 —
14,341,948 10,432,777
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment SERBEETHARTEFEREERS
information based on the regular internal financial information Bl J2 /IR ET A 2 A EP B 1S & R R K 48
reported to the executive directors for the purposes of resource ENBRGBHEIIER - WEZHE
allocation and assessment of performance focuses more specifically 75(‘ HERXAR  MEREERELRER
on sales of natural gas, gas pipeline construction and connection; UERARREERBRERAR  REE
production and sales of coal gasification and other related product and RiFEEEARAMBEEER - UK
exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas. FEREREERGRERKASR °
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

The Group has presented the following four reportable segments for
the year ended 31 December 2021:

— sales and distribution of natural gas and other related products

— gas pipeline construction and connection
—  exploitation and production of crude oil and natural gas

—  production and sales of coal gasification and other related
products (new segment this year)

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above
reportable segments.

The executive directors assess the performance of the business
segments based on profit before taxation without allocation of other
gains/(losses), net, finance income, finance costs, share of profits/(losses)
of investments accounted for using the equity method, net, reversal
of/(provision for) impairment on oil and gas properties under property,
plant and equipment, written off of exploration and evaluation assets,
reversal of impairment loss of loan and interest receivables from an
associate and other unallocated corporate expenses, which is consistent
with these in the consolidated financial statements. Meanwhile, the
Group does not allocate assets and liabilities to its segments and report
the sales from external customers by geographical market, as the
executive directors do not use this information to allocate resources
to or evaluate the performance of operating segment. Therefore, the
Group does not report a measure of segment assets and liabilities
for each reportable segment and a measure of sales by geographical
market.

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided
to the executive directors for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 is set out below.

FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)
EEENDIER (&)

EEEERBE_ZT_—F+=
=t—BLEFENATOERSE DAL

|

— HERBEXXARLHEGMBBE

[n]s)
— MREBRENER
— FARREERBRERAR

— HSERHERRALHEMBRE
an (NFEFIEDER)

BB ERLE D BAER E AT &E D

B e

HOTESRERHAS MR XH D
ZRBEETRAMA - AL E DA M
wm/ (B18) F8 - FIRkA - MBE
B ohERREEAKRZKRENK
wm,/ (B8 F8 W% BEERE
HTHREEREBRER (BHE) -
BREFGHEEDRHE  BR-EBZ
REAEREASEEREBERE MR
PECERAX - BRAMBHREML
HEoH e BhRAK > SEYESEE
ERBBETENBRERKEBBETS
SNEREFMIEER  ARVTESY
BEERREFENIRERUMGELR
DERR - Bt - KEAEH S A EK
ENWERIBEERBBEZFAERE
WERTISHERZTE -

HE-_Z-_—GFR-_ZFT-_ZTF+=A
Z+—BIEFE  ARTEEREREMN
BEERIERSHBERBTHEEEE
AHEDHZEREAFNAT
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6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021:

T —FF+ZA=+—HILFE :

Sales and Production and
distribution of Exploitation and sales of coal
natural gas and Gas pipeline production of gasification and
other related construction crude oil and other related
products and connection natural gas products Group
HER BRR £ER
REXARR nREE EERAR HERHRR
At HEER BERER AAR At HBER &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn ThEn TEn TEn
Segment revenue and results S HEFEREE
Segment revenue NHERE
Recognised at a point in time RE-BREHHER 12,258,436 - 510,674 601,408 13,370,518
Recognised over time R-BREAER - 971,430 - - 971,430
Sales to external customers NEEPHER 12,258,436 971,430 510,674 601,408 14,341,948
Segment results nHEE 1,317,145 389,432 64,457 21,282 1,792,316
Finance income 130N 121,828
Other gains, net Etils - 38 4,500
Finance costs HEER (343,881)
Reversal of impairment loss of El-REERAAERR
loan and interest receivables AekEEEsE
from an associate 5,981
Reversal of impairment onoil and 9% - BERREE TRA
gas properties under property, EERERR
plant and equipment - - 565,595 - 565,595
Written off of exploration and DRRTREE M
evaluation assets - - (4,025) — (4,025)
Share of profits of investments HMERAERENELZ
accounted for using the equity RANE
method 1122
Unallocated corporate expenses KA ELERR (165,476)
Profit before taxation BE AR 1,990,560
Taxation HE (476,626)
Profit for the year ERgT 1,513,934
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(continued) (#&)

6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 EXBERDIBEHR (&)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020: HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—HLEE:
Sales and Exploitation
distribution and
of natural Gas pipeline production
gas and construction of crude oil
other related and and natural
products connection gas Group
HER HES
BRERARK mEE®R EERAK
HiMBER BEREK XAR £E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THET THET THET
Segment revenue and results THERERER
Segment revenue PHeEE
Recognised at a point in time RE-BHEER 9,385,246 — 281,898 9,667,144
Recognised over time R-BEERER — 765,633 — 765,633
Sales to external customers NEPHER 9,385,246 765,633 281,898 10,432,777
Segment results PHEE 1,085,473 317,325 18,334 1421132
Finance income 530N 304,068
Other losses, net AMERE FE (14,403)
Finance costs HEER (301,034)
Reversal of impairment loss of loanand B —FAB & R A &5 R
interest receivables from an associate FISRERESE 5,800
Impairment on oil and gas properties % BRERXEETRR
under property, plant and equipment BEWE - - (625,633) (625,633)
Written off of exploration and HRRTEEE RS
evaluation assets — — (26,379) (26,379)
Share of losses of investments HMERRERENEL
accounted for using the equity RABE
method (19,002)
Unallocated corporate expenses APRGERT (113,633)
Profit before taxation BRHANEH 630,916
Taxation WA (115,601)
Profit for the year FRgT 515,315
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6 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6 EXENIHMBER (&
(Continued)
No external customers of the Group contributed over 10.0% of the BHEZZE - FR_Z=FF+=A
Group's revenue for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. =+—HIEFE  SEEEIHNBEP

REBEZWATEEEB100% °

Analysis of the Group’s assets by geographical market for the years Bz - —H#rx-_FT-_ZFF+_-A4
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is set out below: =+t—BLEFEE % l % i = T 5 E

DZEEZDWEHINMT

2021 2020
—E--& —E-%F
Additions to Additions to
non-current non-current
Total assets assets Total assets assets
wE RE
BEE ERBDEE BEE ERBEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL THER FTET THEL
Hong Kong A 377,531 — 103,866 5,084
Mainland China B A 17,725,626 1,663,037 16,258,012 1,581,462
Canada nex 2,492,440 87,478 1,839,296 85,018
Total CH 20,595,597 1,750,515 18,201,174 1,671,564
Unallocated AOE
Investments accounted for using the TREREARIRE
equity method 1,758,418 429,356
Deferred tax assets ERREEE 4,821 5,810
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEGFALMEEKR
other comprehensive income HEEE 289,795 633,995
Total assets BEE 22,648,631 19,270,335
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(continued) (#&)

OTHER INCOME HA A
2021 2020
—EB-— & —TE-THE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F& T FAT
Government subsidies K 43 B 65,184 19,174
Service income AR 75 U A 444 169
Dividend income (Note 21) A& B U A (FFsE21) 497 1,087
Others Efh 2,359 2,550
68,484 22,980
OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET Hitzs, (B518) F58
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Gains/(losses) on disposals of debt HERAFEAAEMEE
investments at fair value through Wz EBHTENRE
other comprehensive income (E18) 973 (12,869)
Gains/(losses) on disposal of HEMBARMNKE (E8)
subsidiaries (Note 33) (P E33) 3,527 (1,534)
4,500 (14,403)
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9 OPERATING PROFIT 9 &KEHEA
Operating profit has been arrived after charging/(crediting) the KEREMNEMBR, (GTA) A T&ER
following items: EE
2021 2020
—E-—F TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHEIT
Employee benefit expenses (Note 11) EERAIFZ (k1) 515,335 345,544
Cost of inventories recognised as expense ERARAIHFEKRAR 10,286,009 7,470,908
Auditor’s remuneration ZER &
— Audit services —EE R 3,019 2,369
— Non-audit services —IFEF R 1,100 —
Depreciation and depletion of property, plant ~ #% - MEMERHITE LB
and equipment (Note 16) (FtzE16) 560,612 412,946
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 17) mEMEREEE (M:E17) 19,365 23,208
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 19) M EEEHE (MHEE19) 9,407 6,858
Short term lease expenses (Note 17) MEHEERZ (ME17) 1,519 1,328
Losses on disposals of property, plant and HEWE BERXENERE
equipment 5,746 3,624
Reversal of impairment loss of loan and FEU— B B QAR 'R RF A
interest receivables from an associate BRI EEE (5,981) (5,800)
Net exchange (gains)/losses &N (=) BRI E (3.450) 4,731
Written off of exploration and evaluation R AT EE R (M FE18)
assets (Note 18) 4,025 26,379
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(continued) (#&)

10 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 10 BIBWAREH
2021 2020
—s-—%F TEEAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Finance income from: g ARE -
Interest income on bank deposits RITFER 2 F B HRA 46,076 90,431
Interest income on debt investments EAFEFAEMEZEKEZ
at fair value through other BEBRENFEWA
comprehensive income 20,412 39,785
Loan to an associate BRTHENR 56,181 165,379
Loans to third parties BRTFE=ZH 5,159 8,473
127,828 304,068
Finance costs from: MHBEAKRSE :
Interest expense on: MEER:
Bank borrowings RITER (104,515) (91,126)
Other borrowings EhfE R (8,507) (1,925)
Lease liabilities (Note 17) HEaE(MF17) (3,993) (3,300)
Senior notes BERE (351,333) (295,547)
Accretion of assets retirement obligation B E W EAER I (M 5E30)
(Note 30) (2,860) (2,531)
Less: Amounts capitalised (Note 16(ii)) W ARt ' (FaE16(ii) 127,327 93,395
(343,881) (301,034)
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11 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING 11 EERIAX - BEESEMH
DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS G

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHEIT
Salaries, wages and bonuses e IERES 410,020 307,688
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BRENA — R EHKEE 63,042 37,856
Share awards A% 10 228 42,273 —
515,335 345,544

(a)  Five highest paid individuals (a) HEERSHFMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in SEFRNAEERMNEZALTE

the Group for the year include 2 (2020: 1) directors whose
emolument are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 12.
The emoluments paid or payable to the remaining 3 (2020: 4)
individuals during the year are as follows:

AR (ZE_FF 18)EF
Hl €2 SRAMT 1225854 -
FRENRENTEHRIZ (ZF
ZTF AR MME TR ¢

2021 2020

—E-—& —E-EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RAREY S 9,810 9,017
Share awards f& 17 22D 252 —
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R8T 31 5% 18 18
10,080 9,035
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)

11 BERARAX - BEESH

% ()

Five highest paid individuals (Continued) () LEESFMAL (&)
The number of employees whose remuneration fell within the BUATHeHE 2 EBEABET :
following band was as follows:
Number of employees
EEAH
2021 2020
—s=-—F —ZECETF
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001/ 7 £3,000,000/% 7T — 4
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001/ 7 £4,000,0007% 7T 3 —
No emoluments were paid or payable to the above highest BE_ZT-_—FRZZT=ZZFF
paid individuals as an inducement to join the Group or as +ZA=+—BLEYBREE &£
compensation for loss of office during the financial years ended WTESAHRENERNNE TE
31 December 2021 and 2020. EhbiimkeEHEMZAL  ER
BERENEEEREARSH
BomE -
Senior management’s emoluments (b) SREERERE T

Details of remuneration paid to members of senior management
fell within the following bands:

BATHEBEGENEREE
B AMSHE -

Number of employees

HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 0/ 70 % 1,000,000/ 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,0017 7T £2,000,000/%8 7T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T 3,000,000/ 7T
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001/ 7T £4,000,000/% 7T

EEAH"
2021 2020
—E- & —E T
11 8
1 6
3 6
3 N
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12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE

OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND

HK LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of person’s services as
a director or services in connection with the management of the
affairs, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings:

For the year ended 31 December 2021:

1§IJ (’5%622

(a) EZHME

ENHEARKEMBARES
SREHEEEEBERORSE Z
ATz EBBKMES0T :

Hz—_=2-_—F#+_-_A=+—H
EFE

Employer’s
contribution
Salaries, toa
allowances retirement
and benefits Share benefit
Fees in kind awards scheme Total
ExH
k=4 EHREF
e ENRS g TEMHER @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
TER TER TER TER TER
Executive directors: HiTES:
Xu Tie-liang (Chief TR (THAER)
Executive Officer) 120 11,513 41,160 18 52,811
Gao Falian (appointed BEE(CEZ-—F
on 17 May 2021) AATHRER) 75 1,196 — — 1,271
Guan Yijun BHE 120 2,990 — 18 3,128
Liu Chunsun (resigned AFEF(ZT=—F
on 17 May 2021) FA+EAER) 46 — — — 46
Xu Ran (appointed FR(ZEZ—F
on 2 November 2021) +—-A-BEF) 20 146 — 3 169
Independent non- BYFYTES:
executive directors:
Li Yun-long (resigned FER(ZTZ-F
on 17 May 2021) A+ BEHE) 46 - — — 46
Wang Wenhua (appointed EX#E(ZZ=—F
on 17 May 2021) AATHRER) 75 — — — 75
Wang Guang-tian TER 120 — — — 120
Yang Jie BA 120 — — — 120
Total A&t 742 15,845 41,160 39 57,786
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12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 12 é%ﬂm&ﬁéﬁ (BB QT
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF Pl (55622%F ) 55383fk - N5
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (FEEEREH ,éfﬂ) RAN (58
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE 622GE) R &EB L HHRAIER
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF =) (&)

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND
HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) E=EBE (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2020: HE-ZTZ-_ZTF+=-A=+—H
IHEFE
Employer’s
contribution
Salaries, toa
allowances retirement
and benefits benefit
Fees in kind scheme Total
EEHRIK
e Rk B &
fiikn EWHlE i3 ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THER THT TR
Executive directors: YTES:
Xu Tie-liang TR (TREH)

(Chief Executive Officer) 120 10,164 18 10,302
Guan Yijun BHE 120 1,430 18 1,568
Liu Chunsun AEF 120 161 — 281
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:

directors:

Li Yun-long ZEE 120 - — 120
Wang Guang-tian TEH 120 — — 120
Yang Jie BA 120 — - 120
Total Eh 720 11,755 36 12,511
No directors of the Company waived any emoluments and no BMEARNEETHEEMNHE + &
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors ERERTAARESINME
of the Company as an accepting office as director or as a EREXEFTRUZ ZREA BT
compensation for loss of office as director. EEBMEE -
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12 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G) AND
HK LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(b)

(@]

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary
undertakings (2020: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the
early termination of the appointment during the year (2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors
for making available the services of them as a director of the
Company (2020: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors during the year (2020: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2020: Nil).
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(continued) (#)

13 TAXATION 13 i1\
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group R &R B 0 AR 6 TS 30 A SR B ] 7 A A
did not have any assessable profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax for BEBEMNNER ZERB RN Eﬁ( i’[ |
the year (2020: Nil). EANGHIFRBERS (ZZ 4
f|) o
Pursuant to the relevant PRC corporate income tax rules and RIEAE P B G RE RGN
regulations, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in BTN NF-—HA—HE H2AF
respect of profits earned by the Company’s PRC subsidiaries from 1 B fff B A A Fﬁ BRE 2 % M B R iR B IR
January 2008 onwards at 10% (2020: 10%). Certain entities of the 0% (ZZEZZFF : 10%) 2 B X Z W
Group with Hong Kong business and directly owns at least 25% of the BB - ETHEEEXGEEER
capital of the PRC subsidiaries are entitled to the lower withholding tax EREWEA ﬂ EY ’J\25%%$ ZEEE
rate at 5% (2020: 5%). BEAS% (ZT_FF :5%) WK
BB -
In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income tax laws, BIEEERRECEMSHER %E B
regulations and implementation guidance note, subsidiaries in FMEWmMEE ':F‘ l RN NS g
Mainland China are subject to the PRC corporate income tax rate at B EB% (ZEZFF : 25%) %%5( i
25% (2020: 25%). Certain subsidiaries are entitled to tax concessions HEMER - % THEARZAR
and tax relief whereby the profits of those subsidiaries are taxed at a BEERER Bt ZEMBAF
preferential income tax rate of 15% (2020: 15%). A ABERMERNEIS% (ZF =

TE D 15%) BT o

Canada income tax has been provided for at the rate of 23% on FARME KGR 23% % (4 51 FER
the estimated assessable profits for the year (2020: 24%), which MaMetiR (ZZ2ZF : 24%) - BIf
represented the tax rate in Alberta, Canada and the Canada’s federal MIABE R ME XA ED R R8%
tax rate of 8% (2020: 9%) and 15% (2020: 15%) respectively. (Z2ZFF :9%) R15% (ZFE=F
F 1 15%) °
2021 2020
—B-—fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Current tax: EARIIA ¢
PRC corporate income tax REI SR 287,905 222,596
(Over)/under provision in prior years BAFEREBCRE) /TR (4,135) 2,276
283,770 224,872
Deferred tax (Note 29) IEFER A (F13E29) 192,856 (109,271)
Taxation IR 476,626 115,601
There is no tax impact relating to components of other comprehensive HE-ZT-_—F+-_A=+T—HBILHF
income for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). E-YEEE ﬁ fth 2 TE U 5= A K B
IHBBTE (ZE_FF &) o
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13 TAXATION (Continued)

14

13

The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax

rate applicable to profits of the Group as follows:

* IE (,.5

SEBRHAGEN 2 HARERERSHE
MM MEFORETELZEREEE
ZMF

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Profit before taxation B i A i A 1,990,560 630,916
Tax calculated at the applicable rates in the tax 1% #8 B8 # I B A 4 2 38 A ff R
jurisdictions concerned FTEMTIE 509,818 142,768
Tax effect of associates and joint venture’s BERNRREELEXERS
result reported, net of tax %Rfkg’ M HBR TR IE 2,846 888
Tax effect of income not subject to taxation BEARBTIMABO R G2 (25,362) (27,296)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax by AT N e - )
purpose W E 7,427 13,146
Tax effect of tax concessions TWOR R e B T =2 & (47,113) (37,003)
Unrecognised tax losses RERBIEEE 23,692 9,810
Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses FARERBIEEBE (9,202) (5,665)
Withholding tax on dividend income B B ATEHBE 11,240 10,031
Effect on change in tax rate MEEHHTE 7,415 6,646
(Over)/under provision in prior years BAEFERE(BE) TR (4,135) 2,276
Taxation g 476,626 115,601
The weighted average applicable tax rate is 25.6% (2020: 22.6%). NEFHEBY X AE256% (ZTZF

The increase is caused by the effect of change in the profitability of
the Group’s subsidiaries in respective jurisdictions, especially due to
the increase in the loss before taxation for entities with zero tax rate in

certain tax jurisdictions.

DIVIDEND

14

The Board has decided not to propose final dividend for the year ended

31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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15 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the Group’s
profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$904,182,000 (2020: HK$28,757,000) and weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue less shares held under share award
scheme during the year of approximately 5,031,735,000 shares (2020:
4,931,915,000 shares).

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has two
categories of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options and
shares held under the share award scheme during the year. For the
share options, a calculation is performed to determine the number of
shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the

FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)

R EERERRMEDERARES
A FE 1 & B % % 49904,182,000/8 7t (=
T~ T4 228,757,000 L) REFEARB
BT EBBRORR G REF BB T AR
1518 2 INHEF 98 4)5,031,735,0008% (=
T T4 : 4,931,915,000%) °

i3]

BREERNDERRMELEEED
ZEBRCEEHRZEBERLT » HELH
BETAEINMEBRRZ MEFHE -

RAEMBABFEN 2 EBR - BR
BEFARKNEREMSANRK
e shEREMNS  BFHRFEERE
FrAMRRITEBEEZRBREZER

average annual market share price of the Company’s shares) based on BEEAFE (UAaRD22FFY
the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding MEREFE) BAZRMDEE KKK
share options and future service cost. RIS AN RETE
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHBT
Profit attributable to owners of the Company A & # B A 15 % A 904,182 28,757
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  4F (A & 8 17 3% 38 % 6l A% 19 52 B
in issue less shares held under the share sTEIE SRR D 12 2
award scheme during the year (thousands) niEEEH (FRR) 5,031,735 4,931,915
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 5 i% 58 22 F| 3 578 A% A1 4 S 15 1
for diluted earnings per share (thousands) (FR%) 5,031,735 4,931,915

The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: same) as the outstanding
share options did not have dilutive effect because the exercise price per
share option was higher than the average share price of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: same).

ERBERNERBEE_ZTE-_—F+=
A=+ BUHEFENERERAR (=
T-FTF R REAARTTENER
X EBEBED I EREMER
EZTEEeRAABE_T-_—F
T+ A=+ BLFEZFHRE (=
T_FTF @A) e
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(continued) (#&)

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 1% - BMERZHE
(Note (if) (Note (i)
Plant and 0il and gas (Note (i) Construction in
Buildings machinery properties Pipelings Others progress Total
(Hisx(in) (Hz) i)
B HERBE HRAE B i ERIE i
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TiEn Tin TiEn TiEn Tin Tin Tin
As at 1 January 2020 R-B-%%-5-8
Cost R 924,691 1,182,399 430517 4,014,360 396,946 1,299,859 12138772
Accumulated depreciation, depletion ~ E3t17E - BERAE

and impairment (220,080) (516,284) 2,035,177) (1,023503) (274,816) - (4,069,860)
Net book value EASE 704611 666,115 2,285,340 2,990,857 122,130 1,199,859 8,068,912
Year ended 31 December 2020 BEC3RETZAZT-H

335

At 1 January 2020 W-F-56-F-R 704611 666,115 2,285,340 2,990,857 122,130 1,299,859 8068912
Curtency reglignment LEL 39,251 36,218 13814 185,512 16,775 124,99 416,565
Acquisition of business (Note 32) W2 (H3i2) 57,350 13,236 - 288,113 2,552 82,628 43879
Disposal of subsiiaries (Note 33) HERED A (:33) (19,203) (6,876) - (13,573) (615) (8,727) (48,994)
Additions fix AZE 10,100 84,992 35,001 0112 1,028,800 1,186,888
Transfers #H 110451 35,724 - 13357 2397 (371,929) -
Disposals/written-off HE /g (9,068) (5,303) - - (1,466) (3,841) (19,678)
Depreciation and depletion for the year % 1T & B F (¥329)

(Note 9) (41912 (69,63¢) (102,250) (183234 (15916) - (#12,946)
Impairment loss HEEE - - (625,633) - - - (625,633
At 31 December 2020 W-Z-2E+-f=1-A 849,203 679,580 1,656,263 356,033 146,129 2,151,765 9,008993
As at 31 December 2020 RZEZ85+-A=1-H
Cost i 1,135,924 1,301,659 4,444,602 4,867,835 442,049 2,151,785 14,344,054
Accumulated depreciation, depletion  Z3HHE - BRERIE

and impairment (286,721) 622,079) (2,788339) (1,341,802 (296,120) - (5,335,061)
Net book value BAFE 849,203 679,580 1,656,263 3,526,033 146,129 2,151,765 9,008,993
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(continued) (#)

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 Y% - MEKXE (&)
(Continued)

(Note (iii)) (Note (ii))

Plant and 0il and gas (Note (i) Construction
Buildings machinery properties Pipelines Others in progress Total

(GE(0) (Br&E() (B i)
EP BERES HREE EE -4 ERIE Eh
HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
THR THR THR THn THn THn TR

Year ended 31 December 2021 HE-E--51A=1-H

LEE

t 1 January 2021 RZE--F-f-H 849,203 679,580 1,656,263 3,526,033 146,129 2,151,785 9,008,993
Currency realignment FCELS 17474 41,34 2,539 81,666 3,49 37,665 184,070
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33) HERBRR (H33) (5.461) (5,526) - (951) (49) (150) (12,13)
Additions RE 16,097 30,544 201,301 33,276 21N 1,280,395 1,603,784
Transfers En 83,594 1,667,598 - 360,910 15,875 1219m) -
Transfer from exploration and ERAURRTEEE

evaluation assets (Note 18) (1) - - 12,795 - - - 12,795
Disposalshwritten-off HE /i (2,369) (26,631) - (33,389) (1.820) = (64,209)
Depreciation and depletion for the year £ A1FE REFE (¥3t9)

(Note 9) (52,731) (123,297) (131,968) (230173) (22,483) - (560,612)
Reversal of impairment loss REEEEE - - 565,595 - - 565,595
At 31 December 2021 RZFz-F+ZF=1-A 905,807 2,263,502 2,306,525 3731312 183,355 1,341,118 10,738,279
As at 31 December 2021 WZBz-£+ZB=1-H
Cost ik 1,209,872 2,998,604 4,666,960 5,335,012 493,713 1341,718 16,085,879
Accumulated depreciation, depletion ~ E317E - BHRRHE

and impairment (344,005) (735,102) (2,360,435) (1,597,640) (310,358) - (5,347,600)
Net ook value FEFE 905,807 2,263,502 2,306,525 3731312 183,355 1,341,718 10,738,219
Notes: T -

0) Others mainly represent motor vehicles, furniture, fixtures and 0) EMmErEHEATHE RM HER
equipment, and tool and moulds with net book values amounting to HHEEIANEER  REFE
approximately HK$38,392,000 (2020: HK$35,189,000), HK$45,019,000 5 Bl #) 438,392,000 7T (— F = F
(2020: HK$38,841,000) and HK$99,944,000 (2020: HK$72,099,000) 4 : 35,189,000/ JT) - 45,019,000
respectively. B oL (Z & = & F ¢ 38,841,000/

70) $299,944,0000 T (=T = T 4 ¢
72,099,000 7T) °

(ii) During the year, the Group has capitalised borrowing costs amounting to (ii) FR - EEREGEREEEARALLEE
HK$127,327,000 (2020: HK$93,395,000) on qualifying assets. Borrowing X A127,327,00008 T (= & — T F -
costs were capitalised at the weighted average rate of its general 93,395,000/ L) ° fA B AN H — ﬂi
borrowings of 5.6% (2020: 5.6%). EEHMETEEE56% (ZE2F

F 1 56%) EXRL -
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B B 3% SR R B 5E

(continued) (#)

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

The recoverable amount of oil and gas properties is determined at the
value-in-use using a discounted cash flow method and is assessed at the
cash generating units (“CGUs") level within the segment of “exploitation
and production of crude oil and natural gas”.

The Group regularly assesses market commodity prices, costs to carry out
planned drilling programs, drilling results, and reservoir performance to
determine if there are any indicators of impairment of the Group’s assets.

The key assumptions for the calculation are those regarding the discount
rates and expected changes in future oil prices which are made reference
to West Texas Intermediate (“WTI") prices. The expected future oil prices
for the next five years ranged from US$67.2 to US$71.4 per barrel (2020:
US$48.0 to US$59.0 per barrel). The Group used a pre-tax discount
rates ranging from 10% to 20% (2020: 10% to 20%) to discount
future cash flows from the Group’s CGU (s). These rates differed based
upon classification of reserve type, commodity type, timing of future
development expenditures and operating burdens.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group determined that one of its CGUs
with the business segment of “exploitation and production of crude oil
and natural gas” has possible reversal of previously provided impairment
loss due to the increase in the commodity price forecast since the
last impairment test performed as at 31 December 2020. As a result,
impairment test was performed for that CGU at 31 December 2021. The
recoverable amounts of the CGUs exceeded its carrying values, and a
reversal of impairment of approximately HK$565,595,000 was recorded
during the year ended 31 December 2021. As a result of tests performed
in 2020, an impairment loss of approximately HK$625,633,000 was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2021, a one percent increase in the pre-tax discount
rate would result in an impairment of approximately HK$18,899,000
(2020: HK$87,886,000), while one percent decrease in the forecast oil
prices would result in an impairment of approximately HK$26,827,000
(2020: HK$31,750,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17 LEASES

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the

FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)

17 #HE

() REESUBRRIRERZEHE

HAMBRARLRBTIATERE

following amounts relating to leases: BB FIA
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FHERT FHET
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Land use rights T b 598,237 518,191
Office and other properties MAERHEAIE 65,708 70,866
663,945 589,057
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current )] 16,219 18,116
Non-current FERE 58,747 58,444
74,966 76,560

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2021 financial

year were HK$112,583,000 (2020: HK$80,034,000).

—E_-UBRFENEREEE
187 /112,583,000 T (ZE =&
£ 1 80,034,000 7T)
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B B 3% SR R B 5E

(continued) (#)

17 LEASES (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

17

HE (&)

Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss (i) REZRBERAZEE
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the BErTERERERIATHEEE
following amounts relating to leases: BEe A
2021 2020
—EBE-—F —E-EF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ks FET FHEIT
Depreciation charge of FRAEEEREEA
right-of-use assets
Land use rights b {5 A 9,407 9,886
Office and other properties MREREAMYE 9,958 13,322
9 19,365 23,208
Interest expense (included in MBERAGIAMBKER) 10
finance cost) 3,993 3,300
Expenses relating to short term HEHHERHENER 9
leases 1,519 1,328
The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31 HE—T —i"i' A=+—H
December 2021 was approximately HK$21,974,000 (2020: IEFE ,Hﬂ FMEEREREBATEY
HK$18,924,000). #$21,974,0007%5 7_E (ZE=-ZTF:
18,924,000/ 7T) ©
The Group's leasing activities and how these are accounted (i) EEHEEEHRIKELR
for
The Group obtains right to control the use of office and other SEEREERHESR —BRH

properties for a period of time through lease arrangements.
Lease arrangements are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain wide range of different terms and conditions including
lease payments and lease terms ranging from 1 to 10 years
(2020: 1 to 10 years).

The Group also obtained the land use rights through lease
contracts with local governments in the PRC with 50 years term.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
depreciation of right-of-use assets has been charged in
"administrative expenses”. The Group’s lease expenses are
primarily for short-term leases.
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(continued) (#&)

18 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 18 BiRNFIHEE
2021 2020
—s-—%F TEEAF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Cost B AR
At 1 January R—H—H 128,444 153,063
Currency realignment B 1,031 1,760
Additions = 2,372 —
Written off (Note 9) e (FEE9) (4,025) (26,379)
Transfer to oil and gas properties under HEEYE - BERRK
property, plant and equipment (Note 16) BETBREE (ME16) (12,795) —
At 31 December R+=ZRAR=+—H 115,027 128,444
Exploration and evaluation assets represent the Group’s costs of RN EEEEERINE KRN B A
acquiring licenses and interests in undeveloped lands in West Central BEPETARAMELIHOTAIERER
Alberta, Canada, which are pending the determination of proven WA - BFEECHRBARFRHA
or probable oil and gas reserves. The costs are accumulated in cost MEEE - KA ERGHA - HHE
centers by well, field, or exploration area pending determination of FMEBRERKN AR LRE S FETE
technical feasibility and commercial viability. B REmETITH -
The technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral EETFERARER  HEREEZR
resource is considered to be determined when proven reserves are REEMEEEANTERERBEEE -
determined to exist. A review of each exploration license or field is ELEFHEHRTUIZIODHETR
carried out, at least annually, to ascertain whether proven reserves o MRESACEBEEHRBE o

have been discovered.
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(continued) (#)

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 BEEE
Other
Goodwill intangible
(Note) assets Total
HE
(M &) HMBREE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHEL FHET
As at 1 January 2020 R-B-FF—-HA—H
Cost AR 935,951 50,281 986,232
Accumulated amortisation BEH#E — (16,066) (16,066)
Net book value R FE 935,951 34,215 970,166
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-ZE-ZfF

+=A=+-HLEE
At 1 January 2020 R-Z-_TF—HF—H 935,951 34,215 970,166
Currency realignment SR 20,988 6,973 27,961
Acquisition of business (Note 32) Uk % 7% (P 3E32) 15,736 1,354 17,090
Additions NE — 15,703 15,703
Amortisation for the year (Note 9) F N () — (6,858) (6,858)
At 31 December 2020 R-ZZE=-ZTF+-A=+—H 972,675 51,387 1,024,062
As at 31 December 2020 R-E-ZEF+=-A=+-—H
Cost AR 972,675 77,510 1,050,185
Accumulated amortisation BEH# — (26,123) (26,123)
Net book value FmEFE 972,675 51,387 1,024,062
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-ZE--—-F
+=-A=t-HLEE

At 1 January 2021 W-ZE-—F—H—8 972,675 51,387 1,024,062
Currency realignment SR 8,985 1,276 10,261
Additions NE — 13,753 13,753
Amortisation for the year (Note 9) FN# s (fE9) — (9,407) (9,407)
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=ZF=+—H 981,660 57,009 1,038,669
As at 31 December 2021 RZB--5+=ZA=+—H
Cost AR 981,660 92,055 1,073,715
Accumulated amortisation Bt E — (35,046) (35,046)
Net book value RmEFE 981,660 57,009 1,038,669
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Note:

Goodwill is allocated to a group of CGUs identified for sales and distribution
of natural gas and other related products business, which is also an operating
segment, representing the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes.

The recoverable amount of the group of CGUs is determined from the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The key assumptions
for the value-in-use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the year.
Management estimates a discount rate of 13.0% (2020: 12.6%) using pre-tax
rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to this group of CGUs. The growth rate of 2% (2020: 2.6%) for
the next five years are based on industry growth forecasts.

The value-in-use calculations is derived from cash flow projections based on the
most recent financial budgets for the next 5 years approved by management.
Cash flows beyond 5-year period have been extrapolated using growth rates of
2% (2020: 2.6%) per annum, which is based on industry growth forecasts. The
Board considered no impairment loss is necessary as at 31 December 2021.

With all other variables held constant, if the expected selling prices used in the
value-in-use calculation were decreased by 25%, direct costs used in the value-
in-use calculation were increased by 11% or the discount rate used in the value-
in-use calculation had been increased to 134%, then the management estimates
the headroom would drop to zero as at 31 December 2021.

19
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(continued) (#)

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:

20 EREREARZIRE

EUMBRRNKERZ CEMAT -

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Associates /N 1,749,706 420,903
Joint venture BEME 8,712 8,453
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 1,758,418 429,356
The amounts recognised in the consolidated profit or loss are as R BERRERZSBOT ¢
follows:
2021 2020
—E-— & —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Associates iR /N] 7,684 (17,748)
Joint venture EEbE 38 (1,254)
For the year ended 31 December HE+-_A=T—HLFE 7,722 (19,002)
Interests in associates REE QAT ER
2021 2020
—E-—F R
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Share of net assets: EIHEEFE :
At 1 January m—H—8 420,903 369,629
Currency realignment B 18,862 3,595
Transfer from financial assets at HIEAFEGFAEMEE
FVOCI (Note (d)) Waz Mg EEE
(B 5E(d)) 59,500 —
Addition (Note (d) and (e)) //J\E (Bt 5E(d) M (e)) 1,242,757 —
Share of profits/(losses) of associates, net DB E QR (B18)
HEE 7,684 (17,748)
Fair value of retained investment upon HEWNBAREBRBEREZ
disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33) NFE (KTEE33) — 65,427
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 1,749,706 420,903
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(continued) (#&)

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Nature of investments in associates, which are limited liability
companies, as at 31 December 2021:

20 {F A

REELRERS (&

ARZBRE (&)

ZE - —F+ZA=+—H @ R
ENA (ABRAR) BKEZHES :

Percentage of

Country of interest held
Name Registered capital establishment Principal activities indirectly
MERE
A HfEx BRI ZER TEXK BEEII
EEPARBERER AR RMB20,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
("REER")
BETRZBERERAA AR%20,000000t  HE AAREE
(MZwaR])
Sino Director Limited (Note (a)) US$10,000 BVI Investment holding 25%
Sino Director Limited (M #%(a)) 10,000% 7 KBERRES REER
THEERARER AT RMB80,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 20%
THLEXREERAF A & #:80,000,0007T ] AREER
R (AR ERDA RMB80,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
("HARER")
PR (FR) BRAA AK%80,000000  HE AAREE
([hdmrl)
BN R AR A A RMB30,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
(" BN A )
EN R R A R A A AR%30,000000t  HE AAREE
(TEMAm])
SEUPHRERERRAR RMB80,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
("HEIWFEE") (Note (b))
SRUTEREREERAA A K #80,000,0007T i AAREE
(IB&WLFEZE]) (WD)
=Pt R R REM A F RMB20,000,000 PRC Trading of natural gas 49%
("=PFIBEEETE ") (Note ()
SHRERT AT REREELT ARE20000000  HE AAREE
(T=PukeeR]) ) (M)
EEXARE (Note (d) RMB200,000,000 PRC Construction and operation of 10%
underground natural gas
storage facilities and trading of
natural gas
EERARGE (M) AR #200,000,00000 HE WTRARFEERIBRR -
BERARREE
Shandong Shengli Co., Ltd. RMB880,100,000 PRC investment holding 22.16%
("Shandong Shengli”)
(Note (e))
BB RDERRA AR #880,100,000C R EH REER

(TBMBH]) (HEeE)

FHRREEBAER LT 2021FFIH
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20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 20 EREREARZIRE (&)
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)
Interests in associates (Continued) REEDRES (&)
Notes: BT
(@)  As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group invested in 25% equity (a T —FRZIZZZTFETZA

[ 3%

interests in Sino Director Limited as an associate. The subsidiary of Sino H - % [® & & R Sino Director
Director Limited is the beneficial owner of the mining rights granted by Limited (YE /&8 < R a)) HI25% MK HE -
the local government authority of the PRC. Sino Director Limited and its Sino Director leltedZ MERRRRH
subsidiary are collectively regarded as the “Sino Director Group”. Bl it ABBE BT B PI AT M B R T
Cl) T%E F2HE#=MAB A o Sino Director
Limited &2 H M B 2 7 % # & [Sino
Director Group] °
A business valuation was performed for the underlying assets of Sino fh 7 Sino Director Group 1A F A E 4 /&
Director Group, as the Sino Director Group has incurred loss for the 8 + Sino Director Group W B B E B
year. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value HEITEBMEE - IHEEBEHEERN
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is ATFEREEXNAREFEHAEENR
determined based on fair value less costs of disposal using discounted mE e AIREEENERFTRER SR
cash flow method. The key assumptions are discount rates, marketability EERBAFERLEXNAEE - @
and minority interest discount rate, forecasted production volume and REBERAWMEEXR  mBHBEXR - D
forecasted commodity prices. Management estimates a discount rate HRETRE  FAEEREAE®
of 13.09% (2020: 11.1%) using a post-tax rate that reflects current B  -TEEFEARREI TS YR
market assessment of time value and the specific risks relating to the 5 8 B8 77 fh 2 %% %% F % X Sino Director
Sino Director Group. Marketability and minority interest discount rate of Group Z %5 & B B& & 5 47 3R £ 13.09%
24% (2020: 24%), forecasted production volume of 31.75 (2020: 31.75) (ZE=ZFF :111%) - TATE X
million tonnes and forecasted commodity prices growth of 2% (2020: LEERITRER24% (ZTEFF :
2.6%) were used. 24%) ~ FEBES31.75 (T T F :
31.75) B EMERIBAIE RERER2%
ZEZTF 1 26%) °
The commodity price growth rate of 2% (2020: 2.6%) used in the ﬁ & EP KA REBRERR2% (=
calculations is based on inflation growth forecasts. Based on the business TTF 26%) DERBRERTE
valuation, management considered no impairment loss on the Group's Al o BIBZEBHEE  RZ2T=—
total investment in the associate is necessary as at 31 December 2021. ‘i’ A=+—8H EEER 7’5'5 EE S
RN Tmi@?xﬁlﬁbxﬂ’]ﬂ@@ﬁ
B -
As at 31 December 2021, the Group determined that the recoverable R-_TE-_—F+_-_A=+—8 " &
amount of Sino Director Group amounting to approximately Ep: )ESInO Director Group &) 7] 4 B €
HK$529,900,000 (2020: HK$650,825,000) exceeded its carrying value %8 %) /529,900,000 L (= & = &
amounting to approximately HK$232,253,000 (2020: HK$235,952,000). & : 650,825,000 7T) © B HEHKE
18 49232,253,0008 T (= T — T F :
235,952,000/ 7T) °
(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed its 51% by REBEE-ZT-_ETEF+-_A=+—HI
equity interests in its previously wholly-owned subsidiary, 5 # L B3 FE  SELSEUHIAHZ2ENEBA
% at aggregate cash consideration of approximately RMB39,985,000 ANERLRAEN%KRE  #RE
(equivalent to HK$44,784,000). The remaining equity interests in 5 #% KB B4 A K #39,985,0007T (&R
1L F ¥ were then re-measured at fair value as of the date of disposal 44,784,000 7T) - R T HBRILFERD
and accounted for using equity method of accounting. For details, please BEZENEEAHN A FEEH T
refer to Note 33. ilfiﬁﬁgm SEEANRR o AEFE -

I:FJ e E%jgﬁ u$33 °©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@

(d)

(V)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered into a
capital injection agreement with an independent investor which agreed
to contribute a total of approximately RMB20,816,000 (equivalent to
HK$23,314,000) into =PIk gEJR, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary.
Upon the completion of this transaction, the Group’s equity interest
in =PI AEJR decreased from 100% to 49% with a loss of control.
On the same day, the Group's retained interest over = P9I 82 J/R was
remeasured to its fair value, which became the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for such retained interest as an
associate because the Group has significant influence over =PIk AETR.
For details, please refer to Note 33.

On 29 June 2021, the Group further injected RMB60,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$72,000,000) into & X A & {# . The equity interest of the
Group remains at 10% upon the injection and the Group has appointed
a director in the board of % B X A & . Consequently, the Group
has significant influence over E & K #k 5 i whereby EE KA R
f## i became an associate of the Group and a transfer to investments
accounted for using the equity method was made from financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income at its fair value. Pursuant
to the investment agreement, the Group is required to contribute
RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to HK$238,000,000) to the registered
capital of EE XA RHIZE. As at 31 December 2021, the commitment
outstanding not provided for is RMB90,000,000 (2020: RMB150,000,000)
(equivalent to HK$109,800,000 (2020: HK$178,500,000)).

In November 2021, the Group has completed the acquisition of
22.16% equity interests in Shandong Shengli from various independent
third parties at aggregate cash consideration of approximately
RMB975,631,000 (equivalent to HK$1,170,757,000). Shandong Shengli
is listed on the main board of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code 407).
On 31 December 2021, the quoted market price of Shandong Shengli
was RMB4.44 per share and the fair value of the Group’s investment
in Shandong Shengli was RMB865,921,000. It is principally engaged in
the business promotion and application of clean energy natural gas. As
a consequent of the acquisition, the Group gained significant influence
over this investment and the investment was classified as an associate of
the Group.

Apart from Shandong Shengli, which is listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, all the associates are unlisted limited liability companies.

FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)

ERAEREARZIRE (#)

(0 REE-FT-_FTF+-_A=+-—H8B1
¢r£ EEHE— %?ﬁl&ﬁ%ﬁi&
EaE o AREAMEZ2ENBRAR=
Fwabﬁgém,\zﬁAEﬁzzoswooo
7T (48 25 723,314,000 JT) ° &N IK X
SEK%E - EEE=PIRAE RO E
H100% s 2 E=49% -+ 38 2% 2 4 4 o
REA » @R =PIk eE R RS E
HOEHTEEZHATE  HREE
HoFMRKEREEEATE Atz
SHEAABVIREE S - BEEBIES
A NRINREBESAR - BHEFE -
FE2MMIE33 -

(d) RZE-_—F~AZ+tNHALH £H
HE—FRNEEBARABETIEARE
60,000,0007T (48 & 772,000,000/ T) ©
AR SEMKRENDAI0% - £E
EEZAEERARARAFHEESRN—F
Ex Al SEHEEXA
BEEEAFE  EEXARIRE

ﬁJZFj%IE’JH"“"‘T WA X F B &5
E&Efﬁ')\ﬁfmﬁ &

ﬁ?ﬂa/\ﬁs A E a@&ﬁ o IR ¥R
HEHE EEEREERARMH
/i & A0z & A R #200,000,000
7t (#8 & #°238,000,0005# 7T) ° » —
——H+-A=+—H & HREH
K& FFHE B AR 90,000,000t (=
= — T4 AR #150,000,0007T) (#8
& 109,800,000 7L (Z T =T F
178,500,000/ 7T) ) °

A 3 A

() RZTE=Z—F+—8 SENBES
9B 4 A B #975,631,0007T (/&
1,170,757,0007% 7t) 58K A % @ 98 32 &
= FUWEBAIRMD22.16% B - B
BORRINEBEEXZAER LW (R
ERBL07)  c RZZT=Z—F+=A
=+—8 E%?ﬁuﬁﬁﬁmmt%i&féz%/\
R#ad47w /R SEEBEFBRDHEH
®EQNFEABARKSE5921,0000T °
TEREBFRERAARELHEEN
FER - ERKEBNGER  SEHZE
BEASEAYEN  wBREWREAR
EEMEE AR o

H  BRRIIEFZ S LT R
S FTAMERRHARETHER
BEERAA -
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

(i)  Sino Director Limited, & & X & & f# & and Shandong
Shengli are considered individually material to the Group.
The aggregated financial performance for associates which
accounted for using the equity method was follows:

20 EREREARZIRE (&)

() Sino Director Limited + EE X AR &
HERBARMD D AEEBHEE
BEBEAREE - TAEZEA
R E N AT EATBERADNT ¢

Shandong Shengli
Sino Director Limited BEERRRRE (Note)
BRR B

Sino Director Limited EEAARRE (H&)
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“5--% - S 2 “3--% it S 33 “B--% - Sl 43
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAL ThAn THEL TER TAL
Current assets HEEE 206,700 206,551 622,186 - 2,636,751 -
Non-current assets ¥RHEE 1,382,203 1,288,780 1,589,098 - 5,949,540 -
Current liabilities HEEE (509,180) (499,260) (636,796) - (4,171,498) -
Non-current liabilities FRBAR (1,007,167) (908,722) (232,424) - (728,350) -
Net assets EEFE 72,556 87,349 1,342,064 - 3,686,443 —

Group's share of net assets SENHEERR 18,139 21,838 134,206 — 816,916

Goodwill AE 214,114 214,114 = - 378,262 —
Carrying amount BAE 232,253 235,952 134,206 — 1,195,178 -
Revenue L 344,360 177,152 - — 5,457,146 —
(Loss)/profit for the year En(BE )//mﬂ (21,132) (121,708) 61 - 130,710 —
Other comprehensive incomef(loss) ~ Efi2ENRE /(B 6,339 4,763 - — 77,599 —
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2 (E#8) / Wﬁ?’i%@%ﬁ (14,793) (116,945) 61 — 208,309 —

Note:

Shandong Shengli contributed net profit of HK$21,787,000 and share of
profits by the Group of HK$4,828,000 since the date of acquisition to 31

December 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

(i)

In addition to the interests in associates disclosed above, the
Group also has interests in a number of individually immaterial
associates that are accounted for using the equity method.

SRR

(continued) (#&)
20 FRAEREARZKRE (48)

REELRERS (&

(i) BRLEMBEEOB =B EEIN
SENHEAETEMNFEEREZ

R R T ONCE S

BEREANE ©
2021 2020
—E-—f ZE-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHET
Aggregate carrying amount of individually (ERIES= 2N /N Iz
immaterial associates RHEEEASR 188,069 184,951
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of: &£ E KR {5 45
Profit for the year F 55 F 1,790 3,594
Other comprehensive income H b2 E W R 1,328 7,894
Total comprehensive income HKEREE 3,118 11,488

Save as disclosed above, there are no other material
commitments or contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interests in associates.

BREXHEEEIN  LUEEKHE
REBEARESARZEMNEM
ERAESLRAE -
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#&)

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interest in a joint venture

Nature of investment in a joint venture, which is an unlisted limited
liability company, as at 31 December 2021:

20 EREREARCKRE (&

EEECEPER

RZZE-_—%+-A=+—8 " H3¥F
FHEREERARNGLERENRENLE -

Percentage of

Registered Country of interest held
Name capital establishment Principal activities indirectly
BERE
=E HEMEAR M ZBER FTEEK EEADL
I SR ER@ALBR AT RMB PRC Trading of coalbed methane 35%
WEEEERBEAR AR AR Eal= REREER 35%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

Interest in a joint venture (Continued)

The joint venture is currently considered not material to the Group and
is accounted for using the equity method:

SRR

(continued) (#&)
20 ERAEREARZKRE (&)

HEEEREINERS (F)

ZEELEAMBRANEEMSL R
BEXR - FtEREREANR

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETHF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH&xT FHET

Carrying amount of the joint venture AENEEEEER 8,712 8,453
The Group's share of: SEMMDEE

Profit/(loss) for the year FNEF, (FBE) 38 (1,254)

Other comprehensive income H b2 mE ks 221 513

Total comprehensive loss 2HEBERT 259 (741)

There are no material commitments or contingent liabilities relating to
the Group's interest in the joint venture.

BEAEENGZLENESARNE
REZHHARARE °
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#&)

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(i) Classification of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income comprise:

o Equity securities which are not held for trading, and which
the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to
recognise in this category. These are strategic investments
and the Group considers this classification to be more
relevant.

o Debt securities where the contractual cash flows are solely
principal and interest and the objective of the Group’s
business model is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets.

(ii)  Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income comprise the following investments:

21 BAVESFAHMERRZEZ
MBEE

() BEAFESFARMEERZEZHHE
BEZDHE

BRAFEFAHMGCGE2E RS 2 M
BEEBH

s UHFKFEENERAES
REBCRYFHERETH
B E E A E R AR A
EROBAER - ZFEREFH
REEKRE  BEERRK
DEERMERIMKE

s ANBREREBAB/INMNA
ERFMEMEBES - BE
EEBELANHEFTRAKRIE
HWReERENHEVBEE
MAAER -

(i) BRAFEFAHMEEKEGE ZRA
RE

BRAFEFAEMGEE RS Z K
EREBEATRE :

2021 2020
—BC-—F —ECTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FiET

Equity securities: fRAFE % -
— listed in Hong Kong —EH/BLM 81,846 56,172
— listed outside Hong Kong — BB L 116,033 4,809
— unlisted —A&EH — 59,500
197,879 120,481

On disposal of these equity securities, any related balance within
other reserves is reclassified to retained earnings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(iii) Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income comprise the following investments in listed and unlisted

SRR

(continued) (#&)

21 BAFEFARMEERGE 2
MBEE (&)
(i) BAFEN AR LR E RS2 H

RE

BAFEFAEMCEZAKRSE 2@
BREBBEATRETRAR LD

bonds: BEHEZERE
2021 2020
—E2=-—fF —TEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Debt securities: EREE

— listed in Hong Kong —GEHELM 38,388 83,091
— listed outside Hong Kong — BB LT 53,078 429,973
— unlisted —KEmm 450 450
91,916 513,514

On disposal of these debt investments, any related balance
within the fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

REEREEBRER  BAY
Bt AEtbzmBRSfEERNZE
MEBERERHSBEEES °
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(continued) (#&)

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21 BAFEFTAEMEEKZEZ

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued) BBEE (&)
(iv)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss and other (iv) RMafsEEREMmEEKE R
comprehensive income RZEH
During the year, the following (losses)/gains were recognised in FRo Y (E8) SRR F
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. HEBEREMEEREPER -
2021 2020
=B —F —T_ZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHEIT

Losses recognised in other comprehensive £ £ fth 2 [ Ut 25 7R FE R B B 18

income (58,567) (79,391)
Gains reclassified from other HEUNAFEFAELMEE

comprehensive income to profit or loss Wz BB 518 & R E A

on the sale of debt investments at fair cHBREETHEER

value through other comprehensive Fl=x & 1B 1% T

income 3,253 6,303

Dividends from equity investments held at 7 £ th U 25 &b #93% | sk &5 18
fair value through other comprehensive — HEZR K IZ A FEF A Hib

income recognised in profit or loss in 2HERE 2 BRAIEERRE
other income (Note 7) (fI5E7) 497 1,087
(v)  Financial assets pledged as security (v) EBERNCERTKEE
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, no financial assets at FVOClI is RZEZ—FMNZZEZEF+=
pledged to any banking facilities. AR=+—H  #EEQFEFTA

H2HWE 2V BEELR T
EERITRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

(vi)

Fair value, impairment and risk exposure

Information about the methods and assumptions used in
determining fair value is provided in Note 4.4(i).

Debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive
income are considered to be low risk, and therefore the
impairment provision is determined as 12 months expected
credit losses. The Group has assessed that the expected credit
losses for these financial assets are not material under the 12
months expected credit loss method. Thus no loss allowance was
recognised as at the balance sheet date. For details of the credit
risk management, please refer to Note 4.2(b)(v).

The carrying amounts of the financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income are denominated in the following
currencies:

SRR

(continued) (#&)

21 BAVEFAHMEEREZ
MBEE (&

(vi)

DNFE - RERER

EHEEAFEMALTERRR
B B R #R BT RE4.46) -

BAFEFAHEMbEE WG 2 E
BEEWEAERE - HiEE
BEEDRR2EAEHMEERESE
T EECRENREABHEE
BEFATIHZSWEEEZTE
HEEBEBTEKN - Bt © B
HEATHEERGEEE - 56
EERBRERZFE - F2HMN
=4.20b)V) °

BAFEFAEME2E KR ZHM
BEERMERATEREE:

2021 2020
—E_—4F —ETF

HK$000 HK$'000

FH&T FHET

us$ ETT 217,079 513,064
HK$ BT 72,716 61,431
RMB AR — 59,500
289,795 633,995
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RS B IS AR Y R

(continued) (#)

22

23

INVENTORIES 22 78
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FAET
Raw materials [k 247,574 181,066
Work-in-progress TEEm 83,576 69,922
Finished goods and natural gas WK mERAR 77,081 77,398
408,231 328,386

CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND

23 AHNEE BT > BERH

OTHER RECEIVABLES ity FE UK IR
2021 2020
—E-—F T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBET
Trade receivables (Notes (b) and (c)) B 5 EI s E (M5 b) & () 915,839 630,005
Contract assets (Notes (b) and (e)) EHEE (H5EDb) &) 194,210 145,661
Loan to an associate (Note (d)) ERTEERR (K 5E) 1,057,336 944,233
Loans to third parties ERXRTE=FH — 17,572
2,167,385 1,737,471
Prepaid construction costs T A A 162,149 169,717
Prepayment for acquisition of land use rights U B8+ Hb {5 A #E TE A 3R IR 40,785 36,086
Prepaid natural gas costs TE R AR AR 665,382 459,921
Prepaid material and equipment costs TE A MR R RR K AR 211,604 280,711

Interest receivables from an associate (Note (d)) & Ug — BBt & 2 & 7 8

(BT 3 (d)) 134,821 188,388
Amounts due from associates (Note (g)) fE UL B & N R R IE (BT () — 53,401
Consideration receivables WA A(E 15,600 38,066
Other interest receivables H fth fE UM F B 7,204 7,027
Other prepayments H th 78 14 1B 56,087 135,487
Note receivables B EE 101,364 35,759
Other tax receivables H fth 7] g B #7218 83,000 89,794
Other receivables H fth fE W 3R IR 213,462 121,107
3,858,843 3,352,935
Less: Non-current portion o EREE S (1,183,053) (1,201,201)
Current portion IR sl 2,675,790 2,151,734
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23 CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The carrying amounts of deposits, trade and other receivables
approximate their fair values as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables and contract assets. The Group has assessed that the
expected credit losses for these financial assets are not material. Thus no
loss allowance was recognised as at the statement of financial position
date. Information about the impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets, and the Group's exposure to credit risk and risk management can
be found in Note 4.2(b)(iv).

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from 60 to 90
days to its trade customers and keeps monitoring its outstanding
trade receivables. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by senior
management of the Group.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as

23

SRR

(continued) (#&)

BHREE BE - ESRHE
fib FEUS TR IR (48

P L

(a) HMNTEFEILAEXN e BF
REMERFEZ EAERERATE
HE -

by SERBEEFBRS LR ERG
LA EBEHMEREER  RAER
SR FERENEEER 2 HEH
BEEEE  SEEFEZEVBEE
MEHREEER  2BEYTEN - B
It RS AAOR R B R AR
BEEEE - BFHEZIRKREME D
BENREEHN  UREEBHEERNE
RREERMEARERES @ F28HE
4.2(b)(iv) °

0 SBEHKTFTEHESIEFZFHEESN
T60E90H 2 » W B TEESIEH &
KEECESIRENBFE SERRE
EETHEMaBNES -

REBEZEZAHOE 5 R KA Z R

follows: DITWAT -
2021 2020
—E--F —TTHF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Up to 3 months =1ER AR 797,736 549,472
3 to 6 months =@EA=REA 50,551 27,799
Over 6 months NMEA M E 67,552 52,734
Total A&t 915,839 630,005
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nv'ﬁ

B B 3% SR R B 5E

(continued) (#)

23 CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(d)

BREE -

e BERHE

ﬂﬁ FEWRRIR (48)

Notes: (Continued) Mgk - (&)
Loan and interest receivables from an associate (d) EUR—EBHLEATEREANE
2021 2020
—E_—F —F2=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHAT FAT
Loan to an associate BERTHE AR 1,065,121 955,070
Interest receivables from an associate FEU —FEEE = A R FLE 135,815 191,748
1,200,936 1,146,818
Loss allowance EiaaHE (8,779) (14,197)
Total &&t 1,192,157 1,132,621
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a loan agreement with the J‘E/\\\ —E_ZFTF+_A=1+—H
associate amounted to approximately RMB700,580,000, RMB57,000,000 EEEBERAADNAEHNAR ﬁ?

and RMB45,000,000 bearing interest rate at 8.5%, 3% and 6% per
annum respectively. On 25 February 2021, 16 March 2021 and 14 April
2021, the Group further entered into loan agreements with the associate
amounted to RMB20,000,000, RMB5,000,000 and RMB25,000,000
bearing interest at 6%, 6% and 6% per annum respectively. As at 31
December 2021, the Group’s loan to Sino Director Group amounted
to approximately HK$1,065,121,000 (2020: HK$955,070,000). The
outstanding interest amounted to approximately HK$135,815,000
(2020: HK$191,748,000). The loan receivables of approximately
HK$140,875,000 (2020: HK$53,550,000) are repayable within 12
months and the remaining balances of approximately HK$924,246,000
(2020: HK$901,520,000) are not repayable within next 12 months. The
interest receivables are repayable on demand.

Management considered that the loan to the associate is low risk, and
therefore the impairment provision is determined at 12 months expected
credit losses. Applying the expected credit risk model resulted in the
recognition of a loss allowance of HK$8,779,000 (2020: HK$14,197,000)
as at 31 December 2021.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration
for gas pipeline construction and connection services completed but
not billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to
receivables when the rights become unconditional.
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(e)

700,580,0007T + A R #57,000,0007T
& A R #45,000,0007T B E Z 73 R F
F=EH B AE85% 3% K6% o R

T —49¥-A-+HE - 2T -—F=
ﬂ+/\a&fjffﬁmﬂ+ma .
EEEBERNADRE—FITILAR
#20,000,0007T /\EMS,OOO,OOOTE&
A K #25,000,0007T 8 B Z sk - F
A& D R B6% © 6% N6% o KN _F
7*$+*H_+ H - £ B [\ Sino
Director Group#e #t & X 491,065,121,000
Er(ZEZF ¢ © 955,070,000
JL) ° AKEF B 4 /1358150007 T
—ZT T 1 191,748,000 L) ° %
£ & I E 3 49140,875,0000 T (= F

— T 4 : 53,550,000/ T) AR121E A
NEE - 8T 4 8 49924,246,00078

7T (ZZF = ZF 4 : 901,520,000 7T) 4%
RRIEARATAEE - BT SZE
REREE -

ﬂ@@'m% BERTHE QA ER
2 AENREAEHEEBERET
BERE HKABEHEERBRERS
iﬂﬁ/\—;:*ﬁz+ )E] + Elﬁgwu
8518 B 158,779,000 1T (Z T T4
14,197,0007 7T ) ©
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(continued) (#&)

23 CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS, TRADE AND 23 BHEE - T - EFKH

OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) ftt FE SRR IR (7&)

Notes: (Continued) et (48)

(f)  The carrying amounts of the deposits, trade and other receivables () e  BH9RHMEKRFKE (TEE
(excluding prepayments and other tax recoverable) are denominated in TERRERE M RE R K HE®
the following currencies: BATHNEESE :

2021 2020

—E--F —TTHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

RMB AR 2,340,460 1,949,280
CAD i 54,020 36,703
Others Eph 51,139 49,575
2,445,619 2,035,558

24

(9) The amounts due from associates were unsecured, interest-free and

(9) EeRE=ELQF
EE

REREER  RER

repayable on demand. RIRBRER

TIME DEPOSITS, BANK BALANCES AND CASH 24 EHFR « |RITEHERE
2021 2020

—E-_—F —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH T FH& T

Cash at banks and on hand RITHEESMFERS 2,786,609 2,890,734
Short-term bank deposits BARITER 979,660 872,270
3,766,269 3,763,004

Less: Time deposits with maturity over three B FREBEA=EAZ

months E B F R (979,660) (836,570)

Cash and cash equivalents HekReEMBEIEHR 2,786,609 2,926,434

The interest rates for short-term bank deposits ranged from 2.2% to
4.2% (2020: 1.7% to 4.2%) per annum. The deposits have a maturity
of ranging from 90 to 183 days (2020: 90 to 183 days).

HHEBETERNEN X B22% E42%
(ZE T F 1 17% F42%) ° TR
HMR B90ZR183 K (ZZE_Z F : 902
183K) o
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(continued) (#)

24 TIME DEPOSITS, BANK BALANCES AND CASH
(Continued)

Included in bank deposits, bank balances and cash are amounts of
approximately HK$3,467,269,000 or RMB2,842,024,000 (2020:
HK$3,711,506,000 or RMB3,118,913,000) denominated in RMB which
are deposited with banks in Mainland China. The conversion of these
RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance
of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC Government.

The carrying amounts of the time deposits, bank balances and cash are
denominated in the following currencies:

24

ERFER - RITERKRRE
(#&)

EH

RITGEHR - BROEHEERASE2EMN
A R ¥ 5 B & #3,467,269,0007% JT
sk A R #2842,024,000T (= T —
T 4 : 3,711,506,0008 JT sk A R #
3,118,913,0007T) @ I 17 7 A B A i &9
R1T - ZEAREEE L & KB
B AP B AMIE LSS BETREK
FEMOIINESERERE

o

EHAER  ROTESKLERSZERE
T EHEHE :

2021 2020

—E-—F —EZTHF

HK$"000 HK$'000

FET FAT

RMB AR 3,576,018 3,712,305
Us$ ETT 98,976 34,013
HK$ T 15,251 15,311
CAD ot 75,600 950
Pound sterling e 424 425
3,766,269 3,763,004
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(continued) (#&)

25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25 BSRHEMENRIE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE& T FAET
Trade payables g 5 I8 656,799 448,525
Construction cost payables JE T & K AR 620,169 425,173
Consideration payable ERKE — 18,207
Interest payable JE - ) & 46,353 95,016
Salaries payables B %< 61,723 47,055
Other tax payables E fh pE % 18 20,431 23,301
Other payables and accruals EmENRIERESER 2,698 228,928
Amounts due to associates (Note a) FEfRTEE & AR IE (M aa) 6,215 —
1,414,388 1,286,205

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables approximate their BHREMENRBEZEREELQT

fair values. BEEE -

Note: B aE

(@)  The amounts due to associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable (@) ENBEZARREAERTF - 28K
on demand. BIRERKER -

REZZDHNNBEZENRAZRED

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

follows: W
2021 2020

—E-—F —TTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FE T

Up to 3 months =@AMNUA 523,098 357,221
3 to 6 months “@AENMEA 55,107 37,632
Over 6 months NE A E 78,594 53,672
Total =g 656,799 448,525
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(continued) (#)

25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables (excluding other
tax payables and salaries payables) are denominated in the following

25 BEFNHMENFIE (&

B LEMENFE (TEEEMEN
BRRENHS) WEAEBER NG

currencies: 1A -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FHET
RMB ARE 1,200,423 1,071,431
HK$ T 64,648 89,390
CAD il 67,163 55,028
1,332,234 1,215,849
26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26 SHEME
2021 2020
—EC-—fF —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Receipt in advance for sales of natural gas and & XARZ L EMBHEE R
other related products Z AR IE 2,452,845 1,972,524
Receipt in advance for construction and MRAEERERERRS
connection services of gas pipelines Z AR IE 463,912 333,508
Receipt in advance for sales of coal gasification $E&EFE KT L EMBHEE R
and other related products 2 A IE 652 —
2,917,409 2,306,032
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FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)

26 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 26 SHNEE (&

(a)  The contract liabilities primarily relate to the payments received (@) AHEBBEFEZEMEHERBERA
in advance for sales and distribution of natural gas and other REHEMMEBEEMNALS RN
related products and construction and connection services of gas TEPZHMAEBESRERR
pipelines not yet delivered to customers. Below is the movement ﬂ‘“ ZBWRFEWREER - U TR
for the amount received from customers: REFPWBHSEEE

2021 2020

—E=-—F —E-FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx FAET

At 1 January J\E’\\* H—H 2,306,032 1,571,197
Currency realignment BHAE 190,238 135,648
Payments received in advance B W78 W s 1E 11,254,289 9,457,386
Redemption during the year FRNER (10,833,150) (8,858,199)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 2,917,409 2,306,032

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (b) EEEENEERKE
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TRIFTRAFEHLEESDN A
in the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. BEEENDEHER NG 2R

2021 2020
—=E-— —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
Revenue recognised that was included BEFEFIEAEE
in the contract liability balance at the A5 BR R AT A
beginning of the year
Sales and distribution of natural gas and HERBEARXARAKR
other related products H {th 18 B = m 1,613,174 820,845
Gas pipeline construction and connection MR EBEEREBRS
services 288,334 62,222

There is no revenue recognised during the current year related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior year.

AFEEHMEABRAFECEENEBELNER
TEBOHCHERWS -
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(continued) (#)

26

27

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 26

(c) Unsatisfied contracts with customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient of HKFRS 15 to
its fixed-price construction and connection contracts, as well
as sales and distribution of natural gas and other products
contracts, such that the information about revenue that the
Group will be entitled to when it satisfied the remaining
performance obligations under those contracts that had an
original expected duration of one year or less is not disclosed.

% BB 5 H B R (B 46 10 R
BANNBRBERBERARR
AMERANEREENERE
B F15% 2 B ATHE 2 5
1 T 4 45 45 B 17 % % IR 3 A
RA—FRELNANET 2 H
TR K E RS B R 0 B G B 2
Z A -

BORROWINGS 27 &R
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Bank borrowings, unsecured MITHER - EER 1,854,565 1,597,994
Other borrowings, unsecured Hihfgm - mER 1,220,244 740,417
3,074,809 2,338,411

Less: amounts due within one year classified B DERRBHEBER

under current liabilities —FRNEH R (1,345,142) (1,341,941)
Non-current portion FEE 1,729,667 996,470
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(continued) (#&)

27 BORROWINGS (Continued) 27 B (&
The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the BEMNEBABENATNIEEE - T
following currencies and carried at the following interest rates: T 5 R X5 AR
2021 2020
—E=-—F —E-FEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fa T FAET
RMB AR ¥ 2,685,170 1,857,435
CAD ot 350,605 414,893
usD ETT 39,034 66,083
3,074,809 2,338,411
At fixed rates 12 5E B 1,086,044 849,065
At floating rates 228 1,988,765 1,489,346
3,074,809 2,338,411
Weighted average effective interest rates MEFHERFE (BF)
(per annum):
— Bank borrowings — RITER 4.1% 4.1%
— Other borrowings — H b &% 3.8% 5.7%
28 SENIOR NOTES 28 BEEE
2021 2020
—B-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FAET
US$ denominated senior notes NETHEBENELERZRR 5,645,120 5,410,227
On 11 April 2017, the Company issued senior notes, with an aggregate RZZE—tFWHA+—B - 2RFKA
nominal value of US$350,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,712,500,000) {8 % 77 B8R ™ 42 B /A&350,000,0003 T (48
at par value (the “Senior Notes A”), which bear interest at 4.625% £ 72,712,500,0007 7T) ®) B %&£ Z &
per annum and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The ([BEEBAl) - EBEF4625%: 5
net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to BAMEBHYFEFXIN - MBREEZETE
approximately US$346,556,000 (equivalent to HK$2,685,809,000). FA 1& 2 P15 3R I8 )% §8 /5 £9346,556,0003%
The Senior Note A will mature on 20 April 2022 and are listed on the 7C (48 % 72,685,809,000/8 JT) » 8 %
Singapore Stock Exchange. EBRABRR-_ZE-__FMNA=-+HIH

ERFHFMBEESR S LT ©
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B B 3% SR R B 5E

(continued) (#)

28

SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 25 July 2019, the Company issued senior notes, with an aggregate
nominal value of US$320,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,712,500,000)
at par value (the “Senior Notes B”), which bear interest at 5.5%
per annum and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The
net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$315,932,000 (equivalent to HK$2,685,809,000).
The Senior Note B will mature on 25 January 2023 and are listed on
the Singapore Stock Exchange.

On 4 November 2019, the Company issued senior notes, with
an aggregate nominal value of US$30,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$236,453,000) at par value, which bear interest at 5.5% per annum
and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears and consolidated
with the Senior Note B to form a single class.

On 23 June 2021, the Company issued senior notes, with an aggregate
nominal value of US$400,000,000 (equivalent to HK$3,100,000,000)
at par value (the “Senior Notes C"), which bear interest at 4.7%
per annum and the interest is payable semi-annually in arrears. The
net proceeds after deducting the direct issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$398,782,000 (equivalent to HK$3,090,561,000).
The Senior Note C will mature on 30 June 2026 and are listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange.

On 2 August 2021, the Company redeemed in full the outstanding
aggregated principal amount of US$354,046,000 of the Senior Notes
A before their maturity at a total redemption price of US$358,632,458
(equivalent to HK$2,779,401,000), representing 101.156% of the
principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, by using part of the
net proceeds from the offering of the Senior Notes C.

As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of the senior notes amounted
to approximately HK$5,936,543,000 (2020: HK$5,516,211,000). The
effective interest is 5.47% (2020: 5.46%). The fair value of the senior
notes traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the date of the statement of financial position. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The senior notes are
within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
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28 BERE (&

R-ZE—-—AFE+tA-+EHRB 27K
M 18 % 77 Bk @ 42 {8 /4320,000,000% JT
(#H55722,712,500,00058 7T ) 18 £ Z &
([BEXZEHEB]) @ HEF55%rEH
MBEEFEFZMN  HBEERTER
1% 2 FT1S 518 )F 88 5 £9315,932,000% 7T
(1825 72,685,809,000/8 7T) ~ BEEE
BH#E’\fjffi B-+RB3H
WEFMPBLFR S LT ©

RZE—AF+—AWABE  2FE®A
B %% 77 BR ™ 4 {8 /30,000,000 T (18
£ 236,453,000 0) MELEEE - &
BFESS%T B EREBFFLN - M
BREEBEHEKE—LER -

RZE-_—4F"A-+=H 28k
T 18 % 17 8% @ 42 {& /5400,000,0003 7T
(48 % 7 3,100,000,0005%8 7T) 8 %&£ 2= &
([BRZEEC) RE8F47%rEH
MEBEFEFIMN  HBEERTER
% 2 FT1S 5018 )F ¥4 A #9398,782,000% 7T
(8% 73,090,561,000/8 7T) ~ BREE
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FMEBEHFZ S LT o
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7N 4 #8 %8354,046,000% T 0 42 0E @ B
358,632,458% T (8 & 5@2,779,401,000
BIT) 0 BARESEI01.156% M EET &
REFFE

R-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—80 " B%
ZR 2 A F{EHA5,936,543,000%8 7T (=
T - T :5516,211,0008 7T) - BE
7’FIJY7%S47% (ZZTZFF :546%) ©
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(continued) (#&)

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 29 EIEFBH
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary differences RIEFTS IR TR E & EEER M BARR
under the liability method using the tax rates enacted or substantively *AHEEMIEE LE /GO ERR
enacted by the statement of financial position date. TREEZE2HAE o
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a EHETURITEANTEEHHEEE
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current HEANKEERE  MEZEMEN
tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes related to the same //*/F LR B®ER - R SRR
fiscal authority. SEHEAEHAERH o
2021 2020
—E=—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHB T T T
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIBEE E (4,821) (5,810)
Deferred tax liabilities BB IEAE 315,331 123,615
Deferred tax liabilities, net RIERIE A EFHE 310,510 117,805
The net movements in the deferred income tax account are as follows: FEEFGREF 2 EEFEBOT ¢
2021 2020
B —F —E-FEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FH& T
At 1 January ®n—HA—H 117,805 228,440
Currency realignment B (151) (1,364)
Charged/(credited) to consolidated profit RERAEZANNER S (GFA)
and loss (Note 13) (F5E13) 192,856 (109,271)
At 31 December RtZA=+—"H 310,510 117,805
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(continued) (#)

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 29 EIEFTEH
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior to FRARLEMENEERBE (BEFA—B
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the BRLEER 2 EREER) 2ZH0T
year are as follows:
Deferred income tax assets EIEFMBHERE
Lease liabilities Asset retirement obligation Tax losses Total
AERE EEREAR REES Ait
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“%--f -"T-%f C-B--f C-%-%E -F--F 3% “§--F -3C%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TER TiEn TER Tin T Tin T Tin
At 1 January R—A-A (18,305) (14,340) (42,803) (34,002) (116,124) (87,542) (177,232) (135,884)
Curtency realignment~~ §H B (2472) (1,276) (250) (1,071 (982) (3,551) (3.404) (5,89)
Charged{credited) to A/ (BE)
consolidated profit GAER
or loss 2,307 (2,689) (2,480) (7,730) 4,916 (25,031) 4,743 (35,450)
At 31 December RTZAZT-8  (18170) (18,305) (45,533) (42,803) (112,190) (116,124) (175,893) (177,232)
Deferred income tax liabilities EEREHEE
Accelerated tax depreciation and
Right-of-use depletion Others Total
R MERERERBE i Ait
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“g--f& -Z-%f C-B--% -%-%f -g--f& -Z-%§f  ZBT-F  C-EC%E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn TER TEn T Tin T Tin
At 1 January R-A-H 16,952 13,164 213,367 327,543 64,718 23617 295,037 364,324
Currency realignment ELET 256 954 (487) 1,022 3,484 2,558 3,253 4,534
(Credited)/charged to RERERR
consolidated profit nk/ GA)
or loss (1,275) 2,834 154,194 (115,198) 35,194 38,543 188,113 (73,821)
At 31 December i B 15,933 16,952 367,074 213,367 103,396 64,718 486,403 295,037
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29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities (Continued)

During 2021, deferred income tax liabilities to the extent of
approximately HK$3,803,000 (2020: HK$18,583,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries in the PRC
because the Board considers that the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Unremitted earnings totaled approximately HK$1,902,103,000 (2020:
HK$2,119,790,000) as at 31 December 2021 and HK$24,023,000
(2020: HK$12,469,000) has been recognised as deferred tax liability
for the withholding tax.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2021, the Group
had unrecognised deferred tax assets for its tax losses of approximately
HK$36,966,000 (2020: HK$22,476,000) to carry forward against
future taxable income. All the tax losses will be expired within the next
5 years.

FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)

29 EIEFTSH (&)

EEFFERER (@)

7
i | |

Z—F > WERENHEEREM
FRIE (3% 7] A R S 3K L 74 AR B A9 B
BRARAZAELRF) BRELESH
& » LBRA%93,803,0008 7T (- F =
T 118,583,000 L)  JIHRES
PRABDER ZHEEEHAEEEH A
S EREEE RS TS ER R R R
B e RZE=Z—F+=_A=+—8 "
K IEH & F 8% %4 51,902,103,000
B o (Z T = F F 1 2,119,790,0007%
JL) 24,023,000 T (Z & = T F
12,469,000/ 7C) E L TEN B TR A IE

ERIEEE o

Mil

3 om B

piil

BEEMSHREENHBNBEANRSE B
ARARERBRBFNERABLER - A
REEBEBEEMER - K= ?*—i
+-A=Z+—8B £EZABERE
MBEEZMEEBELY 36,966,000/’% 7T
(ZZE -4 : 22,476,000/ 7C) * M4
EBREARERHIMALH - IERD
BB AR RSFREHE -
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30 ASSETS RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

The movements in assets retirement obligation are as below:

30

BERBEAE

BEREAEZZESHNT

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FH& T

At 1 January ®n—HA—H 186,103 147,844

Currency realignment B EE 1,086 4,660

Accretion (Note 10) w0 (M 5E10) 2,860 2,531
Site restoration expenditure ik 18 X (5,361) (923)

Change in estimates and discount rate fHEr RITIR R H) 4,805 29,728

Provision for the year FREE 8,481 2,263

At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 197,974 186,103

Note: B aE

In accordance with the relevant rules and regulations in Canada, the Group is BEMNMEXEERBRER  SEEREER

obliged to accrue the cost for land reclamation and site closures for the Group’s
ownership interest in oil and natural gas assets including well sites and gathering
systems. The provision for assets retirement obligation has been determined by
the directors based on their best estimates in accordance with the relevant rules
and regulations.
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(continued) (#&)

31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE 31 BAR - BREKRKRGREBET
AWARD SCHEMES £l
(a) Share capital (@) KBx
Number
of shares Amount
B EE S8
000 HK$'000
F & FERT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BR0.01B Tz LR
Authorised shares EE R
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, WZZE-ZEF—-HAF—08 -
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 —EZEF+ZA=+—
- —F—fF—AK
—E-—%+-fF=+—H 125,000,000 1,250,000
Issued and fully paid BERTRERE
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, EA_E f¢ A—8 -
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 —EEF+A=+—1
T —F—A—8K
—E-—f+-A=+—H 5,767,044 57,670
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(continued) (#)

31

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

(b)

Share option scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed by the
shareholders on 23 November 2011.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its discretion
offer options to any eligible participant who is an employee,
executive or officer of the Company or its subsidiaries (including
executive and non-executive directors of the Company or its
subsidiaries) and any suppliers, consultants or advisers who
will provide or have provided services to the Company or its
subsidiaries.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 10% of the issued
shares of the Company from time to time.

The maximum entitlement of each eligible participant in any 12
month-period shall not exceed 1% of the number of shares in
issue on the date of offer of an option.

The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 21 days
after the date of the offer, with a consideration of HK$1 for the
grant thereof. Exercise period in respect of the options granted
shall be determined by the Board and in any event such period
of time shall not exceed a period of 10 years commencing on
the date upon which such option is deemed to be granted and
accepted.

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an eligible
participant under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined
by the Board at its absolute discretion but in any event shall
not be less than the highest of: (a) the official closing price of
the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer of an option; (b) the average
of the official closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
guotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer of an option; and (c) the
nominal value of a share.
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31

B~ BRERRDRBE
2 (&)

(b)

B RERTE

BEKERR-_ZBE——F+—A8
“TH=ZABBZRER  RARK
MBS ([HERERE]) -

RIEBBRETS  EERATHIE
REBBRETENSERSERE -
BERZ2EER/DAHIEMER
AZREE  TTHRABHSABE
(BERARHEMBERARZHITR
FNTEE)  UREMAEEH
LERABANAIRENE QB RHER
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(continued) (#&)

31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE 31 BA - BRERKRGRE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued) 2 (&)
(b) Share option scheme (Continued) (b) EERRAESTE (&)
The Share Option Scheme was valid for 10 years from 23 EREFEAK -_ZFT——F+—A
November 2011. ZT=ZBREMBARBATE o
On 22 January 2016, in order to motivate and reward the RZE-—R"F—HAZ+=ZH " A
Company's staff, the Company had granted to certain eligible BEREBARETL - AEIEM
participants of the Company share options to subscribe for an HETAERSBEERLARE
aggregate of 100,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in & #£100,000,000% & &) f& 48 &
the share capital of the Company. The share options shall be REECOIE Tz @R ER
exercisable in the following periods: oo ERRMER T I B AT
—  30% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January — 30%MERER_-ZT—N\F
2018 to 21 January 2026; — A+ ZHE-ZT - AHF

—AZT—HA T

—  30% of the share options are exercisable on 22 January — 30%MERER-_ZT—hLF
2019 to 21 January 2026; and —AZ+ZHE-ZT - AF

—AZ+—BAFIE: R

—  the remaining share options are exercisable on 22 January — HEARBERER_Z_ZTF-—
2020 to 21 January 2026. A-Z+-—BE-_ZT - F—

RZ+—HAF17 -

() The number and weighted average exercise prices of the () FERESEERNETFETE
share options are as follows: BLT -
2021 2020
“E--F% —E-EE
Exercise Number Exercise Number
price of option price of option
TEE BREHA e (B BREHER
HK$ '000 HK$ '000
il '000 BT '000

Outstanding at 1 Januaryand M — A —H &
31 December +=-—A=+—8H
i R AT 0.46 86,560 0.46 86,560
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(continued) (#)

31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE 31 BA - BRERKRG B
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued) 2l (&)
(b) Share option scheme (Continued) (b) HERHESE (&)
(i) The following table discloses details of the Company’s (i) THEREEER-F=—F
share options held by employees as at 31 December 2021: + A=+ AR AR
LEEIE
Exercise Outstanding at
price per 31 December
Date of grant share Exercise period 2021
R=FB=—%
+=ZB=+—-H
& B8 BRITEE TEHD i R 1T
HK$
BT
Employees 22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2018 to 21 January 2026 16,560
== —E-RE—A —E-NF-A=Z+=ZAHZE
—+=-AR —EXRF—-RZ-+—H
22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2019 to 21 January 2026 30,000
—E-RE—H ZE-NF-A=Z+=ZAHZE
—+=-AR —EXRF—-RAR-+—H
22 January 2016 0.46 22 January 2020 to 21 January 2026 40,000
—E-R"E—H ZE-FEF-A=-F+=ZAHZE
—+=-AR —EXRF—-RAR-+—H
Total 86,560
A&t
The fair value of the options granted in 2016 FA_EAHETERR -
determined using the binomial option pricing model was T AEREMNERER Iiz ER
approximately HK$0.127, HK$0.148 and HK$0.171 per F1E S B # A F KR0127E T
share respectively. The significant inputs into the model 0.148% 7T K01718 L » R A K
were share price of HK$0.455 as at the grant date, WERBGABRBEARKRLE RN
exercise price as shown above, volatility of 40.99%, f& B0.455/8 Tt ~ E R RITHE
40.97% and 42.56%, expected life of options of seven &« 2 5l £4099% * 40.97% &
and six years, and annual risk-free interest rate of 0.993%, 4256% 2 KtE - BRES R AL
1.056% and 1.184% respectively. The volatility measured FRAFZEAGFHURS B A
at the standard deviation of expected share price returns 0.993% © 1.056% N&1.184% 2 &
is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s share BEFIR o 178 BIRR (B B R /Y
price over a period of eight, seven and six years before the TT EZFAEMNERDIZER QA
date when the options were granted. RERERERLBRZAINE

Tt ERANFHREZELIKE °
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31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

(9]

Share award scheme

On 4 November 2011, the Board approved the adoption of a
share award scheme (the “Restricted Share Award Scheme”)
with the objective to recognise the contributions by eligible
employees within the Group and to give incentives in order to
retain them for their continuing operation and development
and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

Pursuant to the rules relating to the Restricted Share Award
Scheme (“Scheme Rules”), shares are comprised of (i) shares
subscribed for or purchased by the Company and delivered to the
Trustee appointed by the Company (Note 37(c)) subsequently; or
(ii) the Trustee out of cash arranged to be paid by the Company
out of the Company’s funds to the Trustee and be held on trust
for the relevant eligible grantees until such shares are vested
with the relevant eligible grantees in accordance with the
Scheme Rules (“Restricted Shares”). The Board implements the
Restricted Share Award Scheme in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme Rules including providing necessary funds to the
Trustee to purchase or subscribe for shares up to 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

Under the Restricted Share Award Scheme, the Restricted Shares
are granted to eligible employees of the Company or any one
of its subsidiaries for no consideration but subject to certain
conditions (including but not limited to, lock-up period) to be
decided by the Board at the time of grant of the Restricted
Shares under the Restricted Share Award Scheme. The Restricted
Share Award Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from the
date of adoption.

FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)

31 RA - BBIRERR A REET
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(continued) (#)

31

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued)

(o]

Share award scheme (Continued)

The Restricted Share Award Scheme operates in parallel with
the Share Option Scheme. All options granted under the Share
Option Scheme continue to be valid and exercisable subject to
and in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme,
respectively.

Pursuant to the Scheme Rules, the Board may, from time to
time, at their absolute discretion select the eligible grantees after
taking into account various factors as they deem appropriate for
participation in the Restricted Share Award Scheme as a grantee
and determines the number of Restricted Shares to be awarded.
The Board shall cause to pay the Trustee the purchase price
and the related expenses from the Company’s resources for the
shares to be purchased by the Trustee.

The Trustee shall hold such Restricted Shares on trust for the
eligible grantees until they are vested. When the relevant eligible
grantee has satisfied all vesting conditions specified by the
Board at the time of making the award and become entitled
to the Restricted Shares, the Trustee shall transfer the relevant
Restricted Shares to that grantee.

For awardees who cease employment with the Group before
vesting, the unvested shares are forfeited. The forfeited shares
are held by the Trustee of the Restricted Share Award Scheme
who may award such shares to the awardees as instructed by
the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 99,820,000 (2020:
Nil) Restricted Shares have been awarded to employees without
vesting condition. Employee benefit expenses of HK$42,273,000
were recognised in the consolidated financial statements during
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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(continued) (#&)

31 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTION AND SHARE 31 RA - BRERKRDEREB
AWARD SCHEMES (Continued) 2 (&)
() Share award scheme (Continued) (0 KPpEEE (&)
Details of the Awarded Shares awarded during the year FRLEBR (G IFF &
For the year ended 31 December 2021: BE-_Z-_—-+=-HA=+—H
LEE:
Fair value
Date of award per share Vesting period
#HBH RERGHE BRAFE 5 B 5
HK$
T
Employees 98,820,000 0.42 Without vesting condition
E& B R
21 January 2021
—E-_—%—HA-+—H
Employees 0.42 Without vesting condition
E& BB R
20 May 2021
T —-FRA=-+H
As at 31 December 2021, there was no outstanding share RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—8"
awards granted to employees (2020: same). MERTRERENERITER G E
B (ZZ-FF : HRA) -
32 ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS 32

In July 2020, the Group has completed a business acquisition for 70%
equity interests n BIL G R EEMRAERAA, BEX B RE =
MR B R AR and W % & @R A R 2 A consisting of the
gas concession right business, natural gas pipeline network in Jishan,
Wanrong and Ruicheng counties in Shanxi Province, China from
independent third parties at cash consideration of RMB153,000,000
(equivalent to HK$171,360,000). The Group commenced to account
for the business combination from the acquisition date when the
Group gained control over the business. As a result of the acquisitions,
the Group is expected to increase its presence in these markets. It also

expects to reduce costs through economies of scale.

WEE R

N—_ZET_ZFLAH SFENERE®
R B A R #153,000,0007T (8 & »
171,360,000 7T) 2R T2 LB K8 =
MBBERANAR - BRBRLERRE
RARERRNMELERRERAFT0%
REMEFEKE  HSPBERABILSE
“THERBURTFELAELEEL - &
BB RRBETEEBRRXAR
EEMAS -  SEARERS (NEEE
SHEBNIEHER) ARBEBKE
AR - ARZEWE  EHEEEE
TSP MG A REE M- KIJ5iEE
i 8RR OB PR KRR o
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(continued) (#)

32 ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued) 32 WHEBEETE (&)

The Group commenced to account for the business combination from
the effective date when the Group gained control over the business.
Details of net assets acquired and the calculation of goodwill are as

SEBAEMBH (NEEESHEBY
EHIEE) RABEBEFAK - B
BEFRABELRBEFEDT :

follows:
2020
—E-EHF
HK$'000
FHET
Total cash consideration RRERE
Cash paid ENBE® 153,153
Consideration payable JE - 1K (B 18,207
171,360
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and FTRERI BRI EERFIAEARE
liabilities assumed WEERERE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BREREE 443,879
Other intangible assets (Note 19) EmmpEaE ([HE19) 1,354
Right-of-use assets CREEE 15,669
Other non-current assets Hih3Eme & & 861
Inventories FE 10,324
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeSHEIER 16,286
Deposits, trade and other receivables Re - B RHEAMEWRIE 267,172
Trade and other payables B 5 K& H b FE R IE (426,363)
Short-term borrowings RAEEE (16,800)
Contract liabilities aHBaE (56,462)
Long-term borrowings RAEEE (33,600)
Total identifiable net assets AIHEAFEERE 222,320
Non-controlling interests s (66,696)
Goodwill (Note 19) 8 (fE19) 15,736
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisitions WHEmMEE 2RSSR L FE
Cash consideration ReKE 153,153
Less ]
— Cash and cash equivalent acquired —BEERe KB SEFHEEE (16,286)
136,867
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)

The goodwill of HK$15,736,000 arising from the acquisitions is
attributable to acquired customer base and economies of scale
expected from combining the operations of the Group and the above
acquired subsidiaries.

Acquisition related costs were not significant and have been
charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The acquired business contributed revenues of HK$346,483,000
and net profit of HK$10,060,167 since the date of acquisition to
31 December 2020. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January
2020, consolidated pro-forma revenue and profit for the year
ended 31 December 2020 would have been HK$647,142,000 and
HK$11,438,000 respectively.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 30 July 2020, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which the
independent third party agreed to purchase, and the Group agreed to
sell, 51% of equity interests in 5 # || 7 % at cash consideration of
RMB39,985,000 (equivalent to HK$44,784,000). The transaction was
completed in July 2020 resulting in a loss on disposal of approximately
HK$1,552,000.

On 7 May 2020, i 2= (fk 1) ¥A R B BR A 7], was deregistered
resulting in a gain on disposal of approximately HK$18,000.

On 12 May 2020, the Group entered into a capital injection agreement
with an independent third party, pursuant to which the independent
third party agreed to contribute a total of RMB20,816,000 (equivalent
to HK$23,314,000) into = 915K 82 ))& for 51% of the equity interest.

On 11 January 2021, 4 August 2021 and 9 December 2021, % § &
MBEMRR AR AR, B A MR AAER R E and EER P H MR
R B R =X 1E A 7], were deregistered resulting in a gain on disposal
of approximately HK$200,000 and loss on disposal of approximately
HK$340,000 and HK$942,000 respectively.

32

33

FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)

WEBET (&)

Uy B & A HY) P #215,736,0008 TR B
WEEFPHENAHEESE FRB KRB
MEAR ZE(BBHEEMBELE -

HRAKBRAY TEXAEBRE-ZT
T+ A=t+-RIFEZHREAR
W a R AR IT R SRR o

EWERHRERE T _TF+_-A
=+—HB FhRBEBEMEES
346,483,000/ JT & #B #)10,060,1677%
T MREEBEBER_ZE_FF— A
—R#ET BHE2E_ZET_ZEF+ A4
ST HALFEREBEEEER LA
# 5 Bl A647,142,0005% JT 511,438,000
BT e

HEM B LA

RZE_ZFTF+LA=+H £HHEH—
EBIF AL EEHH - Bt
BYFE=—FREBEMREERZLER
FHILMAEMSI%RE  ReEREA
A R #39,985,0007T (18 & 744,784,000
BIL) - RERXRFHER_ZT_TF LA
T - EAEHEEIEA1,552,0008 7T °

RZZEZZEFRALH  FHEPHEF
ZHL) BMEBERRAAEEHE KR
#718,0003 7T, ©

RZZE_ZTEFRA+=-H - SEHF
VE=ZFFMNEEWZE  BUBISR
—FRER=MKERLESLZARE
20,816,0007T (#H & 123,314,000/ JT)
T AR EUR REEU51% o
RZEZ—F—A+—8 Z—ZF=—
FNANBE-_Z-_—F+=-AN
H ZEHFPhEmMRIERAA -
R RER AR RERF B
RERBETRAIWITHE  EHEEK
#m #9200,0008 TR HEBEES RO A
340,0005% JT A1942,00078 7T °
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(continued) (#)

33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 33

On 10 October 2021, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which the
independent third party agreed to purchase, and the Group agreed
to sell, 100% of equity interests in B R 2k LR % & B R 2 &,

HEMB AT (&)

—E-—®%+A+H
E-ZFIVEEHRE  BUHEBIE=
FREZRE  mEBRELERE "R
WEERIEEBR A A100% B #E - &

%
I

P EEREBY

resulting in a loss on disposal of approximately HK$7,486,000. B & E5 18 497,486,000/5 7T ©
On 12 November 2021, the Group entered into a sales and purchase RZEZ—F+—HA+=H &=
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which the BUYE=ZAUEEmE - BUET

independent third party agreed to purchase, and the Group agreed
to sell, 100% of equity interests in 37 T & Ji F Z= REJR B IR 2 &)
resulting in a gain on disposal of approximately HK$12,095,000.

The following table summarises the consideration received for the
disposal of subsidiaries and the amounts of the identifiable assets and
liabilities disposed of at the disposal date:

FZFREBE MEBERIZEEN
51435&3432%@%7@‘@/ A]100% Ky f i -
EHH & Y5 4912,095,0008 7T ©

TEREVSREEMNB AR RRORE
EREERHMEENTENEERE
B2 :

2021 2020
—E-—& —E-TE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEL
Cash consideration received EWReRE 22,160 8,957
Consideration receivables R E 15,600 35,827
Fair value of equity interest as of the REEBHRERTE
date of disposal (Note 20) (B 5%20) — 65,427
37,760 110,211
Less: Assets and liabilities disposed of: W BHEEERAE:
— Property, plant and equipment —ME - BEREH
(Note 16) (M zE16) 12,137 48,994
— Right-of-use assets —FREEE 8,933 11,792
— Inventories —FE 68 183
— Deposits, trade and other receivables —Ee  BHREM
& U 3% I8 3,097 5,535
— Tax recoverable — A Y [B] 7 78 — 1,006
— Cash and cash equivalents —RekBeEEER 13,938 53,093
— Trade and other payables —ESREMENFE (74) (1,936)
— Contract liabilities —&HEaE (1,581) (281)
— Tax payable —ERIE (225) —
Net asset value EEGFE 36,293 118,386
Add: Release of exchange reserve upon D0c U R R R R
disposal of subsidiaries &% — 3,281
Add: Release of non-controlling interests o BERAKE A B MR
in subsidiaries = 2,060 3,360
Gains/(losses) on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRARMZE
(Note 8) (B1) (M) 3,527 (1,534)
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26 B I R R MY RE

(continued) (#&)

33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 33 HEMBEAR (&
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is EHALEMBARIZRERESTET
as follows:
2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE& T FAET
Cash consideration received BEWREKE 22,160 8,957
Less: Cash and cash equivalents included in the 3 : 5t A H &M B2 FH
disposal of subsidiaries RekBEeFEIEE (13,938) (53,093)
Net inflow/(outflow) of cash and cash AAREEHMEBHESRE
equivalents included in the cash flows from MR RBESSEEER
investing activities A GRi) 8 8,222 (44,136)

34

CASH FLOW INFORMATION 34

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the
debt for each of the years presented.

movements in net

ReEng&s

RGNS R EEEEEZEN DN
EHFENED -

Net Debt BHFEH 2021 2020

—E-—F —TTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER FAET

Time deposits with maturity over three months = 1{& A LA - B HAH F #3773 979,660 836,570

Cash and cash equivalents RekBeSHEIER 2,786,609 2,926,434

Borrowings BE (3,074,809) (2,338,411)
Senior notes — repayable after one year BEER —ER—F1%

& 5& (5.645,120) (5,410,227)

Lease liabilities HEBaE (74,966) (76,560)

Net debt (R OE (5,028,626) (4,062,194)
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(continued) (#)

34 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) 3 REREER (&)
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
EftEE BETHMELENER
Time
deposits
with Senior
maturity Cash notes
over three and cash due after
months  equivalents  Borrowings 1 year Leases Total
REBB
ZEAN  RERRE -E&HH
ERER £{5ER R HEXRE Be At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET TET TET TETL

Net debts as at 1 January 2020 BE-Z2-%%-8-H

MERFHE 295,590 2,521,199 (1,435,280) (5,411,161) (60,874) (4,090,526)
Cash flows BemE 522,506 251,997 (734,501) - 14,296 54,298
Inception of lease contracts REEENREE — - — - (25,845) (25,845)
Foreign exchange adjustments HME B 18,474 153,238 (118,230) — (4,137) 49,345
Acquisition of subsidiaries KEHBAT - - (50,400) - — (50,400)
Other ity - - - 934 - 934

Net debts as at 31 December 2020 EHZ-Z-Z&E+_-A

=t- H E@ EBFE 836,570 2,926,434 (2,338411)  (5,410,227) (76,560)  (4,062,194)
Cash flows ReRe 129,030 (308,447) (673,174) (234,893) 16,462 (1,071,022)
Inception of lease contracts REEANERE — — — — (13,094) (13,094)
Foreign exchange adjustments MMERE 14,060 168,622 (63,224) — (1,774) 117,684

Net debts as at 31 December 2021 EHZ-Z-—-%+-AH
ST-HNERFE 979,660 2,786,609 (3,074,809) (5,645,120) (74,966) (5,028,626)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IR R MG

(continued) (#&)

COMMITMENTS 35 AIE
The Group had the following capital commitments outstanding not SERMBRAAEREHBEATREBEED
provided for at the date of statement of financial position: RIBITE AN -
2021 2020
— B T -TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAET
Contracted but not provided for: BRTAEREE
Property, plant and equipment M - BERZEB 410,804 119,038
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 BEALTRS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, Briz & B 7% 3ok H b 26 o BT #E EE AN
the Group had the following transactions: KEBEBTINZS :
Transactions with key management personnel HIZEBEABNRS
The directors of the Company are considered as key management RAEFHERAREETEZEEBEAR ©
personnel of the Group. The remuneration of the key management TEBEBABZHMEe BTN EESK
personnel is determined by the remuneration committee having regard ZEEMNATZRBEMESBEEE
to the performance of individuals and market trends. Details of the FoNTREATZHESFBHRKH
remuneration paid to them are set out in Note 12. F12 o
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(continued) (#&)

37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

(a)

Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind

Nominal value of
issued share capital/

B S

(@)

Percentage of equity

37 FEMBRARZEFERE

TEMBLARFEAOT ¢

Name of legal entity registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
HRRL/ BRIt R BRARE/HER BERAANESR
%8 HARERER EXNEE Bl TEEH
Directly Indirectly
ER &
Profaith Group Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Us$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
EEABRES  NEBELX B3 REER
All Praise Investment Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Us$1 100.0% —  Investment holding
EREARES NHBECRK E REER
China Oil And Gas Group Limited ~ BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$1 100.0% —  Investment holding
PHRREEERLA HAEERRES IEBECE B3 REER
China Oil And Gas Management  Hong Kong, wholly foreign-owned HK$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
Limited enterprise
PERRERERAA R NBBELR BT REER
Alta Financial Holdings Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$1,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
BXeREEBRAT ARERRES  NEBECK 1,000% T REAR
Zhongda Industrial Group Inc BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$10,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
PRIZEEERDA ERABRES  NEBELR 10,000% T REBRR
China Oil And Gas Group (Asia) ~ Hong Kong, wholly foreign-owned HK$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
Limited enterprise
PRRREE (M) ERAF FE  NEBELE 18T REAR
Hong Kong China Oil And Gas Hong Kong, wholly foreign-owned HK$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
Group Limited enterprise
ERPAMASEARLE AR HEBELXE BT RERR
Accelstar Pacific Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$50,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
EREARES  NHEBEECE 50,0005 7T REER
Plentigreat Holdings Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise US$10,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
RBEAREE  NEBALR 10,000% 7T REZER
Vast China Group Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Us$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
ERABRES NEHBELXE B3 REER
Sino Invent Holdings Limited BVI, wholly foreign-owned enterprise Us$1 — 100.0%  Investment holding
EREARES NEEECR E3 REER
PEERM AR ESEFB A PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprise  RMB1,000,000,000 — 51.0%  Investment holding and trading
("CCNG") of natural gas
(Thams%l) TECNBBEALER AR #1,000,000,0007C REBRRRRREE
AERBRREREMLA PRC, limited liability company RMB65,874,000 — 40.8%!  Trading of natural gas, gas
pipeline construction and
operation of natural gas
stations
mE - BEREELA AR 165,874,000 ARREE  RARAEER
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37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

(continued) (#&)

37 FEMBRARZEFSERE
RB2HE (#)

(Continued)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a) FEMBLATFEBUT @ (&)
(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment and kind issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of legal entity registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
EBAL/ RItER BREARA/HR FRRAAMNER
28 HEERER EXHEE Bl TEEH
Directly  Indirectly
ER &
BEERMAEELRETIEBR PRC limited liability company RMB44,000,000 — 40.8%"  Gas pipeline construction
EfEAT
ME - BREERH AR 144,000,000 ARREERE
FATRERERARHE PRC, limited liability company RMB20,800,000 - 40.8%"  Trading of natural gas
BERAT
HE - EREMAT AR %20,800,0007 AAREE
AEPEBERRATA PRC, limited liability company RMB900,000 — 40.8%"  Trading of natural gas-related
equipment
ME - BREERH AR 900,007 ARRABREEE
EETHERIBRETLDE  PRC limited liability company RMB100,000,000 - 30.6%"  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
HE - EREAAT AR 100,000,000 RAAREERAAREERE
EMERBEEREMLAE  PRC limited liability company RMB50,000,000 — 40.8%0  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
ME - BREERH AR 50,000,000 ARREERAAREERE
ERPHMABREFTLDE  PRC, limited liability company RMB25,000,000 - 50.5%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
e EREAAT AR 25,000,007 RAREERAAREERE
HERRRREREMLLAE  PRC limited liability company RMBA45,000,000 — 30.6%0  Natural gas transmission
through pipeline
ME - BREERH AR 145,000,000 BEERARRE
EMPHRRBREFLDE  PRC, limited liability company RMB100,000,000 - 51.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
HE - BRECLA AR 100,000,0007 RAREERAAREERE
HREZERARABRAA PRC, limited liability company RMB12,000,000 - 40.8%"  Trading of natural gas
ME - BREEAT AR 112,000,000 ARREE
FRPRDR (K8) BRAE PRC, limited liability company RMB75,000,000 — 100.0%  Transportation services
TH - ARRERHA AR 75,000,000 BERH
EETHEERRBRAA PRC, limited liability company RMB32,000,000 - 51.0%  Natural gas transmission
through pipeline
PEAREERA AR 132,000,000 BEERARER
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(continued) (#&)

37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

37 FEMBRARZEFERE
BB ()

(Continued)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a) FEMBLEFEBOT @ (&)

(Continued)

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment and kind issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of legal entity registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
HMAY/ R ER BRARA/ER GRRAANESR
£8 ERERER EXNEE ER4 TEER
Directly Indirectly
E# GF:

FMPREGRARERAT  PRC, limited liability company RMB111,000,000 - 47.1%0 Gas pipeline design and
construction, natural gas
transmission through
pipeline

hE - AREERH AR 111,000,007 ARREERRRE B
BEAEMRBREMRDA  PRC, limited liability company RMB20,000,000 - 35.7%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
ME - BREEAT AR 120,000,000 ARREERAAREERE
miR TR (RI) FEEREB AR PRC, limited liability company RMB71,000,000 — 51.0%  Investment holding
TE - AREELH AR 71,000,000 REZR
kit AEREMLDE PRC, limited liability company RMB67,910,000 — 35.7%0  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
ME - BREEAT AR 67,910,000 ARREERAAREERE
kT RERAREBR AT PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000 - 35.7%0  Trading of natural gas
hE - AREELH AR 2,000,007 ARREE

RERSTAAREMREMAR PRC, limited liability company RMB75,000,000 - 35.7%0  Trading of natural gas and gas

pipeline construction
HE - BRECLF AR #75,000,0007 ARREERAAREBRE

FER R REEMRTERDE PRC, limited liability company RMB50,000,000 — 40.8%!1 Gas pipeline design and

construction
T AREELH AR #50,000,00070 ARREBRREE

ERAEMRARAA PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprise HK$ 187,500,000 - 100.0%  Investment holding,
construction of natural
gas stations and trading of
natural gas

ECNBBEALE 187,500,000 7T REBR RARBEER
AAREE
ZHPARRERAA PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB18,000,000 — 80.4%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
mE RARERERRE AR #18,000,0007T AARBERAAREERE
TRMRAEETBRAE  PRC, wholly foreign-owned enterprise U5$75,000,000 — 100.0%  Investment holding
(BT AR (BR)RE
ARAR)
mECNEBELE 75,000,000% ¢ REER

214 CHINAOILAND GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS IR R MG

37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

(continued) (#&)

37 FEMBRARZEFSERE
RB2HE (#)

(Continued)
(a) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (a) FEMBLATFEBUT @ (&)
(Continued)
Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment and kind issued share capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of legal entity registered capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
EBAL/ RItER BREARA/HR FRRAAMNER
28 HEERER EXHEE Bl TEEH
Directly  Indirectly
EH &
ERERREREERAA PRC, limited liability company US$26,981,000 - 100.0%  Provision for finance
ME - BREEAT 26,981,000% T REBE
MEEZBRAREBRAE  PRC sino-foreign equity joint venture  RMB170,000,000 - 100.0%  Provision for finance
mE RNRERELE AR #170,000,0007 REBE
EMRRREERECAR PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB40,000,000 - 38.8%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
RE RNEEEERE AR #40,000,0007T AARBERAAREERE
FERHEATEREMA  PRC sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB26,000,000 — 60.4%  Trading of natural gas and gas
BERARE pipeline construction
mE o RNRERELE AR 26,000,000 ARREERAAREERE
BRETHMAEBRAMRAE  PRC sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB15,000,000 - 75.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
RE RNEEEERE AR H15,000,0007T AAREERAAREERE
o Al =N PRC, sino-foreign equity joint venture RMB284,400,000 - 51.0%  Trading of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
mE RNRERELE AR 284,400,007 ARREERRAREERE
BlhaRagRAd PRC, limited liability company RMB11,480,000 - 70%  Trading of natural gas
PE - AREERHF AR 11,480,000 ARREE
BERHRRARARA PRC, limited liability company RMB35,920,000 — 70%  Trading of natural gas
ME - BREEAT AR 135,920,000 ARREE
AT RRRERDA PRC, limited liability company RMB63,900,000 - 70%  Trading of natural gas
E - BREEAT AR 163,900,000 ARREE
Baccalieu Energy Inc. Canada CAD 141,040,000 — 100.0%  Exploitation and distribution of

mex

141,040,000 70

crude oil and natural gas

BERSBEAREAR
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(continued) (#&)

37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES
(Continued)

(@) Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)
Notes:

(i) The Group holds controlling interests in these subsidiaries through
a 51.0% owned subsidiary, CCNG. Therefore the Group has
control over these entities and they are considered as subsidiaries
of the Company.

(ii) The Group holds controlling interests in this subsidiary through
CCNG and a wholly owned subsidiary, Hong Kong China Qil and
Gas Group Limited (“HKCOGG"). Therefore the Group has control
over this entity and it is considered as subsidiary of the Company
since the Group owns more than half of the voting rights in this
subsidiary and the decisions are made by simple majority.

(i) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

(Continued)

(b) Set out below are the summarised consolidated financial
information of CCNG and its subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests that are material to the Group. The

37

SRR

(continued) (#&)

TEMBRARZEFERE
RB2HE (#)

(b) BLATHEHIFHPRREMBLR (F
BUEEMSBEAZFERER)
REMBENBE - THERAA

information below is the amount before inter-company AEEHEAI 2S5 ¢
eliminations:

2021 2020
—E-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Total assets BEE 13,664,486 11,238,094
Total liabilities BEE (7,475,438) (5,887,989)
Net assets BEFE 6,189,048 5,350,105
Revenue S 10,200,816 8,167,533
Profit for the year F W F 983,227 681,866
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hih2mE (B18) WE (144,284) 314,712
Total comprehensive income 2H W =B 838,943 996,578
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests 37 < i& B 5 JF 2= J% # 25 107,989 100,726
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(continued) (#&)

37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37 FEMBRARIRSEFEEE

AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES B2FHIE (&)

(Continued)

(b)  Set out below are the summarised consolidated financial (b) UATEHIFMPERENBLT (F
information of CCNG and its subsidiaries that have non- BHEEMEBEARZFZRER)
controlling interests that are material to the Group. The FREMHRERME - THERAR
information below is the amount before inter-company AR A 288« ()

eliminations: (Continued)

CCNG CCNG
ol SR Fom R
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZETHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHER FHET
Net cash generated from operating KEEHELE RS FE
activities 1,407,579 1,231,030
Net cash used in investing activities KRETZHFAZHESFE (2,235,810) (440,931)
Net cash generated from/(used in) MmEFESHHG (FTA)
financing activities ZIREFE 510,081 (335,259)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash R & KR4S ZEEH
equivalents CR ) /g FaE (318,150) 454,840
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—HBZzHRE&k
ReHEEIEAHR 2,441,203 1,842,763
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EXR & &) 7 F & 56,241 143,600
Cash and cash equivalents at Rt+tZA=+—HBZ2HR%
31 December MIREeEHEEHERB 2,179,294 2,441,203
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37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES
(Continued)

(9]

(d)

Details of the controlled structured entity are as follows:

The Company controls a structured entity which operates in
Hong Kong, particulars of which are as follows:

Principal activities

EREHR

Structured entities

FRERE

FE M BHwRMEE

(continued) (#&)

37 FEMBRARZEFSERE
RB2HE (#)

(@

ZERHEBERFBUOT

DAL —HEEBEENEE
B HFEOT

Best Thinker Limited (“Trustee")

Purchases, administers and holds the Company’s shares for the Restricted

Share Award Scheme for the benefit of eligible employees of the Group

Best Thinker Limited ([ 3E A )
f& 19

As the Trustee is set up solely for the purpose of purchasing,
administering and holding the Company’s shares for the
Restricted Share Award Scheme (Note 31(c)), the Company
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
of the Trustee and it can derive benefits from the services of
the employees who have been awarded the Restricted Shares
through their continued employment with the Group. The assets
and liabilities of the Trustee are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position from its adoption and the
Company’s shares held by the Trustee are presented as a
deduction in equity as “shares held for share award scheme”.

Transaction with non-controlling interests

In September 2020, F Jh F T W R (K E) B R 2 A, an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired
100% issued shares of /1 jh # Z= 82 )R (B8 /@) A R 2 7] from
PP RMREIE £ BB R R A, asubsidiary which the
Company held 51% of equity interest at a consideration of
RMB23,300,000 (equivalent to HK$26,096,000).

Immediately prior to the purchase, the carrying amount of the
existing 49% non-controlling interest in & ji & 2% A& JR ( Ek
/) A R A &) was approximately RMB11,815,000, (equivalent
to HK$13,233,000). The Group recognised a decrease in non-
controlling interests of HK$13,233,000 and an increase in equity
attributable to owners of HK$13,233,000.

(d)
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SZEABWER - KPP R
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FEEREEZNEMENAARE
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(continued) (#&)

37 PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
AND CONTROLLED STRUCTURED ENTITIES
(Continued)

(d) Transaction with non-controlling interests (Continued)

In September 2021, F M A B (K E) K E B R A 7, an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company acquired
from the non-controlling interests additional 30% equity interest
of ZHMEBE(RBETHEEHNE) EFTHBKER DA ata
consideration of RMB2,225,000 (equivalent to HK$2,700,000).

Immediately prior to the purchase, the carrying amount of the
existing 30% non-controlling interest in 5 B & (¥ /8 ™ & =
¥E)EF %A R A A was approximately RMB412,000
(equivalent to HK$494,000). The Group recognised a decrease in
non-controlling interests of HK$494,000 and an increase in equity
attributable to owners of HK$494,000.

In November 2021, B E /i /A R & 2§, an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company acquired from the non-
controlling interests additional 20% equity interest of & &£ Zx 2
18R A PR A A at a consideration of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$2,400,000).

Immediately prior to the purchase, the carrying amount of
the existing 20% non-controlling interest in B & 2= & 7 £
JR B B 72 &) was approximately RMB2,000,000, (equivalent
to HK$2,400,000). The Group recognised a decrease in non-
controlling interests of HK$2,400,000 and an increase in equity
attributable to owners of HK$2,400,000.
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(d)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2022.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 March 2022, F B R % & £ E AR A 7, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, as guarantor, entered into the guarantee
agreements of which & Ji # | 1% & % B & BR 2 7] has agreed to
provide guarantees up to a maximum amount of RMB50,000,000
for the due performance of the repayment obligations of Shandong
Shengli to China Guangfa Bank Co., Ltd..

On 25 March 2022, the Company successfully drew down a syndicated
loan of US$290 million for the purpose of early redemption of the
Senior Notes .

In response to the conflict between Ukraine and Russia began in
February 2022, the European Union, the United States of America, the
United Kingdom and certain other countries imposed sanctions that
might affect natural gas and oil price.

Up to the date on which these consolidated financial statements were
authorised for issue, the Group is still in the process of assessing the
potential impacts on the natural gas and oil price in 2022. This is a
complex and rapidly developing situation that management is closely
monitoring the impact to the Group.
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(continued) (#&)
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(continued) (#)

40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 40 AE)E AR ER
COMPANY
2021 2020
—EB-—F —EEHF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FH&x FHET
Non-current assets EmBEE
Intangible assets mEEE 1,702 1,702
Interests in subsidiaries LI NEIR - 5,521,542 5,522,034
5,523,244 5,523,736
Current assets mBEE
Other receivables H fh g W 3R 16,042 35,040
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFHEEAE 11,651 6,872
27,693 41,912
Current liabilities mE B &

Other payables H b B~ 3B (75,807) (100,285)
Net current liabilities neeaEF® (48,119) (58,373)
Total assets less current liabilities BREERRSEE 5,475,130 5,465,363
Non-current liabilities B ) N=E

Senior notes BEER (5,786,009) (5,410,227)
Net (liabilities)/assets () /BEFE (310,879) 55,136
Equity =
Equity attributable to owners of the NAHEE ANELER

Company

Share capital % 31 57,670 57,670

Reserves & 41 (368,549) (2,534)
Total equity W (310,879) 55,136
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by RAMBURARER T =__F=A

the Board of Directors on 29 March 2022 and was signed on its behalf.

Xu Tie-liang
Director

Guan Yijun
Director
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(continued) (#&)

41 RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 41 RE#E
Capital Shares held Share-based Exchange (Note)
Share redemption forshare  compensation fluctuation Contributed ~~ Accumulated
premium reserve  award scheme reserve reserve surplus losses Total
hRHAE

EXEH ARH%R BRime ExgE (W)

Rtk fif  AHFRRG 3 i #ABR BitER &if

HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000

TR TR ThT ThT ThR TER TR TR

At 1 January 2020 KZ2-%%-7-H 13,208 998 (420,202) 11,241 (18,475) 1447454 (733,010) 301,214
Loss for the year EnEE - - - - . - (303,749) (303,748)
At 31 December 2020 AZEZBETCR
-1 13,208 998 (420,202) 11241 (18,475) 1,447,454 (1,036,758) (2,534)
Vesting of shares under share award ~ RER (R B3 HE B
scheme Rkin - - 0 (#2.2m3) - - - -
Shares purchased for shareaward~— BRHEEHEEE R
scheme - - (13) - - - - (18)
Value of employee services EERBER - - - 0m - - - 0
Loss for the year EmER - - - - - - (408,270) (408,270)
At 31 December 2021 R-E- %124
-8 13,208 998 (377,947) 11,241 (18,475) 1,447,454 (1,445,028) (368,549)
Note: Btk -
The contributed surplus of the Company represents the excess of the net assets RAZBABRBEEER-NMN=FREHA
value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation in MEEMBEAR ZEEFEBL A AMUE
1993 over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange METRND EBEZEE - BE-—NAN—F
thereof. Under the Companies Act of Bermuda 1981 (as amended), the BEEQIE (BIIX)  RAIZHAARH
contributed surplus of the Company is distributable to the shareholders in EETERATAHSIERTRE - B AQA
certain circumstances which the Company is able to satisfy. BEFAELLEER -
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Five Year Financial Summary
IFEMBERE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for UTHIGEERBEAARVBRFEZEER
the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial EERBEMEZ  DRESKBCEHNBEZEERZ
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out below. WBmET TUENEESE -
For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t+—-HLEE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—B-—-f —E2oTF —E-NF —E-N\E —EtF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT TET THT THT THT
Results £
Revenue BER 14,341,948 10,432,777 10,260,654 9,410,131 7,651,280
Profit before taxation R 35 A1t 1,990,560 630,916 973,510 928,526 811,466
Taxation BiI8 (476,626) (115,601) (194,391) (250,301) (188,527)
Profit for the year F R 1,513,934 515,315 779,119 678,225 622,939
Attributable to: VAT B4
Owners of the Company REEAA 904,182 28,757 330,984 281,904 250,467
Non-controlling interests FEE R = 609,752 486,558 448,135 396,321 372,472
1,513,934 515,315 779,119 678,225 622,939
As at 31 December
BW+=A=+-H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—B_—-F g 52 —T-hF —T-N\F —F—t%
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET FHT FET FExT
Assets and liabilities AEREBE
Total assets BEE 22,648,631 19,270,335 16,832,484 16,027,643 15,546,601
Total liabilities BmaR (13,829,621) (11,924,121) (10,389,469) (10,115,583) (9,340,946)
Total equity ERER 8,819,010 7,346,214 6,443,015 5,912,060 6,205,655
Non-controlling interests IR A (4,027,578) (3,568,080) (2,984,731) (2,716,153) (2,861,109)

Equity attributable to owners 7% B A B %
of the Company 4,791,432 3,778,134 3,458,284 3,195,907 3,344,546
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